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• 57 members in 16 countries,

• balance sheet of 10 billion euros,

• 7,000 employees,

• more than 1.5 million customers,

• correspondent relationship network of 1,300 banks in 137 countries,

• 15 banks,

• 11 leasing companies,

• 13 trade finance, 

• 3 insurance,

• 2 asset management,

• 13 other activities.  

NLB Group today means: 
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Key financial highlights for NLB Group 

2003 2004

Income statement highlights (in billion tolars)

Net interest income 53.1 58.6

Net non-interest income 42.6 49.8

Costs 66.6 70.1

Profit before tax 16.6 19.2

Minority interest 2.3 1.2

Net profit 6.2 8.7

Balance sheet highlights (in billion tolars)

Total assets 2,154.8 2,366.6

Customer loans 1,035.5 1,248.0

Customer deposits 1,286.6 1,389.7

Total equity 110.6 117.2

Minority interest 22.8 20.8

Key financial ratios (in %)

Return on average equity before tax (ROE) 12.5 14.2

Return on average assets before tax (ROA) 0.8 0.9

Costs covered by net income (CIR) 69.6 64.7

Capital adequacy 12.1 10.8

Key highlights under IFRS

Profit before tax (in billion tolars) 20.0 22.0

Net profit (in billion tolars) 9.6 13.1

Return on average equity before tax (ROE in %) 12.6 12.1

Return on average assets before tax (ROA in %) 1.0 1.0

Capital adequacy under BIS (in %) 15.2 15.6

International ratings 

Moody's A2 A2

Capital Intelligence A - A - 

Fitch A - A - 

Exchange rate 1 EURO = SIT 236.7 239.7

Key financial highlights   
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Key financial highlights for Nova Ljubljanska banka d.d. (NLB) 

2003 2004

Income statement highlights (in billion tolars)

Net interest income 34.9 37.9

Net non-interest income 31.8 38.0

Costs 46.7 47.9

Profit before tax 11.0 13.8

Net profit 5.5 6.9

Balance sheet highlights (in billion tolars)

Total assets 1,717.3 1,864.8

Customer loans 779.4 900.4

Customer deposits 1,091.9 1,153.5

Total equity 115.9 121.1

Key financial ratios (in%)

Return on average equity before tax (ROE) 9.6 11.6

Return on average assets before tax (ROA) 0.7 0.8

Costs covered by net income (CIR) 70.0 63.1

Market share in total assets 33.6 32.7

Capital adequacy 10.2 11.7

Key highlights under IFRS

Profit before tax (in billion tolars) 13.0 13.3

Net profit (in billion tolars) 7.9 9.4

Return on average equity before tax (ROE in %) 11.1 10.4

Return on average assets before tax (ROA in %) 0.8 0.8

Capital adequacy under BIS (in %) 14.3 15.6

Key ratios per share (in tolars)

Number of shares 7,682,015 7,682,015

Nominal value 2,000 2,000

Book value 15,086.4 15,763.8

Net profit per share (EPS) 715.1 895.7

Dividends payout 286.0 358.3
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NLB's financial stability offers our customers securi-
ty in their operations. NLB Group's 2004 business year
and Slovenia's entry to the European Union together
with other challenges was concluded in line with our
set goals. NLB Group's financial operations in the pre-
vious year present solid foundations for 2005 and our
further development. In 2004 NLB Group recorded
19.2 billion tolars (80 million euros) in pre-tax profit,
representing 16 percent growth over the previous
year. NLB made 13.8 billion tolars of pre-tax profit 
(58 million euros), namely 25 percent growth over
2003. NLB's profit was positively influenced by rela-
tively favourable results in interest and non-interest
income and in the management of operating costs.
The confidence of our customers is reflected in the
continually growing volume of business, which saw
10 percent growth in the Group's total assets and
totalled 2,367 billion tolars (10 billion euros) in 2004.
The security of operations is annually confirmed by
the Bank’s excellent long-term international credit risk
ratings and rewards received from well-known maga-
zines such as Euromoney, The Banker and Global
Finance. NLB and NLB Group are regarded as respect-
ed and secure business partners and some of the most
highly rated banks in Central and South-East Europe. 
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Dear Everyone,
NLB, the largest Slovenian international finan-

cial group, operated successfully in 2004 with its
good results confirming its key development
guidelines in Slovenia and abroad. 

The range of financial services available to our cus-
tomers, with which we have managed to create a
partnership relationship, represents a huge advantage
for NLB and the future success of its operations. NLB
offers the following products:

• lending and investments; 
• investment banking; 
• leasing; 
• factoring and forfeiting; 
• asset management; 
• pension and life insurance; 
• export financing and 
• asset management.

NLB offers its services in 16 markets through:
• retail network encompassing more than 200

branches; 
• 15 banks; 
• 11 leasing companies; 
• 13 companies for factoring and forfeiting; 
• 3 insurance companies; 
• 2 asset management companies and 
• 13 companies in other areas.

Statement 
of the President of the Management Board

Marjan Kramar

President of the Management Board & CEO

Matej Narat

Member of the Management Board

Pierre Van Keirsbilck

Member of the Management Board



NLB is successfully bringing to life its mission as the
largest Slovenian international financial group. Our
strategic guideline is to become one of the leading
financial groups in Central and South-east Europe.
The efforts and contributions of our employees, sup-
port from the Supervisory Board and the confidence
of our owners, together with the development of
excellent customer relationships, are necessary com-
panions on the road to our ambitious goals. We
therefore thank you and invite you to trust us in the
coming period that is set to bring some significant
and big challenges. 

Marjan Kramar, 
President of the Management Board & CEO

Dedication to NLB’s continued successful co-opera-
tion with its customers, owners and employees repre-
sents our development direction, along with ensuring
a balance between profitability, cost efficiency and
maintaining our market position. We see as the most 
important aim the strengthening of our operations in
all business segments NLB Group covers at home and
abroad with the goals of maintaining our leading
position in the Slovenian market and intensively deve-
loping our activities abroad.

In 2004, important decisions were made regarding
the development strategy in information technology
from the aspect of technology, long-term partnership
with local IT companies and process optimisation
within the IT centre aimed at better control and high-
quality IT risk management. Compared to 2003 the
performance of the systems in 2004 was substantially
more stable while system availability reached 
99.6 percent.
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Andrej Hazabent

Member of the Management Board

Borut StaniË

Member of the Management Board

Erik Luts

Member of the Management Board
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Statement 
of the President of the Supervisory Board

NLB’s Supervisory Board currently consists of nine members. Five mem-

bers were elected at the Annual General Meeting in September 2002:

Anton ÆuniË as President, Uroπ Slavinec as Deputy President, as well as

Francois Louise Florquin, Zvone IvanuπiË and Metka TekavËiË. The remain-

ing four members were elected at the Annual General Meeting in July

2004 with Anne Fossemalle replacing Alain Pilloux, Christian Defrancq

replacing David Michael Truman, André Bergen replacing Herman

Agneessens and Borut Jamnik replacing Joæe LeniË. Another two members

elected at the 2002 Annual General Meeting have since stepped down

from their positions, namely Igor Kuπar on November 11, 2004 and Dirk

Mampaey on January 1, 2005. New appointees replacing these members

will be elected at the next General Meeting.

Important changes took place on NLB Management Board during 2004

with the appointment of the  new President and CEO Marjan Kramar for a

five-year mandate, following a well-considered selection process. Mr.

Kramar took up his position on February 1, 2004. In July 2004 Erik Luts was

appointed a new member of the Management Board responsible for IT.   

The Supervisory Board follows a system of corporate governance in line

with the international practice applicable to leading banking institutions.

The Audit Committee and Development Committee are effective and very

important parts of the activities of the Supervisory Board. The Code on the

Incompatibility of Offices of Management Board Members and

Membership of Management Positions outside of the Bank was approved. 

The role of the Supervisory Board is to govern the executive management

board that is responsible for managing NLB and NLB Group. Our corporate

governance activities regularly target risk and capital management, inter-

nal audit activities, the annual plan of the Bank and the Group, the quali-

ty and innovations of services and delivery channels, and the consolidation

and expansion of business areas within the Group. The Supervisory Board

approved the business strategy of the Bank and the Group, paying special

attention to the information technology system, the quality of services,

cost management, risk management and product innovation. The strategy

of the Bank, as a universal bank, is to maintain its leading role in Slovenia

and to increase its presence in the nearby region. NLB prudently manages

its capital investment activities in subsidiaries in both Slovenia and abroad.

New investments in 2004 included an increase in NLB’s shareholding in

Banka Celje, while a new investment in Euromarket banka a.d., Podgorica

in Montenegro was approved. A reduction of the interest held by NLB in

LHB Internationale Handelsbank AG, Frankfurt was approved.  

2004 was characterised by a further material reduction in interest rates

in Slovenia, reflecting the international market and the improving credit

rating of Slovenia and its corporate customers.  Consequently, net interest

income narrowed which prompted the additional supervision of the prof-

itability of the Bank and the Group’s operations, stressing the importance

of the growing fee-based activities, managing the cost rationalisation pro-

gramme and prudential risk management. To ensure sufficient resources

for business and capital the Supervisory Board supported the issue of NLB

bonds, raising funds at the EIB bank and obtaining an international syndi-

cated loan. NLB  also successfully completed the issue of subordinated

bonds. In reporting on financial performance, the Bank presented quarter-

ly financial results during 2004 for NLB and NLB Group in accordance with

both the Slovenian Accounting Standards and the International Financial

Reporting Standards. 

During 2004 the Annual Report 2003 was approved, as was the distri-

bution of 3.44 billion tolars in net profit to reserves and 286 tolars per

share by way of dividend. At its meeting on 12 May 2005 the Supervisory

Board confirmed the Annual Report 2004 and approved the proposed dis-

tribution of profits. This included the transfer of 3.44 billion tolars to NLB’s

reserves and a dividend payout of 358.3 tolars per share and these pro-

posals will be presented to the General Meeting in June 2005.

Slovenia’s entry to the EU in May 2004 has brought about a major chal-

lenge. The further adaptation of the tolar interest rate environment to euro

interest rates will exert additional pressure on the Bank's margins, and this

therefore calls for stronger and intensified business management in all key

areas. However, the economic operating environment of NLB remains sta-

ble with all macroeconomic indicators reflecting a stable economy with

falling inflation. This background bodes well for Slovenia’s entry to the

EMU and provides a good background for NLB’s continued growth. 

The Supervisory Board intends to continue to improve the corporate

governance of both the Bank and the Group and to thereby contribute to

success in implementing NLB’s strategy. By strengthening the Group's

competitive edge we believe the Group will be capable of achieving a

strong position in the region.

Anton ÆuniË

President of the Supervisory Board

Anton ÆuniË

President of the Supervisory Board
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Key factors influencing NLB Group's operations in Slovenia

in 2004 - entry to the EU, impacts of the euro’s anticipated

introduction and intense bank competition - were again

reflected in declining tolar interest rates and interest margins.

NLB Group's operations in SE European markets in 2004

involved markets with fast GDP growth, still fragile stability

and intensive ownership structure changes in banking sectors. 

In 2004 NLB Group's operations and financial results can be

labelled as good since most NLB Group members, including

NLB, improved their results and performed in line with the tar-

gets. NLB as the leading bank is still a major contributor to

NLB Group's overall result.

NLB Group’s consolidated pre-tax profit and minority inte-

rest reached 19.2 billion tolars. The Group’s net profit totalled

8.7 billion tolars, an increase of 39 percent over 2003. The

largest contributor to NLB Group's profit was NLB, with 50.3

percent, subsidiary companies with 33.9 percent and asso-

ciated members with 15.8 percent. 

NLB Group operates in three geographical areas: Slovenia,

SE European markets and Western Europe. The Slovenian

market represents the key area where the Group generated

83 percent of its income in 2004. In line with the strategy,

operations in other markets, mainly in SE Europe, are becom-

ing ever more important for the Group. This is evident from

the growing share of income, that rose from 12 percent in

2003 to 17 percent in 2004. 

Banks as members of NLB Group contribute most to the

overall financial result. Besides the traditional bank offer, the

Group is putting more emphasis on introducing new services:

leasing, asset management, bancassurance, factoring, forfei-

ting and export financing. Their contribution to total income

grew from 14 to 19 percent in 2004.

Financial 
review

Structure of net profit of NLB Group
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In 2004 
NLB Group
recorded 
19.2 billion
tolars in 
pre-tax profit
and minority
interest
according to
the SAS and
a consolidat-
ed balance
sheet
totalling
2,366.6 
billion tolars.
According 
to the IFRS 
pre-tax profit
reached 
22.0 billion
tolars.

NLB Group

Introduction
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NLB Group NLB

IN BILLION TOLARS 2004 Growth 2004 Growth

Net interest income 58.6 110 37.9 109

- Net income from investments 7.6 83 9.1 87

- Net fees and commissions 29.6 114 21.1 112

- Net income from financial operations 10.0 364 7.0 4,617

- Net other income 2.6 55 0.8 36

Net non-interest income 49.8 117 38.0 120

Total costs 70.1 105 47.9 103

Pre-tax profit and provisions 38.3 132 28 140

Net provisions 19.1 152 14.2 159

Pre-tax profit 19.2 116 13.8 125

Tax 9.3 115 6.9 125

Minority interest 1.2 54 - -

Net profit for the period 8.7 139 6.9 125

Table 1: Key income statement items

NLB Group NLB

31.12. % share 31.12. % share

IN BILLION TOLARS 2004 Growth in TA 2004 Growth in TA

Total assets (TA) 2,366.6 110 - 1,864.8 109 -

Loans to banks 173.0 133 7.3 189.9 157 10.2

Loans to non-bank customers 1,248.0 121 52.7 900.4 116 48.3

Securities 731.7 94 30.9 586.8 92 31.5

Deposits and loans from banks 483.6 122 20.4 315.3 125 16.9

Deposits and loans from others 1,473.1 108 62.2 1,188.2 106 63.7

Debt securities 95.7 87 4.0 95.5 87 5.1

Subordinated liabilities 73.0 136 3.1 73.2 143 3.9

Equity 117.2 106 5.0 121.1 104 6.5

Equity including minority interest 20.8 92 0.9 - - -

Table 2: Balance sheet structure
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NLB Group NLB

IN MILLION TOLARS

Net profit - SAS 8,666 6,881

Provisions for general bank and non-bank risks 2,819 2,554

Provisions for loan impairment -2,062 -2,578

Fair value of financial instruments -531 10

Negative goodwill/goodwill 1,037 -487

Tax prior year 3,076 2,956

Other 137 48

Net profit - IFRS 13,142 9,384

Note: SAS - Slovenian accounting standards, IFRS - International financial reporting standards

Table 3: Reconciliation of net profit from the SAS to the IFRS

In 2004 NLB recorded a good financial result, 13.8 billion

tolars in pre-tax profit, a 25 percent increase over 2003. The

relatively favourable results in interest and non-interest

income and operating expenses management had a positive

effect on profit.

Net interest income

NLB earned 37.9 billion tolars in net interest income, repre-

senting 9 percent growth compared to 2003. Despite the

declining interest margin and fierce competition on both lend-

ing and deposit sides of operations, NLB exceeded the 2003

level of net interest income by 3 billion tolars. The declining

interest margin, a result of the drop in the tolar side of oper-

ations, was compensated mainly by the growth in interest-

bearing assets.

Net non-interest income

NLB generated 38.0 billion tolars in net non-interest income,

a 19 percent growth over 2003. Consequently, in 2004 for the

first time the level of net non-interest income is the same as net

interest income. The highest growth was recorded in income

from financial transactions. An important increase was also

recorded in fees and commissions, agency services/brokerage

and in lending activity. 

Operating expenses

NLB continued its active cost management to offset the

declining interest margins. Operating expenses reached 47.9

billion tolars. As a result of the positive effects of control over

business costs, material and services costs were lowered by 7

percent. 

Net provisions

NLB’s provisions were raised from 9 to 14 billion tolars. The

quality of the portfolio did not worsen in 2004 since provi-

sions were formed in line with the fast growth of the credit

portfolio. Considering the local standards for provisioning po-

licy, the provisions of the SAS are almost twice the level of the

provisions of the IFRS (see the picture on page 10).

Balance sheet

NLB represents more than three-quarters of NLB Group’s

total assets, namely 1,864.8 billion tolars. Of the other NLB

Group members, LHB is the largest by size, followed by the

three Slovenian subsidiary banks and Tutunska banka from

Macedonia. 

The share of loans to non-bank customers in total assets

was 48.3 percent. Investment activity was mostly financed

with deposits and loans from non-bank customers and loans

from banks, representing 81 percent of total liabilities. Debt

securities and equity are the second biggest source of finan-

cing. 

Customer loans

Customer loans exceeded the 2003 level by 15.5 percent.

From the total of 900.4 billion tolars corporate loans present

the biggest share with 73 percent while at the same time

recording the highest growth of 16.6 percent. The trend of

declining interest rates, caused by the differing tolar and fo-

reign currency interest rates, was reflected in the currency

structure of customer loans, with 37.8 percent growth in fo-

reign currency lending. 

In 2004 NLB
recorded 13.8
billion tolars
in pre-tax
profit and
increased its
total assets to
1,864.8 bil-
lion tolars at
the end of
December
2004. NLB
earned 13.3
billion tolars
in pre-tax
profit under
the IFRS.

Nova Ljubljanska banka d. d. (NLB)



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 4

8

Customer deposits 

NLB's customer deposits amounted to 1,153.5 billion tolars,

a 5.6 percent increase over 2003. Despite increased competi-

tion in collecting bank deposits, mutual funds and life insura-

nce, retail deposits grew by 6 percent to 835.8 billion tolars

and corporate deposits by 4 percent to 278 billion tolars. 

Alternative savings products, especially the combination of

bancassurance that NLB Group offers through NLB Vita, are

changing customer behaviour in the area of savings. The cur-

rency structure is still in favour of tolar deposits with their 64.7

percent share, despite the tolar interest rates continuing to

converge with the European levels. 

Debt securities, subordinated liabilities, deposits and

loans from banks 

Deposits and loans from banks reached 315.3 billion tolars,

an increase of 25 percent. This substantial increase in 2004

was a consequence of the newly arranged syndicated loan in

the amount of 400 million euros, the highest amount so far

involved for NLB.  

Subordinated liabilities increased by 43 percent due to the

activities of the issue of hybrid capital instruments and a sub-

ordinated loan in the amount of 150 million euros to ensure

a capital adequacy ratio increase for NLB. 

The maturity of NLB’s own shares was reflected in a

decrease in the volume of debt securities issued, despite the

issue of two series of NLB bonds in 2004. 

Capital and capital adequacy

NLB's risk-weighted capital reached 127.6 billion tolars. The

substantial increase in NLB’s capital adequacy by 1.5 percent-

age points is mainly a consequence of the issue of hybrid cap-

ital instruments in the form of bonds in the amount of 24 bil-

lion tolars. The relatively higher capital adequacy under the BIS

standards is a consequence of both the Bank of Slovenia's

strict regulation and the influence of the IFRS standards.

31. 12. 2003 31. 12. 2004

Bank Bank

IN % of Slovenia BIS of Slovenia BIS

NLB Group 12.1 15.2 10.8 15.6

NLB 10.2 14.3 11.7 15.6

Table 4: Capital adequacy ratio
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Risk 
management

NLB’s credit portfolio includes balance sheet items (loans,

securities, capital investments, interest, fees, commissions

etc.) as well as off-balance sheet items (guarantees, L/Cs,

commitments and contingencies, derivatives etc.) vis-à-vis cor-

porate customers, banks, financial institutions, public sector,

retails customers and all other customers. 

By entering into any of the above-mentioned investments

the Bank exposes itself to credit risk. Investing with customers

who are residents of a foreign country also introduces coun-

try risk, which is specific to every country. Depending on the 

country risk and contingent insurance, the Bank forms an

appropriate amount of provisions to shield itself against the

country risk. 

Prior to credit approval or entering into a contract which

would expose the Bank to credit risk, every customer receives

a rating and individual limit. The rating of the customer

depends on their financial position, business performance,

relationship with the Bank to date, and the ability to provide

sufficient finance to meet future obligations.

Credit risk management

Total exposure

(in thousand Average

from A B C D E TOLARS) rating

A 98.26% 1.50% 0.19% 0.06% 0.00% 1,812,038,660 4.98

B 16.54% 78.71% 3.42% 1.33% 0.00% 253,436,306 4.10

C 13.73% 6.27% 67.90% 12.09% 0.01% 42,168,979 3.22

D 0.00% 4.48% 1.12% 80.64% 13.76% 15,295,819 1.96

E 0.00% 0.16% 0.00% 0.24% 99.60% 18,927,388 1.01

Table 5: NLB migration matrix weighted with exposure for the year 2004

to Total exposure

(in thousand Average

from A B C D E TOLARS) rating

A 97.90 % 1.86 % 0.19 % 0.05 % 0.01 % 9,557,155,363 4.98

B 17.16 % 78.72 % 2.40 % 1.55 % 0.16 % 1,546,453,966 4.11

C 5.81 % 21.77 % 60.85 % 10.50 % 1.07 % 257,135,941 3.21

D 0.09 % 17.41 % 13.50 % 58.24 % 10.76 % 162,842,589 2.38

E 1.60 % 0.54 % 0.23 % 1.82 % 95.81 % 164,333,448 1.10

Table 6: NLB migration matrix weighted with exposure on previous yearly migration matrixes for the period 1995-2004 

Prudent risk
management
focuses on
maximising
asset quality.
Standard risk
management
methodolo-
gies such as
migration
matrices,
diversification
and value at
risk models
enable a con-
cise estima-
tion of risk,
timely
responses
and a reduc-
tion of all
exposures of
NLB Group.
All subsidiary
banks comply
with the
internal risk
standards of
NLB.

Limits for a customer are established on the basis of their

creditworthiness, the feasibility of their business and projects,

as well as other elements which might influence their ability to

pay back the investment. Limits are determined separately for

long- and short-term investments. 

In addition to determining limits for individual customers

the Bank also establishes limits for customer groups and coun-

tries.

After an investment has been approved NLB regularly moni-

tors every customer’s performance and interest repayment. 

Depending on the risk category of a customer, as expressed

by their internal rating, and the risk of a specific business or

project which is also influenced by the guarantees provided,

the Bank forms appropriate provisions for protection against

credit risk. Provisions are formed in accordance with both the

Slovenian and International Standards of Financial Reporting. 

to

to



Special provisions under Bank of Slovenia

Special provisions under IFRS

Formed provisions for NLB, 31. 12. 2004
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Market risk concentrates on potential losses in the Bank’s

positions, which arise due to adverse changes in the interest

rate, foreign exchange, equities and derivatives markets. The

Bank manages market risk on a global level, as well as sepa-

rately for positions in the trading and banking book. During

2004, the Bank was mainly exposed to foreign exchange and

interest rate risk, whereby the exposure was relatively small.

NLB does not actively trade in derivative products. 

The system in operation enables NLB to manage risks on a

daily basis and compares exposure to pre-defined limits. The

defined limits, which have been approved by the

Management Board, are in accordance with business

demands and opinions of risk management department. If the

limits are exceeded, the open positions are closed or hedged

through appropriate hedging instruments to ensure they are

within the approved limits again. The exposures and utilisation

of limits is shown on a regular basis in risk reports submitted

to the business side and ALCO. In line with requirements set

by the Bank of Slovenia, the Bank provides sufficient equity to

cover potential unexpected losses which may arise from expo-

sure to foreign exchange and other market risks. Reporting to

the Bank of Slovenia according to the standardised approach

is conducted on a monthly or quarterly basis. 

Currency risk

NLB’s financial position and cash flows are exposed to fo-

reign currency fluctuations. Foreign exchange (‘FX’) risk is

monitored and managed on a daily basis. By closing open FX

positions on a daily basis the Bank minimises its foreign

exchange exposure and thereby adheres to its relatively con-

servative policy of managing foreign exchange risk. The

Management Board confirms limits on permissible exposure in

each foreign currency and for every trader.

In addition to the standardised methodology NLB uses its

own internal Value at Risk model (VAR) to determine the FX

risk embedded in its positions (trading and banking book posi-

tions) and the maximum potential losses associated with

them. The VAR numbers are calculated using a historical simu-

lation method and are in accordance with the Basel II stan-

dards considering capital charge calculations. The method is

based on a daily calculation of changes in the foreign

exchange part of the balance and off-balance sheets, thereby

taking into account previous exchange rate values and their

mutual correlations during the previous year. In addition to

this, backtesting is carried out on a daily basis to corroborate

the exactness of the internal model. Since the model is still in

the testing phase, the Bank of Slovenia has not yet issued an

Market risk management

39

4

10

16

9

2
4

13

1 2

NLB loan portfolio structure by customers, 31. 12. 2004

Slovenian companies 39 %

Slovenian banks 4 %

Bank of Slovenia 16 %

Foreign banks 9 %

Foreign financial institutions 2 %

Foreign companies 4 %

Retail 13 %

Republic of Slovenia 10 %

Slovenian financial institutions 1 %

Enterpreneur 2 %

NLB portfolio quality, 31. 12. 2004

2

81

14

2 1

A 81 %

B 14 %

C 2 %

E 2 %

D 1 %

Since 2002 NLB has strengthened its control over subsidiary

banks and financial institutions by performing regular checks

of their portfolios. This approach ensures equal procedures

are applied when rating customers and forming provisions for

credit risk. When differences in forming provisions are deter-

mined (mainly due to differing national legislation and prac-

tices), these are recalculated in agreement with the regulation

set by the Bank of Slovenia, and the differences are included

in the consolidated accounting statements of NLB Group. 
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IN MILLION TOLARS 31. 12. 2004

BPV (-10 bp) 237.8

NII* (-10 bp) 83.7

NNI: 1-year interest rate gap, multiplied by the change in interest rate

Table 7: Hedging and transformation position for NLB

approval for the model to be formally used in capital adequa-

cy calculations. Therefore, its application is constrained to

internal usage only. 

The FX risk measurement model has the following charac-

teristics: 

• VAR is calculated daily, based on the end of the previous

working day’s exposure;

• a holding period of 10 days;

• an observation period of 250 working days;

• a confidence level of 99 % and

• historical time series are updated daily.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises when interest-sensitive assets have

different maturities or reprising characteristics than the corre-

sponding interest-sensitive liabilities. The Bank’s objective in

managing interest rate risks is to reduce the volatility of net

interest margins. 

The Bank’s interest rate exposures are monitored and man-

aged using interest rate sensitivity gap reports. Those reports

contain interest rate sensitivity analysis according to time gaps

for both on and off-balance sheet items which are segregat-

ed by type of interest rate and reprising bands.

NLB has upgraded its interest rate sensitivity analysis with

the individual management of interest rate risks of two posi-

tions in the banking book - transformation and hedging posi-

tion. Within the transformation position assets with undefined

maturities but with presumed stability over a given time peri-

od are invested in securities according to the benchmarking

principle. The aim of this method is to realise an interest mar-

gin without exposing oneself to credit, liquidity or currency

risks. The hedging position, which includes financial instru-

ments with known maturities and results on business with

corporate and retail customers, is managed so that the posi-

tion’s exposure to interest rate risk is kept at a minimum. 

For the purpose of determining its exposure to interest

rate risks, NLB performs interest rate gap analyses as well as

sensitivity analyses of changes in market-based interest rates

in the market value of instruments held and the correspon-

ding level interest income. 

The table 7 provides an estimate of the degree to which a

10 basis points (-0.10 percent) drop in interest rates influ-

ences net interest income (NII) during the current year and

the change in portfolio value (BPV) for the hedging position.

NLB has a number of money and capital market dealing

rooms. The dealing rooms focus primarily on providing cus-

tomer service in money and capital market products, portfolio

management, money market activities and engaging in limi-

ted trading for one’s own account. The dealing rooms focus

on trading in FX, interest rate, equity and their derivative

instruments. Trading with options is limited to FX and interest

rate options and is only done as part of our customer services.

The Bank is neither involved in trading with credit derivatives

nor is active in commodities markets.

Bond portfolio

Monitoring and measuring risks in the foreign bonds po-

rtfolio is based on the variance-covariance approach to calcu-

lating VAR. The model’s assumptions are the same as in cu-

rrency risk model. In addition to this, the portfolio of domes-

tic bonds’ exposure is monitored according to the BPV and

gap methods.

Further, the Bank has a set of policies for managing bond

portfolios that have been approved by the Management

Board. These policies define the permissible structures of

investments within the portfolio, monitoring and manage-

ment of risks and possible hedging strategies. 

Trading book
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Slovenian bonds Foreign bonds

IN MILLION TOLARS 2003 2004 2003 2004

BPV (-10 bp) +110.1 +145.9

VAR 187.6 163.2

VAR as % of market value 0.66 % 0.68 %

Table 8: NLB’s VAR and BPV for the bond portfolio

Equity portfolio

In the area of equity investments NLB follows investment

policies approved by the Management Board. These policies

define the permissible investment structures within a port-

folio, the associated monitoring and managing of risk, and

potential hedging strategies for the portfolios. In 2004 the

major part of the portfolio remained relatively stable. 

The Bank applies a VAR calculation to monitor and manage

the equity portfolio’s risk. The method measures potential

losses of the portfolio within a 10-day holding period, given a

confidence interval of 99 percent. The VAR figure is calculat-

ed based on 250 days of historical data and is in accordance

with the BIS standards. The calculation uses a historical VAR

simulation in which the Bank does not need to make assump-

tions about the distribution of returns.  

Derivatives portfolio

The Bank’s main activities in derivatives markets involve the

FX and interest rate markets. Trading in these derivatives is not

active and the majority of deals are made to service cus-

tomers. The largest share of the business is in currency for-

wards and swaps, and interest rate swaps. All positions are

prevailingly closed. 

Basel II

Activities in this area relate to adapting credit and opera-

tional risk management techniques to the European Directive

on Capital Adequacy, which will come into effect as of 2007.

To monitor operating risk NLB intends to utilise the standard-

ised approach, while in the field of credit risk the Bank aims

for a gradual transition from the standardised to the founda-

tion approach, which is based on internal ratings (FIRB).
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Strategy
• To put our customers, their wishes and needs at the centre of our 

activities;
• to maintain our leading position in Slovenia;
• to become the leading financial group in Central and SE Europe and
• to continue introducing new services to the Slovenian market.

Main external challenges

Slovenia:

• Intensive Competition

• Converging interest rates 

• Introduction of the euro 

• Basel II

SE Europe:

• Low level of economic development

• Political risk 

The key goal for the next medium-term is to ensure a bal-

ance between profitability, cost efficiency and maintaining the

market position in Slovenia. 

NLB Group’s financial goals:

• ROE before tax: 17 - 19% 

• CIR: 60 - 62%

Main internal challenges of NLB Group

• Continue improving corporate governance

• Reengineer business processes in retail and corporate seg-

ments of operations

NLB Group key goal is ...

profitability
cost
efficiency

expansion

... to achieve
a balance
between



NLB as a parent bank exercises control over NLB Group via

the mechanisms of management and control. These include

appointing members, participating at General Meetings, com-

mittees and supervisory bodies of NLB Group, Strategic

Conference of NLB Group and co-operation by business lines.

Control over NLB Group is also exercised through internal con-

trol, with auditing members of the Group contributing 22 per-

cent of the annual plan. The Compliance Office is responsible

for implementing unified standards, the external auditor PWC

assures independent auditing of the members, additional

supervision is given over to local supervisors of members.   

The Management Board leads, presents and acts in the

name of the Bank individually and on its own responsibility

and has the authority in accordance with the law and the

Banking Act. At its annual meeting on December 5, 2003, the

Supervisory Board appointed Marjan Kramar as the new

President of NLB Management Board. His mandate began on

February 1, 2004. At their 28th regular meeting on 7 July the

sixth member of the Management Board was appointed

namely, Erik Luts, responsible for information technology. The

remaining members of the Management Board are Andrej

Hazabent, Matej Narat, Borut StaniË and Pierre Van Keirsbilck.

Working bodies of the Management Board include:

• The Credit Committee whose role is to accept decisions on

grading classifications, set exposure limits and approve loans

in commercial banking. 

• The Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) which analy-

ses balance sheet positions, changes and trends and formu-

lates decisions to achieve the balance sheet structure in line

with the Bank’s business policy. Its role includes overseeing

that normal banking activity and targeted goals are set and

achieved. 

• The Audit Committee executes independent and objective

audits in the Bank and co-ordinates the supervisory function

in the Bank and NLB Group. 

• The Development Committee is a co-ordinating and advi-

sory body for establishing and supervising implementation

of the Bank and NLB Group’s development. 

• The Cost Committee is a professional and co-ordinating

body for preparing and supervising implementation of the

cost budgeting policy of the Bank and NLB Group. 

• The Compliance Office supervises and encourages regula-

tory compliance and managing business with the intention

of reducing operating risk.

The Supervisory Board supervises governance and moni-

tors the Bank’s performance. If the Companies Act does not

otherwise define it, the Supervisory Board has a quorum when

summoned in accordance with the procedure and when at

least half of its members are present or represented, including

the President or his Deputy.
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Corporate 
governance

Name SB function Primary responsibility Team of office Development Audit 

Committee Committee

mag. Anton ÆuniË Chairman General Manager, Ministry of Finance

of the Republic of Slovenia 2002 - 2005

Uroπ Slavinec Deputy Chairman President of the Management Board, Helios d. d. 2001 - 2005 X

André Bergen1 Member President of the Management Board,

KBC Bank NV, Brussels 2004 - 2005

François Florquin Member Executive Director, KBC Bank NV, Brussels 2002 - 2005 X

Zvone IvanuπiË Member Advisor to the Management Board,

Pozavarovalnica Sava d. d., Ljubljana 2001 - 2005 X

mag. Igor Kuπar2 Member Member of the Management Board,

Zavarovalnica Triglav d. d., Ljubljana 2001 - 2005 X

Dirk Mampaey2 Member Assistent General Manager, KBC Bank NV, Brussels 2002 - 2005 X

Anne Fossemalle Member General Manager, EBRD Bank, London 2004 - 2005 X

dr. Metka TekavËiË Member Assistant, Faculty of Economisc, University of Ljubljana 2001 - 2005 X

Christian Defransq1 Member Executive Director, KBC Verzekeringen DSE, Leuven 2004 - 2005

Borut Jamnik1 Member President of the Management Board,

Kapitalska druæba d. d., Ljubljana 2004 - 2005 X

1 Elected at the Annual General Meeting in July 2004. 

2 Igor Kuπar tendered his resignation on November 11, 2004 and Dirk Mampaey from the KBC on January 1, 2005

Table 9: Members of NLB’s Supervisory Board
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NLB major shereholders 31. 12. 2004

35

16

34

5

5

5

Republic of Slovenia 35 %

KBC Bank NV 34 %

Slovenska odπkodninska
druæba 5 %

Kapitalska druæba 5 %

EBRD 5 %

Other shareholders 16 %

All Supervisory Board members conclude their mandate at

the same time. Igor Kuπar tendered his resignation on

November 11, 2004 and Dirk Mampaey from the KBC on

January 1, 2005. At the General Meeting of Shareholders on

July 7, 2004 the following membership changes occurred;

Christian Defrancq replaced David Truman, Anne Fossemalle

replaced Alain Pilloux, Borut Jamnik replaced Joæe LeniË (who

resigned on July 30, 2003) and André Bergen replaced

Herman Agneessens (who resigned on December 31, 2003).

In 2004 the Supervisory Board held five regular meetings

and fifteen correspondence meetings. With the objective of

improving the efficiency and professionalism of operations

and to enable more effective analysis, the Supervisory Board

introduced working bodies at its annual meeting in 2002. A

development committee and an audit committee were esta-

blished.

• The Supervisory Board Development Committee fol-

lows strategic issues and prepares proposals on information

system development, product development, operations in

domestic and foreign markets and organisation of NLB. This

committee held four regular meetings in 2004.

• The Supervisory Board Audit Committee follows and

prepares suggested decisions in the areas of internal audit

and compliance with legislation, internal and external audit

reports and in evaluating audit procedures. This committee

had four regular meetings in 2004.

General Meeting of Shareholders

The 9th regular General Meeting was held on July 7, 2004.

At the General Meeting the owners were presented with both

Bank’s Annual Report for the 2004 business year and the

Supervisory Board report. They accepted the proposed

changes to NLB Statute and appointed new members of the

Supervisory Board. The auditing firm PricewaterhouseCoopers

d.o.o. was appointed auditor of NLB for 2004. 94.64 percent

of the shareholders were present at the meeting. The General

Meeting of Shareholders accepted the Management and

Supervisory Boards’ proposed resolutions on distributing the

profit.

NLB is fully aware of the importance of the Corporate

Governance Code (hereinafter: the Code) as an important

substantial guideline for quality corporate governance. In the

territory of Slovenia, this document is clearly the most impor-

tant tool for company managers who are looking for an effi-

cient method of quality management and guidance that will

benefit all the shareholders and the company as a whole with-

in the scope of globally acceptable policies - mutatis mutan-

dis.  

Therefore, NLB not only agrees with the basic principles of

the Code but as far as possible also strives not to deviate from

the spirit and guidelines of this document in the scope of its

operations, and notwithstanding the fact that it is not formal-

ly bound by the Code due to its legal status. Taking into

account the Preamble of the Code, this document indicates

the points and details in which the company’s operations do

deviate from the ‘letter’ of the Code, with the aim being to

highlight such deviations and clearly present the current situ-

ation1.  A summary of such cases is given below, together

with the reasons for their occurrence. They are partly the

result of the general characteristics of the banking sector and

are especially connected with the Bank’s specific position in

the Slovenian and European financial area, its ownership

structure and other circumstances that cannot be directly

influenced by the management. 

Item 1.2.6 of the Code: this provision of the Code is imple-

mented with minor restrictions in terms of the scope of mate-

rial for the General Meeting published on the Bank’s website;

namely, we publish the Annual Report and the other funda-

mental documents while other more technical documents are

available to our shareholders at the Bank’s registered office,

following the announcement of the calling of a General

Meeting. 

Item 2.2.1 of the Code: the segregation of operating areas

and tasks among members of the Management Board and the

methods of their co-operation are defined by the Rules of

Procedure of NLB’s Management Board which implement one

of the basic rules of corporate law, namely, that the

Management Board is authorised to organise its own tasks

and define its own internal delimitation of responsibilities and

competencies in such a way that guarantees the optimal

implementation of assigned tasks, all within the scope of the

guidelines issued by the Supervisory Board as the direct super-

vising body. The fact that the Management Board’s opera-

tions have always been assessed positively by the Supervisory

Statement on compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code



Board is proof that the structure of responsibilities, duties and

delimitation of tasks, as laid down by the Rules of Procedure,

is appropriate. 

Item 2.2.2 of the Code: since additional conditions and cri-

teria for selecting a member of the Bank’s Management Board

are defined in the most important concrete legal framework

applicable to the operations of a bank, namely, the Banking

Act (very explicitly and more strictly than in the Companies

Act, which is more general and applies to other types of com-

panies as well), there is no need to repeat such provisions in

the Articles of Association or to adopt a special resolution of

the Supervisory Board. 

Item 2.3.2 of the Code: so far the Supervisory Board has

not believed it was necessary to further formalise or concretise

the criteria from this Item of the Code which are nevertheless

fully complied with, in terms of letter and spirit, when negoti-

ating and approving specific managerial contracts concluded

with members of the Management Board. 

Items 2.3.8 and 2.3.10 of the Code: each member of the

Management Board is obliged to report to the Bank any

change (purchase or sale) to their holdings of the Bank’s

shares or Group company shares. The Bank has applied the

same rule to members of other bodies, employees and other

persons with access to inside information. The appropriate

internal act that will formalise the existing and potential addi-

tional ‘rules of the game’ and at the same time regulate the

issue of an adequate public announcement is being prepared.

Item 3.3.4 of the Code: as regards the determination of

previously agreed internal criteria for membership in the

Supervisory Board we again believe that the Banking Act is

sufficiently explicit, precise and legally binding provision that

regulates the composition of the Banks’ bodies and lays down

strict criteria that guarantee the appropriate and professional

selection of persons eligible for membership in these bodies.  

Item 3.3.7 of the Code: there is no employee representa-

tive on the Supervisory Board of NLB as the provisions of the

Workers’ Participation in Management Act do not apply to

banks. 

Items 3.4.1 and 3.4.2 of the Code: members of the

Supervisory Board of NLB are only paid a session fee which is

defined separately for the Chairman, while all members

receive the same amount of session fee. 

Item 3.4.4 of the Code: as already explained (notes on

Items 2.3.8 and 2.3.10), the new internal act will stipulate that

members of the Supervisory Board must also submit to the

Bank data on any purchased securities of the Bank, or its asso-

ciated companies, and that such data shall be announced

publicly. 

Items 3.8.1 - 3.8.3 of the Code: so far the Supervisory

Board of NLB has collectively assessed the work of the

Management Board as a whole, which means that it has seen

no need to establish a special committee to deal with person-

nel issues or to evaluate the Management Board’s perform-

ance. Of course, we see no obstacles to setting up such a

committee in the future, should the need arise. 

Item 6.1.4 of the Code: auditors are always welcome at

the General Meeting, especially if they wish to interpret indi-

vidual elements of their report, and the Bank shall take care

for their attendance following any initiative of the sharehold-

ers. 

Item 7.3 of the Code: updating the existing documents in

the area of communication strategy and transforming them

into such a form that contains all the elements required by the

Code is almost complete. In the next few weeks, these modi-

fications (which will not be very dramatic considering the

existing quality of communication in the Bank) shall become

part of the everyday practice of NLB; the strategy, as an ele-

ment of quality in the corporate culture, will also be intro-

duced to the Bank’s associates and subsidiaries with appropri-

ate restrictions due to the various specific features of those

companies. 

1 As regards other provisions that are not explicitly stated, the operations of

Nova Ljubljanska banka d.d., Ljubljana, are fully compliant with the Code. We

point out that this statement applies to the period following its publication. We do

not comment on compliance with the generally non-binding recommendations of

the Code.
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Education structure of NLB employees

6

59

35
I. to V. degree 6 %

V. degree 59 %

VI. to VII. degree 35 %

Human resources 
management
• 6,706 employees in NLB Group, with 3,619 in NLB;
• average age is less than 41 years; 
• average work experience in NLB is 16 years, in NLB Group 19 years;  
• three-quarters of the employees are female and
• in 2004 144 internal educational programmes with 6,300 participants.

The personal commitment of employees, their professional-

ism and loyalty was reconfirmed in 2004; the business results

were achieved with almost 5 percent fewer employees than in

2003. This success is a result of the synergy between labour

cost effectiveness related to optimisation of the business

process and the restructuring programme which is changing

the structure of human resources and ensuring an adequate

level of competencies and quality of the working environ-

ment. 

Based on the current employment policy, recruitment was

also restricted in 2004. The number of new employees was

just a third of the figure for 2003, with most of the new

employees having a business profile thereby allowing for the

inflow of knowledge to the Bank.

Significant attention was paid to internal mobility activated

through the internal labour market. An additional impact on

the structure of employees was the fact that some carefully

selected groups of employees, mainly older ones left the Bank.

In order to boost productivity, the employees that left NLB

were not replaced automatically, instead existing employees

were encouraged to take over their jobs. Through all of these

activities, the ratio between business and support personnel,

which is one of the criteria indicating the success of restruc-

turing, rose to 51.1 percent.

Training is clearly an activity that helps ensure the employ-

ees’ readiness for new challenges. NLB Group banking

school, established in 2003, provides professional knowledge

to all groups of employees. While focusing on NLB Group’s

strategy, its values and business model, it creates a better

understanding of the business and the importance of co-oper-

ation between different parts of NLB and NLB Group. In order

to increase the return on investment in training and allow the

employees to choose their time for training, the Bank has

extended the offer of e-learning courses. For the first time,

along with training the e-platform enabled knowledge assess-

ment.

In 2004 special attention was paid to the development of

leadership competencies in NLB Group. The Bank organised

many workshops before implementing the ‘Letni pogovor’

(‘Annual Dialogue’), a dialogue between a manager and a

employee about the criteria and goals for future performance

evaluation, as well as a suitable development plan that helps

minimise the employee’s weaknesses and enhance their

strengths. The purpose of the workshops was to refresh 

middle-management’s skills in conducting these dialogues as

well as to help them eliminate the difficulties identified. All of

this should help them achieve excellence in the area of per-

formance management.

Number of employees in NLB and NLB Group

NLB

NLB Group

5,585

2,953

6,843

3,805

6,706

3,619

2002 20042003

In 2004 HR
activities
focused pri-
marily on the
processes
that support
a further rise
in the effec-
tiveness of
the invest-
ment in
labour costs,
which in turn
improves the
links between
NLB Group
members in
the field of
HR, as well 
as those that
ensure the
appropriate
competence
and 
motivation 
of employees. 



Along with these workshops, which were attended by the

majority of managers, the e-learning module on performance

management has been implemented, which informs man-

agers about the key elements of the Annual Dialogues.

Another significant part of the Bank’s Management School

was devoted to developing leadership competencies. 

As a source of the demanding professional knowledge and

best practices NLB used the KBC’s offer in this area. Twenty-

six employees from NLB took part in programmes prepared by

the KBC ‘International Training & Communication

Centre’. After returning to their work environments they have

passed on the newly acquired knowledge directly to their col-

leagues, or via internal training programmes to other employ-

ees. 

To ensure key employees that have the greatest influence

on achieving the strategic and business goals of the next

short- and long-term periods, NLB paid special attention to

developing perspective talents identified in different work

areas. They represent a pool for filling vacant managerial and

professional positions in NLB Group in the future. Some

employee groups received individual career development

advice.

In co-operation with NLB Group members the Bank set the

basis for the planned employee mobility among members,

called 'Group for the Group', thus increasing co-operation 

within the Group in the HR area. At the same time, NLB

organised different forms of training which where organisa-

tionally and content-wise adjusted in order to ensure the

transfer of knowledge and best practices to key employees

within NLB Group, who will then add to further knowledge

dispersion and improve co-operation among Group members.

In doing so, NLB also used the financial sources made available

by the Slovenian Ministry of the Economy for training experts

in South-east Europe.

In 2004 NLB continued to pay attention to creating a

healthy, safe and pleasant work environment. Preventive med-

ical checks were organised and adjusted to specific needs of

individual jobs. All the office furniture and equipment meets

contemporary ergonomic standards that are important for

ensuring optimal working conditions. Several training pro-

grammes were organised in order to give support when

resolving problems related to stress at work. Sports facilities

were made available to the employees, and NLB Group’s

Winter and Summer sports games took place. 

NLB offered employees an additional pension fund ma-

naged by Skupna pokojninska druæba d.d., member of NLB

Group. In 2004, 94 percent of the employees were included. 

The new collective agreement, valid since February 2005,

again set the foundations for co-operation with labour unions

over the next two years.
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All these
activities were
implemented
with a care-

fully ma-
naged bal-

ance that has
helped to

attain both
goals,

improve cost
effectiveness

and at the
same time

sustain a high
competence

level, the
motivation of
employees as
well as retain

the key 
talents. 
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with its widespread network for selling services to its
customers.

In 2004, the gap analysis in the corporate banking and
treasury was completed, which was considered a good
basis for restarting the Globus project for developing an
integrated corporate banking system. The end of 2005
will introduce the implementation of the first batch of
functionalities. 

The Bank introduced important changes to the IT gov-
ernance function and its compliance with the develop-
ment goals. Development priorities were aligned with
business development needs and regulatory compliance,
which to a large extent requires changes to the infor-
mation system as Slovenia is moving closer to the EU
regulations. A new reporting system for the ECB was put
in place in 2004 along with interest taxing and payment
system customisations because of STEP2 and Target.

In line with development requirements and better risk
management during the implementation of new so-
lutions as well as the scheduled introduction of the euro,
NLB contacted local IT companies to ensure adequate
capacity for the critical period of the next two to three
years. This approach will accommodate several develop-
ment needs of the Bank and regulatory requirements
while at the same time reducing dependency on a few
key foreign individuals and delivering urgent activities
for reducing the complexity of the information system.

Information 
technology

Compared to 2003 the performance of the systems in
2004 was substantially more stable while system avail-
ability reached 99.6 percent.
Given the problems with IT systems in 2003 the Bank
proceeded with activities for managing information and
other operating risks. An important part of these activi-
ties related to the disaster recovery plan, where a func-
tional host was completely installed at the secondary
location and the set-up of other key systems is about to
finish and the integration testing is scheduled for May.
This will enable business continuity or restoration within
a critical time for all business functions. All the manuals
have also been produced to cover the situation when a
system goes down. Apart from other resources, the
Bank budgeted almost 1 billion tolars for hardware
investments for business continuity planning.

In the development strategy a target technical and
business architecture was designed, the target develop-
ment environment defined and decisions were made in
line with this strategy for key projects. 

In retail development, several functionalities were
developed catering for new products and rationalising
the system’s performance. The most important develop-
ment project in the retail area is an integrated front-end
application which will considerably facilitate work, 
making it more efficient and improving control mecha-
nisms in operations while at the same time facilitating
connections to other management systems especially for
non-banking products using the advantage NLB has 

In 2004,
important
decisions
were made
regarding the
development
strategy in
information
technology
from the
aspect of
technology,
long-term
partnership
with local IT
companies
and process
optimisation
within the IT
centre aimed
at better 
control and
high-quality
IT risk 
management.  
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The Internal Audit operates in accordance with the
Bank Law, its performance is defined in the Internal
Audit Charter for NLB Bank and NLB Group. Internal
auditors operate in accordance with principles of inde-
pendence, professionalism and objectivity, with respect
to ethical principles and in accordance with the interna-
tional internal auditing standards. Working procedures
are in detail defined in the Handbook for internal audit-
ing. Activities are regularly reported to the Management
Board, the Audit Committee and as necessary to exter-
nal regulators.

The work methods of the IAD follow the new bank
legislation and the development of the internal audit
profession. The audit approach is based on inherent
and control risks that exist within individual areas of the
audit target areas, which are also the basis for annual
and long-term audit planning. The main stress is laid on
the internal control system and risk management,
which is also defined in international practice in accor-
dance with the COSO ('Committee of Sponsoring
Organisations of the Treadway Commission') or the
ERM ('Enterprise Risk Management') models. In order to
check internal control systems in the branch network
and the internal audit function at members of NLB
Group, the audit approach of CSA forms (‘Control Self
Assessment’) is used. The CSA approach involves a
combination of management supervision and classic
internal auditing and is an addition to the existing inter-
nal auditing.

The internal audit is also responsible for maintaining
and developing unified audit standards in NLB Group as
well as for supervising the internal audit activities and
business performance of NLB Group members.

The Internal Audit is competent for coordination of
choosing external auditor for auditing annual report of
NLB and NLB group, coordination of its performance
and follow-up the realization of its recommendations. In 

accordance with International auditing standards, the
external auditor can use services of internal audit. IAD is
competent for coordination inspection reviews carried
out by the Bank of Slovenia, following-up the realization
of its recommendations and reporting about it to the
Management Board. 

The internal audit co-operates with the KBC’s internal
auditors in the areas of the development of audit
methodology, education programmes and the imple-
mentation of best practices. The internal audit also co-
operates with the KBC’s internal auditors - specialists in
specific areas - during joint audits of NLB.

The internal audit carried out 32 regular audits and 17
extraordinary reviews and followed up recommended
procedures issued by the Bank of Slovenia and by the
external auditor. They co-operated at supervisory
reviews of the Bank of Slovenia, monitored the execu-
tion of issued decrees and recommendations by the
Bank of Slovenia, co-operated in the external audit of
the Bank and NLB Group, performed control reviews at
contractual exchange offices credit agents’ perform-
ance in accordance with the regulations of the Bank of
Slovenia and transferred work methodology standards
and knowledge to the internal auditors of members of
NLB Group in order to unify audit work. 

Quite a lot of time in 2004 was spent on the devel-
opment of audit methodology, including an upgrade of
the methodology of long-term and annual audit plan-
ning which was successfully implemented during the
2005 planning process. The internal audit also devel-
oped computer support for recording and monitoring
recommendations which led to a shortening and simpli-
fication of status reporting. In 2004 the internal audit
gradually introduced the COSO model and issued the
internal policy of the independence and objectivity of
internal auditors.  

Internal 
audit

The internal
audit function

of NLB Bank
and NLB
Group is

organised as
an independ-
ent function
directly sub-

ordinated 
to the

Management
Board. The
aim of the

internal audit
function is to

provide
objective

assurance
and to 

advise the
management

for the 
purpose of
protecting
the Bank’s
assets and

improving the
quality and

efficiency of
its operations.

The internal
audit helps

the Bank and
members of

the Group to
achieve

strategic and
business

objectives in
the light of

best banking
practices. 
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The Euro project for NLB commenced at the end of
November 2004. The primary goal of the project is to
prepare and implement all the requirements for conver-
sion of the Bank’s operations and systems for the euro
as a replacement of the tolar currency. In Slovenia the
euro will be introduced according to a ‘big bang’ sce-
nario on January 1, 2007, after the convergence criteria
have been met. The big bang scenario implies a simulta-
neous introduction of the euro as cash, as well as book-
keeping money. In the first quarter of 2005, a detailed
inventory of all products and processes affected by the
euro introduction was completed in the Bank. The
inventory served as the basis for the Feasibility Studies,
the results of which are adjustment plans for all affect-
ed areas. This project has Priority 1 status and will
demand the engagement of important human and
material resources in the Bank in the period lasting till
spring 2007. Special attention will undoubtedly be paid
to the testing of IT systems support and to relationships
with our customers.

Activities in this area relate to adapting credit and
operational risk management techniques to the
European Directive on Capital Adequacy, which will
come into effect as of 2007. To monitor operating risk,
NLB intends to utilise the standardised approach, while
in the field of credit risk, the Bank aims for a gradual
transition from the standardised to the foundation
approach, which is based on internal ratings (FIRB). 

The goal of the Basel II project is to align the risk man-
agement process in the field of credit and operating risk
management with the European Capital Adequacy
Directive (CAD 3) that will come into force at the begin-

ning of 2007. NLB will adopt the Standardised approach
for operating risk, while for credit risk the plan is to
gradually proceed from the Standardised to the
Foundation IRB approach. 

In 2004 NLB focused on improving the operating loss
data collection process, which contributed to an
improved awareness of the importance of operating risk
for the Bank. Since operating risk occurs in all areas of
banking, its management has to be decentralised; this is
also reflected in the operating risk management proce-
dures in NLB. In 2005 NLB will set up operating risk iden-
tification and assessment processes which will be based
on the KBC methodology as well as local know-how and
experience.

The credit risk GAP analysis showed that model deve-
lopment will be hindered due to limited data availability,
therefore adoption of FIRB approach is strongly con-
nected with realisation of certain IT projects within the
Bank. In the meantime the project will focus on adopt-
ing the Standardised approach as well as the rating
model’s development for the corporate and SME seg-
ments. The developed methodologies will gradually be
passed on to NLB Group members.

All development projects were in line with the plan,
they are set to conclude for the second half of 2005 or
later. In the second half of 2004 the preparation and
implementation of activities began for Slovenia’s and
NLB’s participation in the STEP2 system, which is used
for processing mass payments of smaller amounts with-
in the EU. 

Development 
projects
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Socially responsible 
business
• More than 500 sponsorship and donating activities;
• in 2004 NLB supported a campaign to shorten waiting times at hospitals;
• a donation for 1,000 grey membrane operations conducted by the end

of 2005;
• supporting certain top sportspeople;
• co-founders of the National Art Fund and
• participation in promotional projects for enterprises.

The support given to certain top sportsmen and
women and national representatives makes NLB one of
the important generators of the success of Slovenian
sportsmen and women. Among larger projects, NLB is a
longstanding partner of the men’s Alpine ski team, the
Slovenian handball team and individual top sportsmen
including the Gold Medal winner in marksmanship at
the Sydney Olympics, Rajmond Debevc. 

Cultural events in Slovenia are strongly associated
with the name Nova Ljubljanska banka d.d., Ljubljana
that co-operates with organisers of such events across
Slovenia. Long-term collaboration has made NLB a long-
standing partner of the Ljubljana Jazz Festival, Lent
Festival, Borπtnik theatrical event, Ljubljana Summer
Festival and other prominent regional and national
events. 

With the intention of supporting Slovenian cultural
heritage, NLB has been compiling an Art Collection for
several years. It includes major works of art of Slovenian
sculptors and painters of the 20th century. Each new
acquisition complements the collection and expands the
representative selection of Slovenian artistic creation. 

In 2004 NLB Gallery Avla organised four designer
exhibitions, an exhibition of illustrations by Zvonko »oh
and a photographic exhibition by Mario Magajne.
Moreover, two NLB Art Collection exhibitions were
organised, one on sculpture and the other on artworks
collected from 2002 to 2003. 

In 2004 NLB supported the Institute of Public Heath in
a campaign to shorten waiting times at hospitals. The
long-standing partnership with the Slovenian Unicef
reflects the Bank’s support of children’s charities.
Sponsorship support of Slovenia’s Reading Badge award
and our support for improving the reading culture
among pre-school children clearly identifies NLB’s mis-
sion in this area. 

In 2004 NLB co-operated with institutions offering
development programmes for enterprises and
entrepreneurship such as fostering centres for SMEs,
regional trade and the commerce chamber and in events
such as ‘Gazela leta’ (Slovenia’s fastest growing compa-
nies) and ‘Podjetnik leta’ (Entrepreneur of the year).

NLB achieves
recognition

and support
for certain

projects
through its
continuing

sponsorship
and donating

activities.
The selected

carefully 
projects the

Bank
supports

enable NLB’s
close

relationship
with sporting,

cultural and
humanitarian

events,
indicating a
concern for
the national

identity.



Coutinued growth and care for 
development give guarantee for security and confidence. 
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Nova Ljubljanska
banka
Retail banking
• NLB’s retail network consists of 155 branches and, together with the

bank members of NLB Group, in Slovenia there are 223 branches in total.
• Over 200,000 users of modern distribution channels.  
• 500,000 visits per month to NLB website by more than 300,000 cus-

tomers who make up to 150,000 informative calculations.  
• More than 10,000 points of sale are equipped with NLB POS terminals. 
• The number of Golden Account holders doubled among citizens, involv-

ing a 4.2 percent share of NLB. 
• The amount of newly approved loans increased by 37 %.

Personal banking 
NLB offers personal banking to more demanding and

wealthier customers. A personal banker provides simple

and effective access to a whole range of services and prod-

ucts. Specially trained personal bankers handle the banking

operations of customers and also provide advice regarding

more demanding banking products. 

Private banking 
The Bank pays special attention to the most demanding

and wealthiest customers. Private banking, which repre-

sents the highest level of service for our customers, pro-

vides extensive experience, knowledge and excellent inter-

national connections, absolute security, discretion and the

comfortable performance of all banking operations. This

first-class service includes, in addition to regular banking

services, the integral treatment of customers, quality asset

management, tax and real estate advising and the planning

of one’s financial future to meet the needs and wishes of

each customer.

Cross sales 
The integral treatment of customers and cross-marketing

of services within NLB Group is becoming ever more 

common in operations with individual citizens. The indexes

of cross-sales prove this. Segments of customers who are

given the most of our attention use most of our services,

i.e. in private banking on average 7.8 and in personal bank-

ing 5.1. 

Integral financial advice 
In 2004 NLB Group offered new products and developed

packages comprising asset management, insurance and

loans. At the end of 2004 NLB started with its offer of

‘Everything on one location’ and offered our customers not

only a wide range of saving and investment possibilities,

but also advice about the complete investment of savings

according to their risk awareness, financial targets and

wishes.

The Bank also introduced real estate and personal euro

loans. Also increasing are mini-loans, which were intro-

duced at the end of 2003, and which are approved for cus-

tomers directly at retail outlets. 

The change in savings habits and the offer of new finan-

cial instruments did not strongly influence deposits since

the balance of citizen’s deposits, in spite of the great sales

by insurance and mutual funds, increased by 5.7 percent.  

NLB retail clients structure
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12

22

4

Clients in mass
proceedings 62 %

Personal and private
banking clients 4 %

Seniors 12 %

Young 22 %
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Card operations 
More and more customers are deciding to make better

use of credit and revolving cards. Last year NLB recorded

the highest growth in the use of the Gold MasterCard card.

The number of issued cards was 66 percent higher than in

2003, while the volume of operations increased by 35 per-

cent. The shares of domestic and licensed cards in NLB are

approximately the same.  

1,322 new points of sale joined NLB network.

Transactions grew by 35 percent in comparison to 2003.

More than 70 percent of points of sale provide the safe

entry of PIN codes when paying with debit cards. The mar-

ket share of all issued and active cards of NLB Group is 41

percent.

How to get to the Bank?
NLB continued with its optimisation and renewal of

branches. The most frequently visited branch is NLB web-

site. The Bank is continuously updating it with information

about NLB Group and our products. 

Also seeing growing use are modern distribution chan-

nels:

• telephone, which provides Teledom, Moba NLB, SMS and

automatic answering machine; 

• the Internet bank Klik NLB and  

• self-service channels: ATM and Tolimat for the youngest. 

NLB Group owns 659 ATMs, which means a 48 percent

market share in Slovenia. In 2004 the number of Moba

users increased by more than half, the users of Klik NLB

increased by more than 30 percent, while the number of

Teledom users, which can only be used by NLB customers,

increased by over 6 percent. The shares of Moba NLB and

Klik NLB increased within the structure of modern distribu-

tion channels users due to new users joining. 

New characteristics of modern distribution channels 
The Bank added some new characteristics to Klik NLB

and the telephone bank Teledom which enable even

quicker access and simpler financial operations for their

users. Customers who use Klik NLB can monitor most

transactions and the balances of their operations, they can

see their time deposits and personal loans. The qualified

digital certificate AC NLB ensures the users of Klik NLB the

highest possible security for Internet operations.

NLB is the only bank in Slovenia which, with the AC NLB

certificate, enabled the users of Klik NLB to post their

income tax returns electronically in 2004. 

Customer satisfaction 
NLB Group is systematically researching the level of its

corporate and private customers’ satisfaction for the fifth

year in a row. At the end of 2004 the common index of

customers’ satisfaction in all retail branches was essentially

higher than in 2003. Customers are most satisfied with the

personal approach, business-like attitude and precise and

professional employees in the branches.



organisational units of the Bank, i.e. the financing of

takeovers and issuing of securities.

The more intensive investment activities of companies

resulting in increased demand for long-term sources is seen in

the faster growth of long-term loans. Similar to 2003,

demand from large corporate customers was mostly for for-

eign currency loans, which accordingly changed the value

structure of the loan portfolio. This points to the fact that the

Slovenian economy has already accepted the euro to some
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Organisational changes seen in corporate banking in the

past few years have resulted in NLB’s well-developed and

customer-oriented approach, whereby each customer has its

own designated account manager. The Bank is servicing its

customers. This enables a unified and complete process for

our customers. Such servicing also allows us to create offers

adjusted to their needs, with the emphasis on quality.

2004 was marked by greater competition in the banking

sector from mostly foreign banks. This led to a continued low-

ering of interest rates with the goal to gain a larger market

share. Despite the very strong competition NLB’s corporate

banking services succeeded in keeping a stable corporate loan

portfolio, which proves our adaptability to changing circum-

stances. Adaptability was also best shown in our greater

attention to customers’ needs and the proactive marketing of

banking and financial services. Our aim was to offer Slovenia’s

biggest and best companies all the services they need for their

operations at competitive prices. NLB’s corporate banking

services include advising, preparation and execution of indi-

vidual transactions, which range from regular financing,

organising syndicated loans, project financing up to more

complex services, which are offered together with other 

Corporate
banking 

activities are
very intensive

with NLB
Group 

members.
Synergy 

within NLB
Group helps
our potential

customers see
their requests

being 
satisfied.  

Customers
are thereby

informed
about all

financial serv-
ices offered

by NLB Group
members.

In FX

In tolars
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Offer for SMEs

In 2004, the volume of loans given to small and medium-

sized enterprises increased by more than 44 percent. The

growth of foreign currency loans is substantially stronger than

for tolar loans. 

As an important novelty, the Bank introduced a special offer

of long-term foreign currency loans from the European

Investment Bank. These loans have a favourable interest rate,

a longer maturity and are intended for companies and sole

proprietors. The offer is also expanded by the long-term tolar

loans linked to the interbank interest rate SITIBOR, which is

Corporate banking
• Active support of the investments of Slovenian companies in SE Europe

markets; 
• the main agent for EU funds;
• a 39 % market share of the SME sector and
• 26,000 of our corporate customers use the electronic banking provided

by Proklik NLB.

based on interest rates for deposits and is similar to the fo-

reign currency offer in its characteristics. 

In 2004, in co-operation with an external partner NLB

enabled existing users of Proklik NLB to exchange smart cards

with more extensive characteristics for a fair price. In addition

to electronic banking, Card Ena enables operations with e-

Uprava, Durs (the tax authority), Intrastat, Ajpes and eDavek.

Proklik NLB has been upgraded with the possibility of asset

management, which enables the headquarters of companies

to independently manage assets in the business accounts of

linked subsidiary companies. 



Growth
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extent, and is at the same time a result of the discrepancy

between tolar and foreign currency interest rates.

The Bank participated in larger projects of our customers

from different industries: trade, food-processing, tourism, the

building industry and telecommunications. In telecommunica-

tions even deeper co-operation is expected. A lot of attention

was paid to financing leasing activities and the redemption of

shares. 

NLB Group played an active role in supporting Slovenian

companies in their efforts to expand to foreign markets.

Successful co-operation was noted in Bosnia and Herzegovina,

Serbia and Montenegro and Macedonia, where some impor-

tant projects were executed in the fields of tourism and com-

merce. These projects enjoy significant support from the local

residents which strengthens the role and reputation of NLB

Group. 

NLB’s corporate banking services focused on cross-selling

within NLB Group. Special efforts were also made to develop

financial services with higher added value, the main one being

Cash Management services. This approach takes advantage of

potential synergies within NLB Group. This is a comparative

advantage in financial markets both in Slovenia and abroad.

With accession to the European Union Slovenian companies

and non-commercial entities have been given the opportunity

to acquire financial assistance from the Union’s funds that are

only available to its full members. As a consequence, NLB has

decided to expand its range of services by providing consult-

ing services to those customers seeking to obtain EU funding.

NLB thus offers guidance and financial support throughout

the related tendering procedures and provides opinions on

the economic justification of the projects wishing to apply for

such funding.

In the next few years, before Slovenia enters the euro zone,

similar trends are expected in corporate banking, especially as

Slovenian interest rates approach the euro zone ones. The

more explicit market behaviour of domestic and foreign com-

panies will increase the overall competitive position of the

economy. The role of NLB corporate banking services in

Slovenia and abroad will thus be even stronger.



Turnover and market share of NLB on LjSE
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Dealing in securities 

The Slovenian equity index SBI 20 rose by 25 percent as a

result of increased investments in equities and mutual funds

by domestic investors in the Slovenian capital market. Due to

low returns on savings-bank deposits resulting from low inter-

est rates, domestic investors were searching for other more

attractive investment alternatives. 

In 2004, the Bank’s turnover on the LjSE was 129 billion

tolars. This resulted in a 38 percent increase over 2003 and a

convincing first place in the LjSE.

In 2005, more steady growth of the Slovenian capital mar-

ket and relatively stronger demand for investing abroad is

expected. For that reason the Bank plans to offer its customers

a choice to invest in the capital markets of former Yugoslav

countries and other emerging South-east European markets.

Asset management

In 2004, NLB Bank recorded strong growth in its asset man-

agement fees through selling standardised products (type

portfolios) through NLB branch network, which resulted in a

52 percent increase in net revenues over 2003. 

Corporate bond issues and organisation

In 2004, NLB Bank arranged two significant corporate bond

issues in the primary capital market in Slovenia. The Bank

organised and executed a 20-year bond issue totalling 

13.43 billion tolars for the purpose of financing the construc-

tion of motorways. Bonds were used for the first time as an

alternative source of funds to the existing way of financing

traffic infrastructure by granting loans. The second corporate

bond issue performed by the Bank, totalling 36.5 million

euros, was used for financing current business and refinanc-

ing some existing loans of a major retail trade company. In

both transactions, NLB Bank acted as the underwriter of secu-

rities not sold to other investors, whereby the Bank assured

the success of the issue and took the risk of selling bonds in

the market. In the following step, the Bank accomplished all

procedures for listing bonds in the official market of the

Ljubljana Stock Exchange (LjSE).

NLB bond issue

For the purpose of improving the Bank’s balance sheet and

maturity structure, and given its continuous presence in the

primary bond market in Slovenia since 2000, the Bank issued

two new bond series in 2004 named NLB15 and NLB16,

totalling 20.8 billion tolars. Both bond issues were sold

through private placements. All Bank bonds are listed in the

official market of the LjSE, except for the last issue.

Foreign NLB bond issues

In 2004, in co-operation with the KBC, NLB issued

Eurobonds issued in tolars. This was a significant transaction

from the income side and from the viewpoint of recognition

in the euro bond market. The Bank also co-operated in organ-

ising a syndicate of four Eurobonds in tolars, in which the

issuers were HSH Nordbank (Germany), LB Sachsen Europe -

two issues (Ireland) and LB Baden Württemberg (Germany) as

a senior co-lead manager.

Financial markets
• Financing the construction of motorways in the Republic of Slovenia by a

bond issue totalling 13.4 billion tolars.
• Co-operation in eight acquisitions with a market capitalisation of 36 million

tolars. 
• Average customer value of assets under management is 86 percent higher.
• A senior co-lead manager in the Eurobond issue.
• A very complex swap transaction (Ratchet Callable Swap) was concluded.



Net inflows in various portfolios totalled 7.1 billion tolars in

2004, an excellent result since the services target customers

willing to invest more than 30 million tolars. Subsequently, the

cost efficiency of these services grew for both customers and

the Bank. 

Custody services

The growth of assets in custody is more than a solid indica-

tor that interest in these services is increasing from non-resi-

dents investing in the domestic market as for domestic invest-

ments made abroad. Planned net revenues for the area of

existing custody services were surpassed, despite the harsh

business environment, due to the increase in fees of foreign

custody services. Planned revenues deriving from fund admi-

nistration services were postponed as the revenues will be

realised in 2005. The fallback occurred mostly on account of

changes in the regulations which had a significant impact of

closing the project with the aim of implementing a new 

service.

In the second half of 2004 the Bank successfully started

offering fund administration services for the first investment

funds under custody, which enabled a practical check-up of

the technology and operational procedures set out within the

project. The outsourcing of fund administration services has

also shown a positive effect for management companies,

where actual cost reductions will take effect in 2005 due to

synergy.

Strategic orientation in the area of fund administration will

see an expansion of fund administration services for mutual

pension funds and covering of assurance funds for pension

companies, whereby the full spectrum of funds administration

services in the Slovenian capital market will be covered. In the

area of custody services, the main target remains regional cus-

tody, which would include other capital markets of South-east

Europe, besides the Croatian market, which is already 

covered. 
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Mergers and acquisitions

In 2004, the Bank considerably enhanced its market posi-

tion as an agent in the field of mergers and acquisitions in the

Slovenian market. The Bank participated in the execution of

eight transactions, in seven of them it was the sole arranger.

The latter transactions were among the largest transactions

executed entirely in 2004. The value of takeover offers

totalled 16.9 billion tolars, while the value of purchased shares

amounted to 7.1 billion tolars. The total value of the market

capitalisation of the companies being taken over on the day

the takeover offer came into force (the day of publication of

the takeover offer) was 36.3 billion tolars.

Syndicated loans 

The arranging of syndicated facilities represents an impor-

tant source of fee income for the Bank. In 2004, the Bank

arranged several significant syndicated loans for major

Slovenian companies, with banks from NLB Group and other

Slovenian banks being participants. The total amount of syn-

dicated loans arranged in 2004 was 150 billion tolars, an

increase of more than three times compared to 2003. In total,

there was 111 billion tolars of facilities for refinancing existing

loans, mostly in telecommunications and traffic infrastructure.

Almost 75 percent of the facilities by value were arranged in

tolars, while the remaining part of the syndicated loans was

granted in euros.

Currency trading

In retail trading, the Bank continued to expand its range of

products and intensively market instruments in the money and

currency markets to individual strategic customers. Due to its

more aggressive marketing, the Bank’s volume of operations

increased considerably.

In 2004, the surpluses in FX (BS) were temporarily sold to

the Bank of Slovenia for the purpose of acquiring tolar funds.

The volume of FX temporarily sold to the BS kept falling over

the next few months as the Bank used the possibility of sell-

ing FX permanently. Thus, 1,358 million euros was sold per-

manently in 2004. One part of the FX surplus was also sold in

the inter-bank market. In the second half of 2004, the Bank

also bought FX from the BS as a result of market develop-

ments related to Slovenia’s entry to the ERM2.

In 2004, the number of transactions involving the buying of

FX from companies almost doubled. The number of transac-

tions involving the selling of FX to companies rose by 46 per-

cent. 

Asset management
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Derivatives trading

2004 was a successful year in terms of trading with estab-

lished financial instruments. NLB  concluded 4,861 transac-

tions worth 5 billion euros. Considering the size of the

Slovenian market, the volume of concluded FX options and

option combinations was relatively large. Besides the forward

transactions, companies frequently decide on the protection

of FX risk by means of FX options. At the moment, these are

usually standard options while more complex ideas of protec-

tion and quite diversified combinations are also gaining in

popularity. The awareness of interest risk is also growing in

Slovenia. Due to changed interest rates, the demand for inter-

est rate swaps and other possible solutions of protecting com-

panies’ interest position is also increasing. Interest rate collars

are also becoming ever more popular.  

2004 was also a milestone in terms of introducing forward

contracts. After long negotiations, an agreement on the basic

rules was made so that trading could start. The first test trans-

actions were concluded in December. In the initial stage, the

Bank will only trade FX forward contracts, while it plans to

expand its operations to other financial instruments later.

Talks and alignments on the formation of a base contract for

NLB’s customers were also initiated.

Debt securities trading

The major part of the domestic securities portfolio consists

of government bonds. The government issued numerous new

bonds, with its key strategy in this market being the acquisi-

tion of government bonds in the primary market and their

gradual sales in the secondary market. It also intensively trad-

ed in treasury bills.

The portfolio of foreign currency securities is composed of

first-class bonds issued by governments, state institutions,

banks and financial organisations (S&P’s: investment grade

BBB- or above), and to a smaller extent also of bonds without

the so-called investment rating that were bought on the basis

of the Management Board’s approval.  

Securities not intended for trading include central bank bills.

In 2004, investments in tolar central bank bills dropped and

the maturity structure also changed. 270-day central bank

bills that fell due were partly converted to 60-day bills, which

now account for two-thirds of total investments in central

bank bills. Investments in FX central bank bills were reduced in

2004 mainly due to their maturity. Moreover, the BS reduced

the level of obligatory subscription to central bank bills in FX

from 40 to 35 percent. 

Interbank market

The volume of deposits raised in the interbank market grew

by 7.3 billion tolars in 2004, while the volume of deposits

placed dropped due to increased FX lending. Total turnover in

currency trading with foreign and domestic banks rose,

together with a higher number of deals. 

Liquidity management

NLB regularly met all its monetary obligations and set aside

sufficient reserves in both domestic currency and FX in com-

pliance with the Bank of Slovenia's regulations. 

Given the general situation in the Slovenian market, the

Bank was acquiring substantial tolar funds stemming from

temporary sales of foreign exchange (swaps) to the BS. In

addition to this source, NLB obtained funds in the interbank

market, through the Ministry of Finance and by means of the

BS' instruments stemming from temporary sales of the BS’ FX-

denominated bills (repo). The majority of funds acquired had

a long-term maturity. Surpluses in tolar funds were placed

with banks at higher interest rates in the interbank market, as

well as invested in central bank bills and treasury bills. In co-

operation with the BS, Slovenian banks drafted a framework

contract for REPO transactions that will be concluded in the

domestic market. Activities were going on throughout the

year aimed at aligning the draft contracts for concluding REPO

transactions in foreign markets - the GMRA/ISMA contract - as

well as activities for acquiring new contracts from foreign

banks with which NLB has already performed some other

treasury operations. 

Also in 2004, NLB’s treasury took care of co-ordinated 

liquidity management in NLB Group’s Slovenian banks within

the scope of the terms and conditions stipulated by the

Agreement on co-operation in treasury operations. Another

important achievement of NLB Group in 2004 was the imple-

mentation of a business line approach in the network of for-

eign banks within the Group and the related development of

common products as well as expansion of the range of finan-

cial instruments in the treasury area. NLB offered specialist

professional training, assistance and co-operation in the

establishment of the treasury functions with the aim of estab-

lishing closer and better business relationships with the new

banks within the Group.  

Compliance with the Bank of Slovenia’s regulations

In 2004, NLB complied with the regulation on statutory

reserves. The percentage of meeting the statutory reserves

ranged between 100.3 and 102.4 percent. 
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Gradual adaptation of the statutory reserves to the ECB

standards brought some further substantial changes, applica-

ble as of February 2004:

• the period of meeting the prescribed level of reserves was

shifted one month forward, 

• the interest on the balance on an entity’s account is accrued

up to the level of the statutory reserves in the last complet-

ed accounting period, 

• the interest rate did not change (1 percent). 

In the period January - December 2004 NLB’s liquidity ratios

reached on average 1.087 in the class 0 - 30 days and 1.0727

in the class 0 - 180 days.

NLB complied with the measure of attaining FX liquid invest-

ments. Banks must ensure on a daily basis that their FX liquid

investments in the second class of the FX section equal at least

70 percent of the monthly average of their balance sheet lia-

bilities for the preceding calendar month (since June 15,

2004). Of this, at least 35 percent of the said balance sheet

liabilities must be kept in the BS’ bills denominated in FX.

International payments

From the point of view of creating non-interest revenues

and strengthening the competitiveness of NLB as well, the

area of international payments remains one of NLB’s key activ-

ities. Compared to 2003, the total volume of international

payments in 2004 increased by 21.3 percent, and amounted

to 12.2 billion euros, with inflows of 6.9 billion euros and out-

flows of 5.3 billion euros. 61 percent of international pay-

ments were executed using the electronic banking services

Proklik NLB or Proklik Plus NLB.

NLB also provides International Cash Management services

which enable its customers to manage funds from their asso-

ciated companies abroad or within Slovenia.

Supporting Slovenian exporters

NLB offers a wide range of trade-related services including

supporting trade with letters of credit and letters of guarantee

as well as providing insurance through confirmations of letters

of credit and letters of guarantee.

International banking 
• Correspondent relationship network of 1,300 banks in 137 countries.
• 87 nostro accounts in a foreign currency and 290 loro accounts in tolars

or in a foreign currency.
• Highest amount of a syndicated loan, 400 million euro.
• Total volume of export financing reached more than 65 million euros.
• First issue of hybrid lending instruments.

Compared to 2003, newly issued foreign guarantees rose

by 17 percent, which is not reflected in the total volume of

newly issued guarantees since the figure of the total volume

of the year before includes a patronage statement in the

amount of 107 million euros. The significant increase in for-

eign guarantees is related to the financing of projects, elec-

tricity and the acquisition of shares in foreign companies.

The total number of import letters of credit dropped by 10

percent but, on the other side, the number of import collec-

tions increased by the same percentage which shows greater

confidence in the relationship between commercial partners.

The same situation is seen on the export side, where export

collections are decreasing by nearly the same percentage as

export letters of credit. Nevertheless, the value of export let-

ters of credit is the same, which is the result of including let-

ters of credit in export financing schemes.

Trade-related business is covered by confirmations of letters

of credit and letters of guarantee and also financed through

various forms of forfeiting, post financing of letters of credit, 
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arranging buyers’ credits, bank-to-bank loans and loans to

financial organisations, whereby products and services are

always tailored to customers’ needs. The major share in export

financing and insurance facilities provided is to support

Slovenian exports to emerging markets.

Special focus is on Slovenia's main trading partners in

emerging markets such as Russia, Ukraine, Belarus,

Kazakhstan, CEFTA countries, Croatia, Macedonia, Serbia and

Montenegro as well as countries in the Middle East and

Turkey, which are important targets for Slovenian exports.

Export-credit financing and insurance facilities were provided

in co-operation with the Slovenian Export Credit Insurance

Agency (‘SID’).

Transactions in 2004 included financing Russian buyers of

Slovenian equipment and services in a total amount of 31 mil-

lion euros, Ukrainian buyers of Slovenian equipment in a total

amount of 15 million euros, a Belarusian buyer of Slovenian

equipment in a total amount of 11 million euros and

Kazakhstan buyers of Slovenian equipment and pharmaceuti-

cals services in a total amount of 3.5 million euros.

NLB’s export financing structure by countries in 2004
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Russia 26 %

Bosnia and Herzegovina 16 %

Serbia and Montenegro 13 %

Ukraine 10 %

Czech Republic 9 %

Croatia 8 %

Macedonia 7 %

Kazakhstan 5 %

Other countries 6 %

Export financing structure by countries in 2004
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Russia 53 %

Ukraine 25 %

Croatia 11 %

Kazakhstan 6 %

Serbia and Montenegro 2 %

Other countries 3 %

Supporting NLB Group members 

Besides trade and export finance a very important part

involves providing medium and long-term funds to foreign

members of NLB Group and their strategic customers, where

we benefit from the regional expertise of our local operations.

In this regard, NLB strongly supports its subsidiary banks and

financial institutions in Central and Eastern Europe such as the

subsidiaries in Bosnia and Herzegovina, Macedonia, Serbia

and Montenegro, Bulgaria, Czech Republic and Slovakia.

Funds are used by subsidiaries for financing international

trade and investment projects.

As a supplement to trade and export finance NLB occasion-

ally participates in syndicated loans raised by foreign banks.

Participation is only considered where it might support future

trade and export finance transactions.

In 2004 the aggregate volume of financial transactions

reached 173 million euros, while the total volume of confir-

mations of letters of credit and letters of guarantee reached

91 million euros.

The credit portfolio grew from 127 million euros at the end

of 2003 to 211 million euros at the end of 2004. Off-balance

sheet items increased from 56 million euros at the end of

2003 to 100 million euros at the end of 2004.

Advisory services to NLB Group members

Advisory services were one of the key activities in 2004. NLB

acted as a financial advisor to its subsidiary Tutunska banka

a.d., Skopje, in raising a syndicated loan in the amount of 20

million euros. This was arranged by the EBRD and was the very

first syndicated loan raised in international financial markets

by any Macedonian institution.

LB Leasing d.o.o., a subsidiary of NLB, also raised a syndi-

cated loan for the first time in international financial markets.

Mizuho Corporate Bank Nederland NV arranged the transac-

tion in the amount of 40 million euros, while NLB acted as a

financial advisor.

External borrowing

External borrowing remains one of the most important seg-

ments among international activities. In 2004 NLB was able to

negotiate lower margins than in previous years due to

Slovenia’s accession to the EU.

The increased external borrowing of NLB in international

markets was a result of the introduction of the new Law on

corporate income tax and arrangements for adopting the euro

that were started by Slovenian companies. Due to the changes

Slovenia
becoming a
full member

of the
European

Union and
entering the

ERM2 and
aiming to
adopt the

euro at the
beginning of

2007 influ-
enced NLB’s
international

activities.
Based on its

long-standing
experience in
international

activities, NLB
as the largest

bank in
Slovenia has
been highly

regarded
among inter-

national
banks for

many years. It
reputation

and position
in interna-

tional 
markets has

been 
additionally

strengthened
by its 

presence in
major 

financial
centres
around

the world. 
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Structure of FX financing on international financial
markets in 2004

Sindicated loan 61 %

Hybrid bonds 15 %

EIB sources 11 %

Subordinated bonds 8 %

Bylateral agreements 3 %

EBRD/GEF programme 2 %
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successful completion of the project, a large number of

Slovenia companies decided for this programme.

56 bilateral loan agreements were concluded with foreign

banks, totalling 22 million euros to satisfy the requirements of

Slovenian companies, 93 percent of these agreements were

concluded with Austrian banks.

Consequently, total external borrowing in 2004 increased

by 30 percent compared to 2003 and amounted to 1,076 mil-

lion euros at the end of 2004.

in the Slovenian economy, 2004 holds the record in terms of

NLB’s long-term external borrowing.

The most significant events included a syndicated loan in

the amount of 400 million euros, which was the largest trans-

action ever, followed by a hybrid capital instrument issued in

the amount of 100 million euros, as a first transaction of any

Slovenian financial institution in international financial mar-

kets. A subordinated bond in the amount of 50 million euros

was also issued.

NLB successfully concluded negotiations with the EIB to

grant a Global Loan Facility in the amount of 100 million

euros. NLB and the EIB signed the first of two contracts in the

amount of 75 million euros which are intended for financing

small and medium-sized companies and projects involving the

environment, infrastructure, the knowledge-based economy,

the efficient use of energy, health and education.

Attention was also paid to an environmental preservation

project. NLB concluded an agreement with the EBRD in the

amount of 10 million euros for financing a project based on

the EBRD/GEF’s programme. The programme aims to reduce

pollution of the Danube basin and is sponsored by the GEF. 

Due to the attractive scheme and a completion fee following
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Our work and our ideas 
give us courage and enthusiasm.
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Factoring & Asset Other 
Banks Leasing forfeiting Insurance management activities

LB Leasing, 
Ljubljana; Prospera Plus, 

Koroπka banka, Optima Leasing, Ljubljana, 
Slovenj Gradec; Ljubljana; NLB Vita, NLB Propria, 
Banka Zasavje, LB Leasing, Prvi faktor, Ljubljana; NLB Skladi, Ljubljana; 

Slovenia Trbovlje; Koper; Ljubljana; Skupna Ljubljana; Golf Arboretum, 
Banka Domæale, LB Leasing, LHB Finance, pokojninska LB Maksima, Radomlje; 
Domæale; Maribor; Ljubljana druæba, Ljubljana Bankart, 
Banka Celje, FIT Leasing, Ljubljana Ljubljana; 
Celje Velenje; FIN-DO, Ljubljana; 

Feniks, ICJ Domæale 
Murska Sobota

West East Bank, 
Bulgaria Sofia 

VB Interinvest, 
Banja Luka; 

Bosnia LHB Banka, Krajina promet,
and Banja Luka; CBS Leasing, Banja Luka; 
Herzegovina CBS Bank, Sarajevo Plan, Banja Luka; 

Sarajevo CBS Invest,
Sarajevo

Optima Leasing, Prvi faktor, LHB Trade, 
Croatia Zagreb* Zagreb Zagreb 

Tutunska Novi penziski Tutunska-
Macedonia banka, LBIS, fond, broker, 

Skopje Skopje Skopje* Skopje 

Montenegrobanka, LHB Consult, 
Podgorica; LB Leasing, LB InterFinanz, Belgrade; 

Serbia and LHB Banka Beograd, Belgrade Belgrade; TEXIBA; 
Montenegro Belgrade; LB Leasing, Prvi Faktor, Belgrade; 

Euromarket banka, Podgorica* Belgrade* BTB 
Podgorica* Belgrade

Austria Adria Bank, Vienna

LB InterFinanz,
Czech Prague; 
Republic NLB Factoring, 

Ostrava 

NLB LB InterFinanz, 
Italy Branch Trieste Gorizia 

LHB Internationale 
Germany Handelsbank, LHB Immobilien, 

Frankfurt Frankfurt 

NLB Factor, 
Slovakia Bratislava 

LB InterFinanz, 
Switzerland Zurich 

NLB Group
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* Acquired or established and registred in 2005.
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Inflation kept declining gradually throughout 2004 and

reached 3.6 percent on an annual basis, which is 2.0 percent

less than in December 2003. Over the same period consumer

prices rose 3.2 percent, which is 1.4 percent less than in 2003. 

The reduction of inflation is a result of continuing activities

relating to preparation for entry to the ERM2. The disin-

flationary process is expected to continue gradually so that 

The ERM2 is a framework for the exchange rate regimes of

EU member states that have not yet adopted the euro but

wish to do so in the future. Two years of participation in the

ERM2 before the final report on convergence is a prerequisite

for adopting the euro which the Bank of Slovenia plans to

achieve in 2007. Because a country's autonomy over its mon-

etary policy is reduced by entering into the ERM2, this simul-

taneously represents a test for the adaptability of fiscal policy

that, together with income policy, has to provide for macro-

economic and price stability. The formation of interest rates

for tolar-based instruments will be entirely subordinated to

providing stability of the exchange rate in the ERM2. The

exchange rate is then allowed to fluctuate within a central

exchange rate (239.640 tolars for 1 euro) band of ±15 %

around this central value. That central exchange rate is not

necessarily the value at which a currency is fixed against the

euro since participation in the ERM2 is simultaneously a 

process of evaluating the adequacy of the central exchange

rate in terms of market forces. 

Regarding taxation issues, Slovenia has completed all tax

reforms and harmonised all legal issues with those of the EU.

These should contribute towards greater fiscal stability while

at the same time providing greater flexibility in implementing

Slovenia’s economic objectives. The reform of direct taxation

which came into effect on January 1, 2005 includes alter-

ations to the Law on personal income tax and the Law on cor-

porate income tax. By reforming the system of corporate tax-

ation a more elaborate system of calculating each company’s

tax bill is being adapted to an individual entity’s economic

power whilst preventing the flight of the tax base abroad. The

basic corporate tax rate remained unchanged at 25 percent

while the tax on banks’ banking assets was abandoned. 

Slovenia’s current inflation will meet the Maastricht criteria by

mid-2005 and achieve full convergence by mid-2006. The

growth of the main monetary aggregates has been modest.

The more narrowly defined M1 aggregate grew more than

usual, while the more widely defined M2 and M3 aggregates

continued to expand very slowly. 

NLB Group 
in Slovenia

2004 was an
important
milestone in
the country’s
history. Two
of Slovenia’s
national pro-
jects were
completed,
namely the
entry in April
to NATO and
the subse-
quent entry
to the EU in
May. In addi-
tion, Slovenia
was admitted
to the
exchange rate
mechanism
ERM 2.
Despite a
change of
government
following the
general elec-
tions in
November,
no major
shifts in for-
eign policy
are anticipat-
ed. However
policy differ-
ences relating
to the manu-
facturing and
financial sec-
tors could
arise, in par-
ticular in the
case of the
latter there is
a strong pos-
sibility of con-
solidation, as
well as the
privatisation
of nationally 

The Slovenian macroeconomic environment 

IN % EU Convergence criteria Slovenia

Inflation 2.9 4.0

Long-term interest rate 6.7 4.1

Public deficit, % of GDP 3.0 1.9

Public debt, % of GDP 60 29.4

Table 10: Complience with EU convergence criteria, 31. 12. 2004



To ensure Slovenia’s successful integration with the EU fur-

ther structural reforms that will increase manufacturing’s

competitiveness and the ability to adapt are crucial. Prior to its

accession, Slovenia had signed bilateral free-trade agreements

with 33 countries which it then had to give up upon entry. By

becoming a member, Slovenia adopted the EU’s common

trade policy, including all agreements with third countries the

EU has signed in the past. In accordance with this, the export

of goods to EU-25 countries increased, most notably to Italy

and France. During 2004 exports of goods increased by 12.6

percent and exports of services by 8.1 percent, both in real

terms. During the same period, imports of goods for mass

consumption were on the increase, which is a direct conse-

quence of increased personal consumption accompanied by

the expansion in manufacturing. Overall, imports of goods

increased by 12.4 percent in real terms, while imports of serv-

ices grew by 5.7 percent.

In 2004 Slovenia’s current account recorded a deficit of 238

million euros. This makes Slovenia a net importer. The wors-

ening of the terms of trade is a result of the increasing oil

prices and other raw materials, however none of this had a

major impact on real GDP growth. Its current estimate for

2004 is 4.6 percent, which is 2.3 percentage points above the

EU-25 average. 

In 2004 Slovenia continued to implement the programme of

measures to accelerate entrepreneurship and competitiveness

between 2002 and 2006, part of which has involved the pass-

ing of two new laws relating to stimulating entrepreneurship

and small- and medium-sized enterprises.

In the 2004 period the highest growth were achieved by

export-oriented industries. The leaders were the manufactur-

ers of electrical and optical equipment, followed by the chem-

ical industry. Over the first three quarters of the year overall

manufacturing growth reached 4.5 percent on a yearly basis.

The increase in the value of cumulative banking assets of

Slovenia’s banking sector again amounted to 11 percent by

the end of December 2004. Nearly 90 percent of this increase

was passed on as loans to the non-banking sector. The mar-

ket share in banking assets of the 5 largest banks declined by

2.2 percentage points to 65.2 percent, which still indicates a

high level of concentration within this sector. Because

deposits by non-banks are increasing very slowly Slovenian

banks had to seek sources of financing from abroad. The

increase in deposits was two-thirds the result of deposits in

foreign exchange. Also this year saw a further reduction in

interest margins. By the end of December banks generated a

comparable amount of net interest income as in the same
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period of the preceding year and increased non-interest

income by a quarter, while interest expenses decreased by

22.8 percent. The average ROE was 15 % and the average

ROA was 1.2 %. 

NLB Group in Slovenia includes the following banks: Banka

Domæale d.d., Domæale,  Banka Zasavje d.d., Trbovlje, Koroπka

banka d. d., Slovenj Gradec and Banka Celje d. d., Celje.

Subsidiary banks in Slovenia have a licence to offer all bank-

ing services to corporate and retail customers. Despite grow-

ing competition in the Slovenian banking sector and the fall in

interest margins, the 2004 financial performance of the banks

was successful. 

To expand services offer, NLB Group subsidiary banks either

already received or are in the process of requiring the permis-

sion from the Bank of Slovenia to sell life insurance policies for

insurance company NLB Vita in the beginning of the year

2005. Banks also acquired the permission to market mutual

funds and sell investment coupons on the basis of contract,

signed with NLB Skladi d. o. o.

Banka Domæale d. d., Domæale

• 203 employees

• market share of total assets: 1.5 %

Important events in 2004:

Despite the tougher competition the bank managed to sus-

tain its market share in the wider regional space and improve

the profitability of its operations. It expanded its business net-

work with a new office and expanded the ATM network. The

bank achieved increased its internal efficiency and thereby

lowered costs.

Banka Zasavje d. d., Trbovlje 

• 186 employees

• market share of total assets: 0.9 %

Important events in 2004:

The bank increased its investments in non-banking sector as

a result of intensive marketing and increased profitability.

Koroπka banka d. d., Slovenj Gradec 

• 211 employees

• market share of total assets: 1.3 %

Important events in 2004:

Besides the increased volume of its operations the bank

focused on maintaining high asset quality. This is reflected in

Banks in NLB Group

owned banks
and insurance

companies.
Interest rates
and inflation

are 
anticipated 
to decline
further as

Slovenia
endeavours

to move 
closer to EMU

countries.
Next year’s

GDP is
expected to

grow at
around 4 

percent in
real terms.
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the quality of its credit portfolio, which improved by 2 percent

in comparison to the previous year. 

Banka Celje d. d., Celje

Banka Celje is the fifth largest universal bank in Slovenia

with a very long tradition. 

• 654 employees

• market share of total assets: 6.6 %

Important events in 2004:

The bank celebrated its 140th anniversary of operations in

September. Important events in 2004 included a syndicated

loan in the amount of 85 million euros and the successful sale

of subordinated bonds in the amount of 12.5 million euros.

The bank began offering new services in the marketing of

mutual funds and insurance banking products.

LB Leasing d. o. o., Ljubljana

The company was established in 1990. LB Leasing operates

as a universal provider of leasing services for cars, all kinds of

equipment and real estate. LB Leasing is at the same time a

parent company of the LB Leasing Group since it has (as at

December 31, 2004) a 100-percent share in the capital of the

companies LB Leasing Koper; Optima Leasing, Ljubljana;

Feniks, Murska Sobota; LB Leasing Beograd and CBS

Leasing, Sarajevo.

• 71 employees (LB Leasing Group)

• market share of the Slovenian leasing market of the LB

Leasing Group: 8.5 % (market share for the company in

Serbia 5.8 %) 

Important events in 2004:

In 2004 the company sold LB Leasing Maribor as well as LB

Leasing Koper (with the transfer of ownership on January 1,

2005) and established a leasing company in Sarajevo (CBS

Leasing d. o. o., Sarajevo). Within NLB Group LBIS Skopje also

successfully operates. 

LB Leasing Maribor d. o. o., Maribor

LB Leasing started its operations in 1997. LB Leasing

Maribor operates as a universal provider of leasing services. 

• 9 employees

• market share of the Slovenian leasing market: 1.6 %

Important events in 2004:

In line with suggested organisational changes to the LB

Leasing Group, the company has been directly owned by NLB,

Koroπka banka, Banka Domæale and Banka Zasavje since the

middle of 2004.

FIT Leasing d. o. o., Velenje

The company started operating in 1992 and deals with leases.

• 7 employees

• market share of the Slovenian leasing market: 0.2 %

Important events in 2004:

In 2004 it started to carry out the decisions and guidelines

of the owner in the direction of self-sanation. With the inten-

tion of covering past losses from profits from new operations,

over 3 million euros of new investments were resolved. The

offer was enriched with operating leases on vehicles and the

financing of real estate. Among business goals achieved in

2004 the company can emphasise the selling off of all vehicles

that caused companies problems in their past operations.

Prvi faktor d. o. o., Ljubljana 

The company was established in 1994. In 2002, the compa-

ny became a joint-venture between Slovenian Export

Company (SlD) and NLB Group. Prvi faktor is a specialised fac-

toring company that offers a whole range of factoring servic-

es in domestic and foreign markets. The company is 50-per-

cent owned by the SlD, Ljubljana and 50 percent by NLB.

• 22 employees

Important events in 2004:

In March 2004 a subsidiary company was established in

Zagreb, Prvi faktor d. o. o., Zagreb, with 6 employees at the

end of the year.

NLB Vita d. d., Ljubljana 

NLB Vita, life insurance company, d.d., Ljubljana was estab-

lished in December 2002 and began operating in the middle

of 2003. 

• 12 employees

• market share of the life insurance market: 6 %

Important events in 2004:

In 2004 a further 60 commercialists, as life insurance

agents, joined the group of 120 agents in NLB network. They

expanded the life insurance product range with life insurance

for companies. 

Skupna pokojninska druæba d. d., Ljubljana

The company is registered in the area of pension funds

management and operates by collecting premiums of volun-

tary pension insurance and asset management. With more

than 55,100 insured parties and 17.8 billion tolars of man-

NLB Group’s leasing companies 

Factoring services in NLB Group 

NLB Group’s insurance services 
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aged assets the company is the leader on the pension funds

market. 

• 13 employees

• market share of the pension funds market: 23 %

Important events in 2004:

2004 was successful for Skupna since it acquired 45 percent

of new insured parties.

LB Maksima d. o. o., Ljubljana 

LB Maksima, asset management company, was established

at the beginning of 1994 with the intention of collecting cer-

tificates arising from the national privatisation scheme. 

• 6 employees

Important events in 2004:

The company managed three investment funds in 2004.

The management of PID Maksima was transferred to the

National financial company. In the first half of 2004 the man-

agement of the special ID Maksima delniπka ID, d. d. and the

mutual fund LBM Piramida was transferred to NLB Skladi,

Ljubljana. The transfer of the special ID company Maksima,

delniπka ID, d. d. was concluded on January 8, 2005 and for

LBM Piramida on April 2, 2005. 

NLB Skladi d.o.o., Ljubljana

The company started its operations on January 1, 2004. It

was established with the intention of offering the manage-

ment of mutual funds and other forms of property. It began

marketing mutual funds on May 1, 2004. It offers a range of

4 mutual funds. As of January 8, 2005 it is also managing the

investment company Maksima, delniπka ID, d. d. and from

April 2, 2005 the mutual fund LBM Piramida, transferred from

LB Maksima d. o. o. The company offers and markets its funds

through NLB Bank network, since January 3, 2005 it also mar-

kets its funds through the banking network of Koroπka banka,

Banka Domæale and Banka Zasavje.

• 12 employees

• market share according to the pure asset value of funds: 

7.6 % (3rd place among Slovenian providers of mutual

funds); a market share according to the net inflow of funds:

29 % (2nd place among Slovenian providers of mutual

funds)

Important events in 2004:

In May 2004 NLB Skladi successfully implemented four

mutual funds of NLB Skladi - two stock funds, a bond fund

and a combined one. A sufficient number of funds, clear

investment policies, developed network of inrole places and

its qualified specialists ensured that in less than eight months

NLB Skladi reached an 7.6 percent market share. This puts NLB

Skladi in third place among mutual funds in the Slovenian

market.

NLB Group’s asset management  
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2004 will be remembered as a very special year in the his-

tory of the European Union. On May 1 the fifteen previous

members were joined by ten new countries, which represent-

ed the biggest enlargement in its history. However, 2004 was

also marked by sluggish growth in the EU, in particular in the

countries of the euro area. Real GDP grew by a modest 1.6

percent (2.3 percent in the EU-25) and average inflation was

2.3 percent. Average unemployment in the EU-15 was 8.8

percent. Certain countries of the euro area were again com-

bating large budget deficits in 2004 (e.g. Germany, France,

Italy and Greece), which were above the prescribed Maastricht

criteria and which led to serious polemics with the ECB and

other member countries. In the first quarter of 2005, growth

remained weak but it is projected to pick up a little bit

towards the end of the year. The strengthening of the US dol-

lar should also yield positive effects for GDP and export

growth. 

GDP growth in the Czech Republic was 4.3 percent in

2004, which is slightly below the figure for Slovenia.

Unemployment was at a high 8.2 percent and even increased

during the first quarter of 2005. The Czech political sphere

was recently rocked by a no-confidence vote in the govern-

ment, however the voted was not passed by a narrow margin.

The Czech economy is very export-oriented with a trade

deficit of just 0.8 percent of GDP, which is the lowest of all

accession countries. The 2004 budget deficit was 3.0 percent

of GDP and the total external debt was 37.4 percent of GDP

with a trend of a further reduction. 

During the past two years Slovakia has accomplished a

number of fundamental and quite bold reforms. These include

tax, health and pension, and labour market reforms. Real GDP

growth was 5.8 percent, which is one of the highest values in

the EU. The 2004 inflation figure was 7.5 percent. Given that

last year's rise in industrial output was 4.2 percent, this indi-

cates that the structural reforms are already yielding results in

restructuring the economy. Unemployment at 18.1 percent

remains a problem in Slovakia. The external trade deficit was

3.5 percent of GDP, the budget deficit was 3.3 percent of

GDP while external debt was 43.6 percent of GDP.

Serbia’s inflation rate stood at nearly 12 percent at the end

of 2004. It is estimated that the 2005 inflation figure will drop

to a level between 9 and 10 percent. The tax on expenditure

was replaced by value-added tax in January 2005, which

should help improve the national finances. In 2004 the budg-

et deficit nearly halved to 2.3 percent in comparison to the

year before. The import-export coverage was only at about

one-third, which is quite low, and even decreased when com-

pared to 2003. The privatisation of state-owned enterprises is

expected to continue and thereby help on the income side of

the annual budget. The country’s medium-term prospects

depend largely on the outcome of the parliamentary elections

in late 2005. 

Due to the fixing of the BAM against the euro, inflation

almost does not exist in Bosnia and Herzegovina. Industrial

output as well as GDP is expanding at a very fast rate. In par-

ticular, the sectors of production relating to investment and

durable goods for mass consumption experienced the biggest

increases. The import-export coverage is improving and

reached over 30 percent in 2004. Bosnia’s biggest exports are

metal products.   

Bulgaria’s GDP grew by 5.3 percent in 2004. The budget for

the same year is also expected to close with a surplus. Given

that general elections are scheduled for 2005 the government

has announced an increase in public expenditure to raise its

popularity. The minimum wage should increase considerably

and the government has also promised to increase spending

on public education. This boosted expenditure is, however, not

necessarily of any benefit in the medium-run because the high

trade deficit is being financed by selling government enterpris-

es and property off to foreigners. Thus, Bulgaria may soon find

that its budget surplus turns into a deficit. 

Croatia’s industrial output growth remained healthy

despite the decline seen towards the end of 2004. The pro-

cessing industry was the fastest expanding industry sector and

simultaneously Croatia’s biggest export generator. The

exports-imports ratio was nearly 50 percent and the budget

deficit was 5.8 percent. The latter is expected to fall by a fur-

ther 1.5 percent in 2005. GDP grew by 3.7 percent in real

terms, which is half a percent less than the increase in average

wages. 

Macedonia witnessed deflation during 2004, which had an

adverse effect on the entire economy, while industrial pro-

duction declined 15 percent. Most heavily affected were pro-

duction relating to investment and durable goods for mass

consumption. The effect of this was a fall in purchasing

power. Macedonia ran very restrictive monetary and fiscal

policies during 2004, leading to an increase in GDP of a mere

1.5 percent. The budget deficit was 2.1 percent and is expect-

ed to remain about the same next year. The current political

situation is marked by uncertainty. However, the slow move-

ment towards the EU could have a positive effect on the

urgently needed structural reforms. 

NLB Group in EU 
countries and in SE European markets

Most markets
in which NLB
Group is
active
showed a
positive trend
in 2004.
Bulgaria,
Bosnia and
Herzegovina,
Croatia, and
Serbia and
Montenegro
all saw solid
economic
growth and
grew faster
than Slovenia.
Only
Macedonia
saw its indus-
trial output
decline. A
common
characteristic
of all these
countries is
their very
high levels of
unemploy-
ment. 

Macroeconomic environment of the
region



NLB Group operates in EU countries and SE Europe through

the following banks: LHB Internationale Handelsbank AG,

Frankfurt, Adria Bank AG, Vienna, CBS Bank d. d., Sarajevo, LHB

Banka a. d., Banja Luka, LHB Banka Beograd a. d., Beograd,

Montenegrobanka a. d., Podgorica, Tutunska banka a. d.,

Skopje and West East Bank a. d., Sofia. The mentioned banks in

SE Europe have contributed a lot to establishing NLB’s stable

position in the region. Among other things, these banks have

also played an important role in building up new connections

between business entities from Slovenia and SE Europe. 

Bosnia and Herzegovina

CBS Bank d. d., Sarajevo 

The bank has a licence for all banking operations. It was estab-

lished in 1993. It has operated as a NLB Group member since the

year 2000. The Bank is a member of the ‘Fund for insuring

deposits’ and was the first bank in Bosnia and Herzegovina to

introduce electronic banking. The retail network consists of 7

offices and 3 branches.

• 116 employees

• market share (according to asset value) in Bosnia and

Herzegovina: 2.4 %

Important events in 2004:

The CBS Bank was selected as The deposit bank of the district

in a successful tender in the Goraæde district. It started approv-

ing housing loans to the young in co-operation with the Ministry

of Housing Operations of the Sarajevo district and established

business co-operation with important customers such as

Novinarska hiπa AVAZ, Energoinvest and Æeleznice BiH. 

LHB Banka a. d., Banja Luka

The bank has a licence for all banking operations. It was estab-

lished in 1998.

• 82 employees

• market share in Republika Srbska: 8.5 %

Important events in 2004:

The targets set for 2004 were fully realised. The bank opened

two new offices. The retail network therefore now consists of 4

offices and a single branch. In 2004 the bank gained a licence to

issue MasterCard cards and introduced new software called

ABACUS.  

Serbia and Montenegro

LHB Banka Beograd a. d., Beograd 

LHB Banka Beograd is universal bank conducting all banking

operations for retail and corporate customers. 
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• 393 employees

• market share according to the value of assets: 1.18 % among

banks in Serbia

Important events in 2004:

In 2004 the bank followed its vision of being a successful

bank, mainly in the area of lending to small- and medium-sized

companies, while at the same time developing new services and

products for its retail customers. In considering its customers’

needs it expanded its retail network, developed card operations

and POS terminal operations and ATMs. In line with the renew-

al of the entire information system, the bank continued to imple-

ment new information sub-systems.

Montenegrobanka a. d., Podgorica

The capital investment in Montenegrobanka came about in

2003 by co-operating in the privatisation of the former state-

owned Montenegrobank. The bank has a licence for all banking

operations.

• 256 employees

• market share according to the value of assets: 17.2 % among

banks in Montenegro  

Important events in 2004:

Montenegrobanka is still the first and only bank in the

Montenegro banking system that approves housing loans and

offers financial leasing services to its customers. In 2004 the

bank’s customers acquired the possibility of electronic banking,

enabling qualified and fast connections with the bank. In the

second half of the year the bank co-operated in creating the

conditions to implement the last phase of the payment system

reform in Montenegro.

Macedonia

Tutunska banka a. d., Skopje

Tutunska banka is the third largest bank in Macedonia. It was

established in 1985 as a bank of the Macedonian tobacco indus-

try, and has been operating as a universal bank since 1993. At

the end of 2004 the bank successfully entered the international

capital market by signing a contract on a 20 million euro syndi-

cated loan with the EBRD. Tutunska banka, together with NLB,

received the licence for the management of pension funds in the

Republic of Macedonia. Tutunska banka is a 100 percent owner

of a stockbroker agency Tutunskabroker a. d., Skopje.

• 298 employees

• market share according to the value of assets: 11.8 % 

Important events in 2004:

The bank received together with NLB permission to establish a

pension insurance company and a licence to manage pension

funds in Macedonia. The successful 2004 business year was con-

Banks in NLB Group
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cluded with entry to the international capital market. The bank

signed a contract with the EBRD on taking out a syndicated loan

in the amount of 20 million euros. 

Bulgaria

West East Bank a. d., Sofia

The bank operates as universal bank with the emphasis on

financing trade between Slovenia and Bulgaria and other

European countries (medium- and long-term financing for for-

eign investors entering the Bulgarian market). 

• 22 employees 

• market share according to the value of assets in Bulgaria: less

than 1 %

Important events in 2004:

2004 was the first year of operations for this bank. The bank

developed and implemented most of the usual offer for enter-

prises, while retail customers are not the bank’s strategic guide-

line. The bank had 402 customers at the end of 2004, 241 enter-

prises and 161 entrepreneurs. It implemented a modern infor-

mation system, as well as ensured a stable source of financing

drawing on banking sources (46.2 percent of all liabilities) and

non-banking sources (53.8 percent of all liabilities).

Germany

LHB Internationale Handelsbank AG, Frankfurt/Main 

LHB has been operating as a universal bank for more than a

quarter of century, specialising in SE Europe markets. LHB is

present in Slovenia through its subsidiary LHB Finance, Ljubljana.

LHB owns LHB Banka Beograd, CBS Bank, Sarajevo and LHB

Banka, Banja Luka. It established its presence in Macedonia

through a capital investment in Tutunska banka, Skopje, and it

has a representative office and the company LHB Trade, Zagreb

in Croatia.

• 90 employees

• market share (according to the value of assets): less than 

1 % among banks in Germany

Important events in 2004:

LHB received sources in the European capital market by gain-

ing a syndicated loan in the amount of 35 million euros. It intro-

duced the electronic banking offer LHB Net, as well as a range

of derivative instruments. It started to encourage economic co-

operation through its support of culture - art exhibitions by

artists from ex-Yugoslavia are regularly organised at the LHB’s

Gallery.

Austria

Adria Bank AG, Vienna

The bank has been operating with a full banking licence since

1980, and offers mainly export-import financing services.

• 25 employees

• market share according to the value of assets among banks in

Austria: less than 1 %

Important events in 2004:

The bank managed to compensate for the effects of the

reduced volume of loans through premature and regular repay-

ments. The volume of the loan portfolio slightly increased

despite the fierce competition in key regional markets (Slovenia,

Croatia) and the converging interest rates. In addition, activities

relating to risk management intensified in 2004. In 2004 the

Austrian government accepted the decision to lower the corpo-

rate tax rate (effective from January 1, 2005) from 34 to 25 per-

cent, thereby improving Adria Bank’s position, which is a net

payer.

Serbia and Montenegro

LB Leasing d. o. o., Beograd

The company was established in 2003 and is 100-percent

owned by LB Leasing d. o. o., Ljubljana. It operates successfully.

LB Leasing Beograd achieved a 5.8 percent market share in

Serbia by the end of 2004.

• Market share: 5.8%

Bosnia and Herzegovina

CBS Leasing d. o. o., Sarajevo

At the end of 2004 LB Leasing d. o. o., Ljubljana established a

leasing company in Sarajevo, namely, CBS Leasing d. o. o.

Sarajevo.

Macedonia

LBIS d. o. o. e. l., Skopje

Among NLB Group members, LBIS d. o. o. e. l., Skopje has

been successfully operating for several years. It is 100-percent

owned by LB InterFinanz AG, Zürich. It was established in June

2000 as the first leasing company in Macedonia. 

Czech Republic 

NLB Factoring a. s., Ostrava 

The company was established in 1994. It offers services of

domestic factoring with or without reimbursement, a whole

range of export and import factoring services through its mem-

bership in the largest international factor organisation Factor

Chain International and forfeiting services (FCI). 

• 22 employees

• market share according to the value of assets in Czech

Republic: 11.6 %

NLB Group’s leasing companies 

NLB Group’s factoring companies 
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Important events in 2004:

The project of implementing the central information system

EKIS was concluded with an extremely high increase in the vol-

ume of operations (80 percent). In 2004, NLB Factor, spol. s r.o.,

Bratislava was established. 

Slovakia

NLB Factor, spol. s r. o., Bratislava

In 2004, NLB Factor, spol. s r.o., Bratislava was established,

which is 100-percent owned by NLB Factoring.

Croatia

Prvi faktor, d. o. o., Zagreb

In Zagreb operates a subsidiary company Prvi faktor, d. o. o.,

Zagreb, established in 2004.

• 6 employees

Switzerland

LB InterFinanz AG, Zürich 

LB InterFinanz is a financial company that was established in

1989. It deals mainly in forfeiting and other forms of financing

international trade. LBI fully owns LB InterFinanz Praha, LB

InterFinanz Beograd and LBIS Skopje, and has the following

ownership shares: in LB InterFinanz Italia 51 percent and in

Tutunska banka a 23.1 percent share in the capital. 

• 25 employees (LBI Zürich: 10; LBI Praha: 7; LBI Italia: 1, LBI

Beograd: 0; LBIS Skopje: 7)

Important events in 2004:

LB InterFinanz celebrated 15 years of its operations in Zürich.

The company concluded the business year with a record operat-

ing profit in the amount of 9.6 million Swiss francs, with an

increase in total assets by 8 percent and exceeding 300 million

Swiss francs. The company successfully continued the geo-

graphical diversification of its portfolio that compromises invest-

ments in 18 countries.

Czech Republic 

LB InterFinanz Praha s. r. o., Praha

In 2004, LB Interfinanz, Praha was established, which is 100-

percent owned by LB InterFinanz, Zürich. 

Serbia and Montenegro 

LB InterFinanz d. o. o., Beograd 

In 2004, LB Interfinanz, Beograd was established, which is

100-percent owned by LB InterFinanz, Zürich. 

Italy

LB InterFinanz Italia Srl, Gorizia 

In 2004, LB Interfinanz, Gorizia was established, which is 

51-percent owned by LB InterFinanz, Zürich. 

NLB Group banks

Serbia and Montenegro 

Euromarket banka a.d., Podgorica

On April 15, 2005 NLB became the owner of 80.29-percent-

age capital share in Euromarket banka a.d., Podgorica.

According to size of total assets, in the amount of 40 million

euros, Euromarket banka ranks at fifth place among banks in

Montenegro, presenting a 8-percent market share. Through the

acquisition of Euromarket banka, NLB’s market share in the

Montenegro banking sector increased to over 20 percent.

NLB Group’s leasing companies 

Serbia and Montenegro 

LB Leasing Podgorica d. o. o., Podgorica

The company was established in January 2005 and is 100-per-

cent owned by LB Leasing d. o. o., Ljubljana.

Croatia

Optima Leasing d. o. o., Zagreb

The company was established in May 2005 and is 100-percent

owned by LB Leasing d.o.o., Ljubljana.

NLB Group’s factoring companies 

Serbia and Montenegro 

Prvi faktor d. o. o., Beograd

In February 2005 Prvi faktor d.o.o., Ljubljana established a

subsidiary company in Beograd, operating in the same area as

the founder.

NLB Group’s asset management  

Macedonia

Nov penziski fond a. d., Skopje

In the second half of the year 2004 Nova Ljubljanska banka

together with Tutunska banka applied at the international pub-

lic invitation for tenders for the founder of pension insurance

company in the Republic of Macedonia. On March 30, 2005 the

Agency for the supervision of capital financing pension insur-

ance gave permission to establish pension insurance company

and gave conditional permission to manage pension fund. The

company for managing pension funds Nov penziski fond a.d.,

Skopje was inscribed in the justice register on May 17, 2005 and

is 51-percent owned by NLB and 49-percent by Tutunska banka.

NLB Group’s forfeiting services 

Acquisitions in 2005
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Organisational
schemes

NLB Group as at December 31, 2004

Companies Financial institutions Banks

Slovenia Abroad Slovenia Abroad Slovenia Abroad

LHB Finance
Ljubljana

100 %    100 %

LHB Banka
Banja Luka

63.703 %    63.703 %

VB Interinvest
Banja Luka

40.74 %    40.74 %

Krajina promet
Banja Luka

30 %    30 %

Plan
Banja Luka

49 %    79 %

LHB Immobilien
GmbH

100 %    100 %

LHB Trade
Zagreb

100 %    100 %

LHB Consult
Beograd

100 %    100 %

CBS Bank
Sarajevo

60 %    100 %

CBS Invest
Sarajevo

40 %    100 %

TEXIBA, Belgrade
100 %    100 %

LHB Banka
Beograd

9.4 %    60.4 %

Tutunska banka
Skopje

41.992 %    77.197 %

BTB, Belgrade
66.67 %    66.67 %

Tutunskabroker
Skopje

100 %    100 %

Montrnegrobanka
Podgorica

5 %    91.517 %

Adria Bank
AG Wien

28.46 %    28.46 %

West East Bank
Sofija

0 %    24.5 %

Koroska
banka

61.70 %    61.70 %

NLB Internationale
Handelsbank Frankfutr
56.01 %    56.01 %

Banka
Zasavje

66.59 %    66.59 %

Banka
Domæale

59.80 %    59.80 %

FIN - DO
100 %    100 %

ICJ Domæale
50 %    50 %

Slovenska investicijska
banka - in liquidation
80.78 %    80.78 %

Banka Celje
37.48 %    37.48 %

LB InterFinanz
100 %    100 %

LB InterFinanz
Praha

100 %    100 %

LB InterFinanz
Gorizia

51 %    51 %

LBIS Skopje
100 %    100 %

LB InterFinanz
Beograd

100 %    100 %

NLB Factoring
Ostrava

100 %    100 %

NLB Factor
Bratislava

100 %    100 %

Prvi Faktor
50 %    50 %

Prvi faktor,
Zagreb

100 %    100 %

LB Leasing
55 %    100 %

LB Leasing
Koper

100 %    100 %

Optima Leasing
100 %    100 %

LB Leasing
Beograd

100 %    100 %

Feniks
100 %    100 %

CBS Leasing
Sarajevo

100 %    100 %

FIT Leasing
Velenje

100 %    100 %

LB Leasing
Maribor

55 %    100 %

LB Maksima
95.945 %    100 %

NLB Vita
50 %    50 %

Skupna pokojninska
druæba

27.18 %    27.18 %

NLB Skladi
100 %    100 %

NLB Propira
100 %    100 %

Golf Arboretum
50.6 %    50.6 %

Bankart
36.74 %    39.45 %

Prospera Plus
100 %    100 %

Subsidiary

Joint venture

Associate

Legend:

% in voting rights

1.42 %

0.65 %

0.64 %

5.66 %

2.39 %

16 %

8 %

21 %

24.5 %

4.055 %

86.517 %

40 %

35.205 %

51 %

60 %

30 %
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Value Centre 2Value Centre 1Management Centre Value Centre 3 Value Centre 4 & 
Support Centre

Information Technology

Company Secretary

Office of the 
Management Board

Human Resources

Management 
Board Committee

Credit Committee

ALCO

Internal Audit

Compliance Office

Legal Department

Financial Management

Controlling

Financial Accounting

Accounts Administration
and Payroll

Risk Management 
and Intensive Care &

Recovery

Risk Management

Intensive Care and 
Recovery

Middle Office Financial
Markets

Treasury Head of Marketing and
Distribution - Retail

Mergers & Acquisitions

Investment Banking

Custody Management

Capital Investments
Management and Control

Subsidiaries & Associated
Banks in Slovenia

Subsidiaries & Associated
Banks Abroad

Subsidiaries & Associated
Companies in Slovenia

Subsidiaries & Associated
Companies Abroad

Distribution - Retail

Marketing Management

Retail & Private Banking

Private Banking

Area Branch 
Ljubljana - Center

Area Branch 
©iπka - Beæigrad

Area Branch Moste

Area Branch 
ViË - Notranjska

Area Branch Gorenjska

Area Branch 
Savinjsko - ©aleπka

Area Branch Kamnik

Area Branch Podravje

Area Branch Dolenjska 
in Bela krajina

Area Branch KoËevje

Area Branch Posavje - Krπko

Area Branch Pomurje

Area Branch Nova Gorica

Area Branch Koper

Senior Officer, Investment
Evaluation and 
Foreign Branch

Investment Evalation

Branch Triest

Corporate Banking
Division - Central

Slovenia

Corporate Banking -
Central Slovenia 1

Corporate Banking -
Central Slovenia 2

State Organisations,
Financial Institutions and

Utilites

Corporate Banking
Division - Regions and

the NLB Group

Corporate Banking -
Dolenjska - Posavje Region

Corporate Banking -
Savinjsko - ©aleπka Region

Corporate Banking -
Pomurje Region

Corporate Banking -
Podravje Region

Corporate Banking -
Primorska Region

Payment Systems,
International and

Business Operations

Treasury and Investment
Banking Operations

Corporate Banking
Administration

Retail Banking
Administration

Financial Institutions 
and International

Trade Finance Processing

International Payments

Domestic Payments

Cash Services

Information Technology

Strategic Development and
Information System

Management

Information System
Development

Help Desk and New
Technologies

IT Processing and
Infrastructure

Organisation
Development

Procurement

MANAGEMENT BOARD

NLB as at December 31,  2004



Yesterday’s goals are facts today 
- they are basis for new goals.
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To the Members of Nova Ljubljanska banka d.d., Ljubljana 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Nova Ljubljanska banka d.d. Ljubljana and its subsidiaries (the

Group) as of 31 December 2004 and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year

then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the management. We also have reviewed the report of the man-

agement. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we plan and perform

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes

examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assess-

ing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial state-

ment presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as of 31 December

2004 and of the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Slovenian Accounting

Standards.

Ljubljana, 22 April 2005  PricewaterhouseCoopers d.o.o.

Joæe Plevnik, certified auditor Francois Mattelaer, partner

This audit report has been translated from the Slovenian original. This translation is provided for reference purposes only and is not

to be signed. 

Report of the auditors
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Consolidated income statement

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Note 2004 2003

Interest and similar income 4 113,403,572 128,298,819

Interest and similar expense 4 (54,770,752) (75,162,236)

Net interest and similar income 58,632,820 53,136,583

Income from capital and other investments 5 7,635,530 9,174,238

Fees and commissions income 6 36,154,549 30,903,414

Fees and commissions expense 6 (6,579,307) (4,872,775)

Net fees and commissions 29,575,242 26,030,639

Gains from financial transactions 7 62,539,949 82,919,449

Losses from financial transactions 7 (52,538,925) (80,171,855)

Net profit/(loss) from financial transactions 10,001,024 2,747,594

Other operating income 8 10,312,841 11,907,812

Employee costs 9 (36,051,841) (33,774,313)

Cost of material and services 10 (21,604,138) (22,339,882)

Depreciation and revaluation expense from property, equipment and intangible assets 11 (12,474,071) (10,502,377)

Other operating expenses 12 (7,869,264) (7,349,262)

Net provisions for losses on loans and write offs less any recoveries 13 (17,109,005) (10,057,643)

Net provision for general banking risks 35 (1,948,342) (2,444,503)

OPERATING PROFIT 19,100,796 16,528,886

Extraordinary income 14 136,409 130,698

Extraordinary expenses 14 (21,911) (60,814)

- extraordinary expenses (21,911) (60,814)

- extraordinary expenses due to capital revaluation - -

Extraordinary profit 114,498 69,884

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 19,215,294 16,598,770

Tax on profit 15 (8,401,615) (7,227,338)

Other taxes 15 (935,971) (864,805)

Minority interest 37 (1,211,321) (2,261,095)

NET PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 8,666,387 6,245,532
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The Management Board approved the financial statements and notes to the financial statements.

Ljubljana, 22 April 2005

Consolidated balance sheet

Pierre Van Keirsbilck

Member of the

Management Board

Andrej Hazabent

Member of the

Management Board

Marjan Kramar

President of the

Management Board

& CEO

Erik Luts

Member of the

Management

Board

Borut StaniË

Member of the

Management

Board

Matej Narat

Member of the

Management

Board

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Note 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Cash and balances with the Central Bank 16 75,372,472 70,456,052

Placements with, and loans to, other banks 17 172,952,577 130,486,015

Loans and advances to customers 18 1,247,967,984 1,035,545,234

Debt securities not held for trading 19 587,434,565 666,318,633

Securities held for trading 20 144,248,876 110,608,990

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures 21 11,231,983 9,110,960

Investments in other companies 22 2,505,056 4,377,153

Intangible assets 23 21,492,217 18,702,642

Property and equipment 24 59,785,427 62,110,890

Treasury shares 25 490,825 490,828

Other assets 26 28,210,295 32,494,063

Accrued income and deferred expenses 27 14,874,992 14,066,937

TOTAL ASSETS 2,366,567,269 2,154,768,397

Deposits and borrowings from banks 29 483,593,128 396,326,692

Deposits and borrowings from other customers 30 1,473,073,700 1,362,761,581

Debt securities 31 95,666,379 110,434,367

Other liabilities 32 28,499,312 22,405,365

Accruals and deferred income 33 12,774,804 21,533,357

Provisions for liabilities and charges 34 52,433,906 46,763,580

Provisions for general banking risk 35 9,602,720 7,619,204

Subordinated liabilities 36 72,989,710 53,600,495

Minority interest 37 20,759,773 22,754,402

Subscribed capital 38 15,364,030 15,364,030

Equity reserves 38 13,859,952 13,859,929

Profit reserves 38 66,484,855 64,080,081

Capital revaluation adjustment 38 11,981,605 11,982,098

- general capital revaluation adjustment 11,791,771 11,791,771

- specific capital revaluation adjustment 189,834 190,327

Consolidation capital adjustment 399 (1,166)

Retained earnings 38 2,284,543 2,497,429

Net profit for the period 38 7,198,453 2,786,953

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,366,567,269 2,154,768,397

Off balance sheet 39 820,309,543 1,770,333,116
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Consolidated cash flow statement

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Inflows from operating activities 170,174,041 168,995,470

Interest and similar income 111,304,106 120,761,240

Fees and commissions income 36,169,724 30,812,011

Recoveries from loans previously written off 554,184 303,766

Income from capital and other investments 6,513,300 8,391,534

Net profit from financial transactions 10,939,168 2,523,019

Other operating income 4,693,559 6,203,900

Outflows from operating activities (134,802,478) (142,882,904)

Interest and similar expenses (62,877,539) (69,607,391)

Fees and commissions expenses (6,539,811) (4,861,905)

Employee costs (36,093,430) (34,326,574)

Material and services costs (22,437,008) (23,947,469)

Other operating expenses (827,941) (2,105,294)

Taxation paid (6,026,749) (8,034,271)

Operating income before changes in operating assets and liabilities 35,371,563 26,112,566

(Increase)/decrease in operating assets (318,713,813) (103,822,515)

Net (increase)/decrease in loans to banks (86,083,209) 6,962,920

Net increase in loans and advances to customers (223,487,687) (108,278,005)

Net decrease in securities held for trading (2,367,036) 515,899

Net decrease/(increase) in other operating assets (6,775,881) (3,023,329)

Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities 82,664,110 17,252,082

Net increase in deposits from banks (28,900,443) 21,151,509

Net increase in deposits from other customers 109,467,183 (3,275,112)

Net (decrease)/increase in other operating liabilities 2,097,370 (624,315)

Net inflow or net outflow from operating activities (200,678,140) (60,457,867)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Inflows from investing activities 235,879,353 281,724,665

Sale of debt securities 234,280,657 277,314,059

Sale of investments in associated companies and other companies 1,316,324 1,513,807

Sale of property, equipment and intangible assets 282,372 2,896,799

Outflows from investing activities (106,578,179) (387,127,448)

Purchase of debt securities (91,777,063) (363,193,713)

Purchase of investments in associated companies and other companies (3,145,391) (10,253,083)

Purchase of property, equipment and intangible assets (11,655,725) (13,680,652)

Net inflow or net outflow from investing activities 129,301,174 (105,402,783)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Inflows from financing activities 1,004,573,809 258,184,770

Borrowings from banks and other customers 916,728,497 206,050,887

Increase in debt securities and subordinated liabilities 87,845,287 52,133,883

Sale of treasury shares 25 -

Outflows from financing activities (885,756,671) (163,998,770)

Dividends paid (3,162,816) (3,800,955)

Debt repayments (801,834,260) (155,362,060)

Decrease in debt securities and subordinated liabilities (80,759,595) (4,835,755)

Net inflow or net outflow from financing activities 118,817,138 94,186,000

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1,339,383 3,723,680

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 531,231,666 482,452,111

Financial result for the period 48,779,555 (67,950,970)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents following the acquisition of subsidiaries - 3,374,341

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 482,452,111 547,028,740
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

2004

General Specific Net Total Exchange

Treasury capital capital profit share- rate

Subscribed Equity Profit shares Retained revaluation revaluation for the holders capital

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS capital reserves reserves reserve profits adjustment adjustment period equity adjustment

BALANCE AT 1 January 2004 15,364,030 13,859,925 63,589,253 490,828 2,497,429 11,791,771 190,327 2,785,787 110,569,354 194,233

Transfer to equity - 23 150,308 - 86,855 - - 8,773,467 9,010,653 99,560

Specific capital revaluation - - - - - - - - - -

Net profit for the period - - - - - - - 8,666,387 8,666,387 -

Other - 23 106,025 - 31,578 - - 107,080 244,706 -

Increase in foreign exchange differences - - 44,283 - 55,277 - - - 99,560 99,560

Transfers within equity - - 2,254,469 (3) (285,414) - - (1,969,052) - -

Allocation of net profit for the period - - 357,467 - - - - (357,467) - -

Settlement of losses with profit for the period - - - - 34,375 - - (34,375) - -

Settlement of losses with profit reserves and 

other equity components - - (27,081) - (143,045) - - 170,126 - -

Elimination of treasury shares reserves and 

return to original equity  components - - - (3) 3 - - - - -

Other - - 1,924,083 - (176,747) - - (1,747,336) - -

Transfers from equity - - - - (14,327) - (493) (2,391,350) (2,406,170) (67,660)

Dividends paid - - - - - - - (2,187,374) (2,187,374) -

Other - - - - (14,327) - (493) (136,316) (151,136) -

Decrease in foreign exchange differences - - - - - - - (67,660) (67,660) (67,660)

BALANCE AT 31 December 2004 15,364,030 13,859,952 65,994,030 490,825 2,284,543 11,791,771 189,834 7,198,852 117,173,837 226,133
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Statement of management’s responsibilities

The management are responsible for preparing financial statements for each financial year that present fairly the state of affairs of

the Bank and its subsidiaries as at the end of the financial year and of the profit or loss for that period.

The management confirm that suitable accounting policies have been used and applied consistently and reasonable and prudent

judgements and estimates have been made in the preparation of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2004. The

management also confirm that applicable legislation and Slovenian Accounting Standards have been followed and that the financial

statements have been prepared on the going concern basis.

The management are responsible for keeping proper accounting records, for taking reasonable steps to safeguard the assets of the

Bank and its subsidiaries and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The tax authorities may at any time inspect the books and records within 5 years subsequent to the reported tax year, and may impose

additional tax assessments and penalties.

Management Board

2003

General Specific Net Total Exchange

Treasury capital capital profit share- rate

Subscribed Equity Profit shares Retained revaluation revaluation for the holders capital

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS capital reserves reserves reserve profits adjustment adjustment period equity adjustment

BALANCE AT 1 January 2003 15,364,030 13,859,929 60,150,684 490,828 1,896,233 11,791,771 180,675 3,535,557 107,269,707 132,723

Transfer to equity - - 170,717 - 13,939 - 9,652 6,357,578 6,551,886 61,510

Specific capital revaluation - - - - - - 9,652 - 9,652 -

Net profit for the period - - - - - - - 6,245,532 6,245,532 -

Other - - 138,287 - 5,294 - - 91,611 235,192 -

Increase in foreign exchange differences - - 32,430 - 8,645 - - 20,435 61,510 61,510

Transfers within equity - - 3,934,951 - 625,828 - - (4,560,779) - -

Allocation of net profit for the period - - 3,080,284 - - - - (3,080,284) - -

Other - - 854,667 - 625,828 - - (1,480,495) - -

Transfers from equity - - (667,099) - (38,571) - - (2,546,569) (3,252,239) -

Dividends paid - - - - - - - (2,500,599) (2,500,599) -

Other - - (666,099) - (38,571) - - (45,970) (751,640) -

BALANCE AT 1 December 2003 15,364,030 13,859,929 63,589,253 490,828 2,497,429 11,791,771 190,327 2,785,787 110,569,354 194,233

Pierre Van Keirsbilck

Member of the

Management Board

Andrej Hazabent

Member of the

Management Board

Marjan Kramar

President of the

Management Board

& CEO

Erik Luts

Member of the

Management

Board

Borut StaniË

Member of the

Management

Board

Matej Narat

Member of the

Management

Board



Nova Ljubljanska banka d.d., Ljubljana ("the Bank" or

"NLB") is incorporated in Slovenia as a joint stock company

providing universal banking services. The majority sharehold-

ers of Nova Ljubljanska banka d.d. are the Republic of

Slovenia, holding 35.41% of the shares and KBC Bank N.V.,

Brussels ("KBC Bank") holding 34% of the shares. 

The address of its registered office is: Nova Ljubljanska

banka d.d., Ljubljana, Trg republike 2, Ljubljana.

The increase of the general price index for the year 2004

was 3.2% (year 2003: 4.6%). The exchange rate changed

from 236.7 tolars to the euro at 31 December 2003 to 239.7

tolars to the euro at 31 December 2004, and from 189.4

tolars to the US dollar at 31 December 2003 to 176.2 tolars to

the US dollar at 31 December 2004.

All amounts are expressed in thousand of tolars unless oth-

erwise specified.

1. Significant accounting policies

The Nova Ljubljanska banka d.d., Ljubljana Group ("the

Group") consolidated financial statements are prepared in

accordance with the Slovenian Accounting Standards (SAS),

and the Bank of Slovenia’s regulations, represented by the

Decree on the Classification of Balance Sheet and Off-

Balance Sheet Asset Items of Banks and Savings Banks, the

Decree on Establishing Specific Provisions of Banks and

Savings Banks, the Decree on Supervision of Banks and

Savings Banks on Consolidated Basis, and other Bank of

Slovenia’s regulations.

The principal accounting policies applied by the Group for

the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are

set out below.

a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial

statements of Nova Ljubljanska banka d.d., Ljubljana and its

subsidiaries, which are set out in Note 41.

Subsidiary undertakings, which are those companies in

which the Group, directly or indirectly, has an interest of more

than half of the voting rights or otherwise has the power to

exercise control over the operations, have been fully consoli-

dated. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which

effective control is transferred to the Group and are no longer

consolidated from the date of disposal. Intercompany transac-

tions, balances and unrealized surpluses and deficits on trans-

actions between group companies have been eliminated.

Separate disclosure is made of minority interests.

On acquisition of a subsidiary, the Group calculates the dif-

ference between the fair value of the assets and liabilities

acquired and the fair value of the consideration given. Where

the consideration given exceeds the net assets acquired,

goodwill arises, and is amortized to the income statement

over a period of five years. Any excess of the fair values of net

assets acquired over the cost of acquisition is presented as

negative goodwill and it is recognized as income on a systemic

basis over the period of five years. 

Investments in associated undertakings are accounted for

using the equity method of accounting. These are undertak-

ings in which the Group has between 20% and 50% of the

voting rights, and over which the Group exercises significant

influence, but which it does not control.

Equity accounting involves recognizing in the income state-

ment the Group’s share of the associates’ profit or loss for the

year. The Group’s interest in the associate is carried in the bal-

ance sheet at an amount that reflects its share of the net

assets of the associate and includes goodwill on acquisition. 

Regarding associates, negative goodwill is included in the

carrying amount of an investment in an associate over a peri-

od of five years.

Jointly controlled entities are companies established by con-

tractual agreement. The consolidated financial statements

include the Group's proportionate share of the jointly con-

trolled entity's assets, liabilities, income and expenses with

items of a similar nature on a line-by-line basis.

b) Translation of financial statements of foreign sub-

sidiaries

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated to

tolar at mid - market exchange rate of the Bank of Slovenia

ruling at the balance sheet date. The income and expenses of

foreign subsidiaries are translated to tolar at average

exchange rate of the Bank of Slovenia for the reporting peri-

od. Differences between mid - market, ruling at the balance

sheet date, and average exchange rate of the Bank of Slovenia

are reported under equity as consolidation capital adjustment.

c)Assets and liabilities in foreign currency

Assets and liabilities in foreign currency are converted into

the tolar equivalent at the mid-market exchange rate of the

Bank of Slovenia as at the last day of the accounting period.

Notes to the consolidated 
financial statements
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Foreign exchange gains and losses are included in the income

statement.

d) Interest, fees and commissions 

Interest, fees and commissions expenses are included in the

income statement as soon as they are accrued, while interest,

fees and commissions income is included in the income state-

ment depending on the grading group of the client.

According to the Bank of Slovenia’s regulations the income

from performing assets (A and B grading groups) is included

in the income statement as soon as it occurs. Income from

non-performing assets (C, D and E grading groups) is exclud-

ed until paid, and reported as allowances for bad and doubt-

ful interest under other assets. 

In the cash flow statement interest is presented as cash

flows from operating activities.

e) Investments in securities

Investments in securities held for trading and investments in

debt securities available for sale are initially recorded at cost.

Subsequently they are stated at lower of the cost or fair value.

The fair value is based on a quoted market price at the bal-

ance sheet date. If a quoted market price is not available, the

fair value of the securities is estimated using discounted cash

flow techniques or it is assessed in accordance with the grad-

ing group of the issuer. Where discounted cash flow tech-

niques are used, estimated future cash flows are based on

management's best estimates and the discount rate is a mar-

ket related rate at the balance sheet date for a financial

instrument with similar terms and conditions.

Held to maturity securities are initially measured at cost.

After initial recognition they are stated in the balance sheet

at the amount of the principal outstanding less any impair-

ment.

The Group uses FIFO method for determination of the prof-

it or loss on derecognition of securities.

f) Own shares

Own shares constitute a part of the Group's share capital,

presented as assets in the balance sheet. Gains and losses on

sale of own shares are credited or charged to reserves.

g) Investments in other companies 

Investments in other companies are initially measured at

cost, being the amount of cash paid or the fair value of con-

sideration given. Subsequently they are accounted for using

the cost method. Profits are recognized in the income state-

ment only to the extent of dividends received.

If there is an indication that investments may be impaired

each individual investment is assessed. Any impairment is rec-

ognized immediately in the income statement.

h) Derivative financial instruments 

For the accounting purposes derivative financial instruments

are designated for hedging or for trading purpose. The con-

tract and notional amount of derivative financial instruments

is recorded in the off - balance sheet, while their fair values

are presented as other assets when favorable to the Group or

other liabilities when unfavorable to the Group.

Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices, dis-

counted cash flow models and pricing models as appropriate.

Loss on derivative financial instruments, treated as held for

trading, is recognized in the income statement immediately.

Gains are recognized in the income statement when they are

realized.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments

that are designated as the fair value hedge are recognized in

the income statement on the same basis as the corresponding

change in the fair value of the hedged item.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments

that are designated as cash flow hedges and that prove to be

highly effective in relation to the hedged risk, are presented in

the equity as specific capital revaluation adjustment, while the

ineffective portion is immediately reported in the income

statement.

The income statement includes foreign exchange differ-

ences from certain financial derivatives, which are providing

effective economic hedges in respect of foreign currency risk

exposure. 

i) Finance lease

Assets leased out under a finance lease are presented in the

balance sheet as receivables at the amount equal to the net

investments in the lease, less any impairment.

j) Loans and borrowings

Loans and borrowings are initially recognized at the amount

of the cash given or received.

Loans are stated in the balance sheet at the amount of the

principal outstanding, increased by interest capitalized where

appropriate, less any provision for unrecoverable amounts.
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Borrowings are presented in the balance sheet at the

amount of the principal outstanding, increased by interest

capitalized where appropriate.

k) Provisions 

In accordance with the Bank of Slovenia's regulation the

Group is required to establish specific risk provisions and pro-

visions for general banking risks.

Specific provisions are established on loans, advances and

off-balance sheet items in respect of credit risk on the basis of

provisioning rates specified by the Bank of Slovenia's Decree

on the Classification of Balance Sheet end Off-Balance sheet

Items of Banks and Saving Banks. Specific credit risk provisions

on loans and advances to customers classified in the rating

group B, C, D or E are stated on the asset side of the balance

sheet as allowances for bad or doubtful loans, while specific

credit risk provisions for A rating group are presented on the

liability side. Specific credit risk provisions established on off-

balance sheet items and specific country risk provisions are

also stated on the liability side of the balance sheet.

Specific provisions for other foreseeable risks, stated on the

liability side of the balance sheet, are established in respect of

interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and operating risk.

General banking risk provisions, stated on the liability side

of the balance sheet, are established for the purpose of pro-

tecting against risks arising from the Group’s overall opera-

tions.

According to the Decree on the Supervision of Banks and

Savings Banks on Consolidated Basis and the Decree on

Establishing Specific Provisions of Banks and Savings Banks

the NLB as a parent company is required to set aside addi-

tional amounts for specific provisions in the consolidated

financial statements for assets and off-balance sheet items of

its subsidiaries.

l) Uncollectable loans and advances

Uncollectable loans and advances are written off, according

to internal written procedures of the Group, after all necessary

procedures for recovery have been completed. Any eventual

subsequent repayments of loans and advances previously writ-

ten off are recognized as income. 

m) Provisions for liabilities and charges

Provisions for obligations that are expected to occur in the

period exceeding one year are recognized in the financial

statements when:

• there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result

of a past event,

• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying eco-

nomic benefits will be required to settle the obligation,

• a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obli-

gation.

n) Accruals and deferred income and expenses

Income and expenses are recognized when they occur and

not as cash is received or paid. They are presented as accruals

in a separate balance sheet position.

o) Property and equipment

All property and equipment is initially recorded at cost. The

cost of property and equipment comprises purchase price

including import duties, initial delivery and installation costs.

At each balance sheet date the Group assesses whether

there is any indication that assets may be impaired. If any such

indication exists the recoverable amount is estimated.

Recoverable amount is the higher of net selling price and

value in use. When value in use exceeds assets carrying

amount that indicates that assets are not impaired. 

Depreciation of property and equipment is provided on a

straight-line basis at rates designed to write off cost or valua-

tion of buildings and equipment over their estimated useful

lives.

Land and works of art are not depreciated.
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% 2004 2003

Buildings 2 - 5 2 - 5

Computers 14.3 - 50 14.3 - 50

Furniture and equipment 10 - 33.3 10 - 33.3

Motor vehicles 20 - 40 20 - 40

Other assets 10 - 33.3 10 - 33.3

The following annual depreciation rates are applied:
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Property and equipment is depreciated from the first day of

next month after it was brought into use.

Subsequent expenditures result in an increase of an asset's

carrying amount when it is probable that future economic

benefits will exceed the originally assessed benefits or in an

extension of the useful life of an asset.

The same accounting policies are applied for assets held by

the Group under a finance lease.

p) Investment property

Investment property includes land and buildings owned by

the Group and leased out under operating lease. Investment

property is accounted for using the same accounting policies

adopted by the Group for property and equipment.

According to the Bank of Slovenia's methodology invest-

ment property is presented as other assets in the balance

sheet.

q) Intangible assets

Intangible assets are initially recognized at cost including

any directly attributable costs. Intangible assets are subse-

quently impaired if their carrying amount exceeds their value

in use.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis at rates

designed to write off the cost of intangible assets over their

estimated useful lives. The current system software, and the

new information technology system are amortized over a

period of ten years and other software over a period of four

years.

Intangible assets are not amortised until they are brought

into use.

r) Inventories

Inventories include costs of construction projects where the

Group is an investor and property held for sale in the ordinary

course of business. Inventories are written down when their

carrying amount exceeds their net realizable value.

s) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash

equivalents comprise cash and balances with central bank,

securities held for trading, loans to banks and debt securities

not held for trading with maturity up to 90 days.

Basis for the preparation of the consolidated cash flow

statement are the consolidated financial statements with all

notes and other necessary data collected for the purpose of

the preparation of the cash flow statement of the Group.

t) Tax on profit and balance sheet tax 

Slovenian corporate tax is provided on taxable profits at the

rate of 25% according to local tax legislation and according to

the provisions of local income tax law, which came into force

already in the year 2004. Foreign taxes are provided for in

accordance with local tax laws and accounting principles. 

In 2002 the Slovenian balance sheet tax is calculated as a

3% levy on certain balance sheet items. According to

Slovenian legislation the maximum balance sheet tax is limit-

ed to 50% of pre-tax profit. Where the 3% levy exceeds 50%

of profits, the lower tax charge is payable. In the year 2004

the Law on the cessation of balance sheet tax law passed and

as a consequence the balance sheet tax is abolished from the

year 2005. 

u) Funds managed on behalf of third parties 

Assets and liabilities managed on behalf of third parties are

stated on net basis.

v) Segmental reporting

Business and geographical segments provide products or

services that are subject to risk and returns that are different

from those of other business segments.

2. Changes in the scope of consolidation

In the year 2004 the following changes occurred but had no

significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

a) Acquisitions

• NLB gradually increased its interest in three Slovenian banks

in Banka Domæale from 58.46% to 59.80%, in Koroπka

banka from 54.5% to 61.7% and in Banka Zasavje from

62.11% to 66.59%. Goodwill on acquisition in the amount

of 46,304 thousand tolars for Banka Domæale, 289,040

thousand tolars for Koroπka banka and negative goodwill in

the amount of 42.389 thousand tolars for Banka Zasavje

was calculated. Goodwill, calculated for Banka Domæale and

Banka Zasavje, has already been fully amortized.

• In the second quarter of the year, NLB acquired a 9.38%

interest in LHB Bank Beograd. Together with the existing

interest of LHB Bank Frankfurt the total interest increased

on 60.40%. Acquisition resulted in goodwill in the amount

of 181,933 thousand tolars.  

• In December NLB increased its participation in the equity of

Banka Celje from 29.29% to 32.15% with the purchase of



ordinary and preference shares. This resulted in goodwill in

the amount of 164.072 thousand tolars.  

• In November and December LHB Banka Banja Luka acquired

a 49% interest and LHB Trade Zagreb a 30% interest in

company Plan, Banja Luka. Due to the immateriality and

acquisition just before the end of the year this company is

not included in the consolidation. 

• In July NLB acquired a small number of shares of Skupna

pokojninska druæba, consequently its interest increased

from 26.94% to 27.18%. In the third quarter of the year

NLB paid in the additional capital in the company. After the

conclusion of the procedure the share of NLB will be

27.49%.

• In June LB Leasing, Ljubljana, sold its interest in LB Leasing

Maribor to NLB and three Slovenian daughter banks.

• In November NLB acquired all the ordinary and preference

shares of Tutunska banka from Tutunskabroker, so that the

group interest in Tutunska banka increased from 72.42% to

73.12%.

• In November LB Leasing Ljubljana founded a new 100 %

subsidiary CBS Leasing, Sarajevo.

• In December NLB Factoring Ostrava founded a new 100 %

subsidiary NLB Factor, Bratislava.

b) Other changes in Group’s financial statements

• In the year 2004 the consolidation method for joint ventures

NLB Vita and Prvi Faktor was changed from proportional

method to equity method. The effects of this change in the

consolidated financial statements are immaterial, conse-

quently the comparative data for the year 2003 has not

been changed.

• Slovenska investicijska banka, which is in the process of liq-

uidation, was fully consolidated in the year 2003, in the year

2004 it is not included in consolidation because of immate-

riality. In the year 2004 the major part of its assets was

transferred to NLB and its balance sheet as at 31.12.2004

amounts to 4,491,159 thousand tolars. Comparative data

for the year 2003 has not been changed.

3. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

From the balance sheet date until the completion of this

report, no such event has occurred that would require the

restatement of the completed consolidated financial state-

ments or any additional disclosure.
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4. Interest income and expense 

a) Analysis by type of assets and liabilities

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Interest income

Deposits with Central Bank 1,734,158 396,602

Placements with, and loans to, other banks 1,781,331 1,136,652

Loans and advances to customers 78,155,830 84,093,607

Deposits 1,988,072 3,021,826

Debt securities not held for trading 29,480,245 39,509,612

Other assets 263,936 140,520

TOTAL 113,403,572 128,298,819

Interest expense

Demand deposits 3,171,765 4,365,953

Short-term deposits 21,618,468 32,903,466

Long-term deposits 12,353,571 19,734,130

Borrowings 9,303,630 8,355,578

Debt securities 7,880,967 9,636,305

Other liabilities 442,351 166,804

TOTAL 54,770,752 75,162,236

NET INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME 58,632,820 53,136,583

b) Analysis by sector

2004 2003

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Income Expenses Income Expenses

Enterprises 35,768,322 7,289,034 42,725,978 12,380,067

Government departments and agencies 15,073,012 2,952,559 16,613,964 4,264,850

Banks 21,842,596 14,869,385 30,646,375 14,637,685

Citizens 22,529,716 20,291,338 24,275,471 33,305,403

Financial organisations 459,742 5,930,845 531,458 7,291,811

Non-residents 15,502,773 2,981,752 11,325,577 2,524,329

Non-profit service providers to households 52,723 335,256 75,072 604,796

Default interest 2,174,688 120,583 2,104,924 153,295

TOTAL 113,403,572 54,770,752 128,298,819 75,162,236
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5. Income from capital and other investments

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Income from investments in associated companies

- Banks 1,422,030 1,240,194

- Enterprises 179,932 181,872

- Financial organisations 60,835 9,673

Income from investments in other companies

- Banks 3,546 124

- Enterprises 294 44,105

- Financial organisations 31,922 56,767

Income from securities held for trading

- Interest income 5,559,639 7,347,751

- Dividends received 377,332 293,752

TOTAL 7,635,530 9,174,238

6. Income and expense from fees and commissions

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Fees and commissions income:

- Payments 11,139,355 9,873,702

- Agency services 8,018,862 6,470,232

- Administrative services 7,319,377 6,705,744

- Lending 5,732,604 3,870,337

- Guarantees 2,835,027 2,627,964

- Investment funds 389,626 789,888

- Depositing valuables and safe custody 201,008 191,166

- Other services 518,690 374,381

TOTAL 36,154,549 30,903,414

Fees and commissions expense:

- Banking services 2,827,691 3,296,599

- Agency services 1,457,266 653,056

- Payments 414,074 275,872

- Brokerage 215,960 184,209

- Other services 1,664,316 463,039

TOTAL 6,579,307 4,872,775

NET FEES AND COMMISSIONS 29,575,242 26,030,639
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Income from valuation of securities not held for trading for year 2003 includes gain in the amount of 898,675 thousand tolars from

valuation of bonds RS 33 to their nominal value.

7. Net (loss)/profit from financial transactions

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Income from financial transactions

Income from dealing in securities held for trading 7,491,522 3,334,278

Income from valuation of securities

- securities not held for trading 140,467 1,315,262

- securities held for trading 878,638 2,368,117

- investments in other companies 365,377 702,102

- other 1,345 151,117

Foreign exchange differences 36,716,060 57,931,695

Income from derivative financial instruments 6,626,179 10,125,463

Income from dealing in foreign currency 10,320,361 6,991,415

TOTAL 62,539,949 82,919,449

Losses from financial transactions

Expenses from dealing in securities held for trading 257,720 234,075

Expenses from valuation of securities

- securities not held for trading 64,737 251,025

- securities held for trading 1,116,879 857,358

- investments in other companies 270,632 379,094

- investments in associated companies - 85,137

- other 181,847 249,319

Foreign exchange differences 35,171,180 59,902,504

Expenses in derivative financial instruments 7,704,139 13,238,069

Expenses in dealing in foreign currency 7,771,791 4,975,274

TOTAL 52,538,925 80,171,855

NET (LOSS)/PROFIT FROM FINANCE TRANSACTIONS 10,001,024 2,747,594

8. Other operating income

a) Analysis by type

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Income from non-banking services 2,815,852 4,024,339

Income from sales of products and merchandise 5,117,648 4,896,766

Income from sale of property and equipment 387,598 823,630

Income from investment property rents 609,728 616,287

Other income 1,382,015 1,546,790

TOTAL 10,312,841 11,907,812
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Other employee costs include costs such as a vacation bonus, compensation for the transport and contribution for the retirement

benefits. 

9. Employee costs

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Gross salaries 24,805,097 23,659,193 

Social security costs

- pension security contributions 2,189,116 2,099,978 

- social security contributions 2,005,111 1,942,604 

- other contributions 1,527,849 1,413,765 

Other employee costs 5,524,668 4,658,773 

TOTAL 36,051,841 33,774,313

10. Cost of materials and services

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Services 9,368,427 10,204,515 

Materials 3,384,546 3,524,965 

Maintenance 2,882,923 3,185,799 

Rents 2,401,535 2,116,953 

Advertising 1,142,593 1,117,667 

Insurance 1,039,801 831,206 

Travel costs 598,780 622,149 

Entertainment expenses 393,099 337,865 

Education and scholarships 354,258 306,068 

Other administrative expenses 38,176 92,695 

TOTAL 21,604,138 22,339,882 

11. Depreciation and revaluation expenses from property, equipment and intangible assets

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Depreciation of property and equipment and intangible assets 6,448,824 6,443,358

Depreciation of intangible assets 2,318,416 1,874,231

Revaluation expenses from equipment and intangible assets (note 23 and 24) 3,230,609 177,340

Goodwill 476,222 424,892

Impairment of goodwill - SIB - 1,582,556

TOTAL 12,474,071 10,502,377
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In the year 2004 the Management Board of the Bank decided to continue further the employee restructuring process in order to

reduce the operating expenses. Therefore the Bank established restructuring provisions in the amount of 720,000 thousand tolars.

Revaluation expenses include revaluation of employee costs in the amount of 767,888 thousand tolars (2003: 325,921 thousand

tolars) and impairment of inventories in the amount of 128,266 thousand tolars (2003: 63,625 thousand tolars).

12. Other operating expenses

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Cost of sold merchandise 4,878,301 4,724,085

Long term provisions made 1,129,313 1,422,202

Taxes 193,598 227,923

Revaluation expenses 971,520 399,095

Membership fees 373,251 338,251

Other expenses 323,281 237,706

TOTAL 7,869,264 7,349,262

13. Net provisions for losses on loans and write offs less any recoveries

a) Provisions and write offs

2004 2003

Provisions Provisions Provisions Provisions

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS made  released made  released

Write offs 4,949,557 - 6,645,327 -

Recoveries - 554,184 - 303,766

Provisions for A graded balance sheet and off-balance sheet assets 10,603,791 9,449,025 11,993,824 10,279,319

Provisions for other off-balance sheet assets 18,652,120 16,770,366 16,676,149 18,686,566

Country risk provisions 15,762,112 13,273,216 11,798,186 7,533,159

Provisions for balance sheet assets, classified in other credit rating groups:

- loans to banks 2,266,512 1,792,121 1,572,258 5,389,041

- loans to other customers 46,955,086 40,599,827 52,641,694 50,255,938

- other loans 2,884,736 2,650,887 4,326,873 3,259,022

- interest claims 39,403 - 19,559 -

Provisions for offsetting by groups 52,962 52,962 3,338 62,018

Provisions for non-credit risk 580,000 - 591,211 317

102,746,279 85,142,588 106,268,419 95,769,146

TOTAL a) (17,603,691) (10,499,273)
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Negative goodwill includes income from the amortisation of a negative goodwill that arose from the merger of two Slovenian banks

in year 2001, from the acquisition of Banka Celje in year 2000 and from the acquisition of Montenegrobank in year 2003.

b) Other provisions

2004 2003

Provisions Provisions Provisions Provisions

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS made  released made  released

Negative goodwill - 458,765 - 445,247

Other long-term provisions - 35,921 6,515 2,898

TOTAL b) - 494,686 6,515 448,145

TOTAL a) + b) 102,746,279 85,637,274 106,274,934 96,217,291

TOTAL (17,109,005) (10,057,643)

14. Extraordinary profit/(loss)

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Extraordinary income 

Indemnities, rewards and similar income 136,409 130,698 

TOTAL 136,409 130,698 

Extraordinary expenses 

Fines, penalties and similar expenses 21,911 60,814 

TOTAL 21,911 60,814 

EXTRAORDINARY PROFIT / (LOSS) 114,498 69,884 

15. Tax

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Tax on profit 7,847,552 6,702,128

Balance sheet tax 935,971 864,805

Share of tax of associated companies 554,063 525,210

TOTAL 9,337,586 8,092,143
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Slovenian banks are required to maintain an obligatory reserve with the Bank of Slovenia, relative to the volume and structure of

its customer deposits. The current requirement of the Bank of Slovenia regarding the calculation of the amount to be held as oblig-

atory reserve is as follows:

• 4.5% of time deposits up to 90 days,

• 2% of time deposits from 91 days to 2 years and deposits in foreign currency due to 2 years.

In December 2004, the basis for the obligatory reserve of the Group amounted to 49,435,553 thousand tolars.

For a detailed maturity analysis of Placements with, and loans to other banks refer to note 45 - Balance sheet maturity analysis.

16. Cash and balances with the central bank

31.12.2004 31.12.200

Foreign Foreign

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS SIT currency SIT currency

Cash 12,838,683 7,672,696 13,652,665 7,737,281

Balances with Central bank 36,801,789 17,340,075 37,197,458 11,868,648

Other deposits - 719,229 - -

49,640,472 25,732,000 50,850,123 19,605,929

TOTAL 75,372,472 70,456,052

17. Placements with, and loans to, other banks

a) Maturity analysis

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Short-term loans

- in tolars 4,011,064 2,808,547

- in foreign currency 67,703,371 108,116,852

Long-term loans

- in tolars 79,317,443 209,695

- in foreign currency 20,816,420 16,206,147

Current portion of long-term loans

- in tolars 57,827 62,061

- in foreign currency 4,504,784 6,083,608

176,410,909 133,486,910

Provisions (3,458,332) (3,000,895)

TOTAL 172,952,577 130,486,015
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d) Loans to associated and other related banks

Loans extended to associated and other related banks as at 31 December 2004 amounted to 11,696,764 thousand tolars

(9,588,380 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003).

b) Analysis by type of loan

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Demand deposits 14,930,957 11,940,906

Time deposits 114,034,721 59,189,783

Loans 44,631,008 60,253,204

Called guarantees 21,936 24,088

Other investments 2,792,287 2,078,929

176,410,909 133,486,910

Provisions (3,458,332) (3,000,895)

TOTAL 172,952,577 130,486,015

c) Geographical analysis 

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Slovenia 97,541,972 18,101,493

OECD countries 42,490,106 83,464,522

Other countries 32,920,499 28,920,000

SKUPAJ 172,952,577 130,486,015

e) Analysis of movements

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 130,486,015 153,947,905

Consolidation of new subsidiaries - (1,042,749)

Exchange differences on opening balance of subsidiaries (118,651) 1,332,340

Increase:

- loans made 6,627,757,670 15,017,567,840

- interest added to principal 3,633 3,377

Decrease:

- repayments (6,584,012,099) (15,043,634,597)

- exchange differences (458,176) (271,777)

- write offs (231,424) (1,233,107)

Provisions (474,391) 3,816,783

Balance at 31 December 172,952,577 130,486,015
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The total amount of non-performing loans (C, D and E grading groups) amounted to 87,092,748 thousand tolars as at 31

December 2004 (85,190,313 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003), while loans overdue amounted to 22,575,610 thousand

tolars (23,195,197 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003). Interest income from non-performing loans, not recognised as income,

amounted to 5,912,122 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2004 (7,194,228 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003).

18. Loans and advances to customers

a) Analysis by type of customer

31.12.2004 31.12.2003

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term

In tolars

- enterprises 147,642,434 216,460,548 145,719,957 221,413,722

- goverment departments and agencies 277,253 28,908,242 6,597,714 24,658,730

- citizens 45,602,592 205,199,704 44,878,649 185,561,735

- financial organisations 4,403,398 1,606,139 3,809,847 2,540,462

- non- profit household service providers 350,826 258,357 303,008 254,323

In foreign currency

- enterprises 80,651,607 287,344,631 55,672,418 224,317,961

- goverment departments and agencies 19,479 1,569,302 - 1,242,589

- citizens 674,200 13,083,065 345,335 2,792,574

- financial organisations 4,282,976 1,864,259 222,129 2,168,668

- non residents 124,056,034 152,759,453 91,030,463 87,617,163

Current portion of long-term loans

- in tolars 120,878,167 (120,878,167) 127,163,726 (127,163,726)

- in foreign currency 90,049,441 (90,049,441) 80,969,542 (80,969,542)

618,888,407 698,126,092 556,712,788 544,434,659

Provisions (45,880,624) (23,165,891) (44,841,682) (20,760,531)

573,007,783 674,960,201 511,871,106 523,674,128

TOTAL 1,247,967,984 1,035,545,234
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b) Analysis by sector

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Industry and mining 361,518,341 284,707,400

Citizens 257,123,415 225,855,779

Trade and finance 207,236,996 182,217,755

Services 256,552,585 157,967,504

Ministries 31,287,602 32,345,828

Energy 17,905,627 19,950,658

Transport and communication 75,811,869 105,745,208

Small businesses 34,104,588 28,671,163

Construction 50,629,561 37,793,773

Agriculture, forestry and fishery 15,753,779 19,478,868

Other 9,090,136 6,413,511

1,317,014,499 1,101,147,447

Provisions (69,046,515) (65,602,213)

TOTAL 1,247,967,984 1,035,545,234

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Loans:

- with the guarantee of the Republic of Slovenia 79,081,365 79,137,751

- with the guarantee of other Slovenian banks 3,788,164 7,296,103

TOTAL 82,869,529 86,433,854

The loans guaranteed by the Republic of Slovenia and Slovenian banks are:

d) Analysis by type of advance

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Loans 1,171,367,254 978,403,321

Overdrafts 58,006,523 62,261,639

Finance lease receivables 43,911,245 30,829,409

Called guarantees 1,591,791 2,030,332

Other investment 42,137,686 27,622,746

1,317,014,499 1,101,147,447

Provisions (69,046,515) (65,602,213)

TOTAL 1,247,967,984 1,035,545,234

c) Guaranteed loans
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e) Loans to associated and other related parties

Loans extended to associated and other related parties as at 31 December 2004 amounted to 8,700,358 thousand tolars

(6,846,493 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003).

The carrying amount of debt securities held for trading as at 31 December 2004 is lower than their market value by 6,292,871

thousand tolars (4,368,381 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003).

f) Analysis of movements

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 1,035,545,234 902,385,834

Consolidation of new subsidiaries - 18,915,087

Exchange differences on opening balance of subsidiaries 1,725,308 1,925,661

Increase:

- loans made 2,069,083,666 1,489,445,176

- interest added to principal 21,691,903 19,230,700

- exchange differences 1,500,010 3,505,590

- transfer from securities held for trading - 1,339,696

Decrease:

- repayments (1,870,977,373) (1,393,237,899)

- write offs (4,265,238) (4,863,673)

Disposal of subsidiary - (715,906)

Provisions (6,335,526) (2,385,032)

Balance at 31 December 1,247,967,984 1,035,545,234

19. Debt securities not held for trading

a) Analysis by type of securities, available for sale

31.12.2004 31.12.2003

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term

In foreign currency

- certificates of deposits of the Bank of Slovenia 204,120,648 - 225,617,229 -

- certificates of deposits of other banks 1,644,166 - 1,374,424 -

- bonds of the Republic of Slovenia - 2,661,441 - 3,407,410

- bonds of the Republic of Croatia - 112,181 - 447,136

- bonds of the Republic of Macedonia - 902,656 - 790,758

- bonds of the Republic of Bosnia & Herzegovina - 132,452 - 1,900,392

- bonds of the Republic of Serbia & Montenegro - 417,461 - 845,093

- other securities 1,817,191 78,249,770 1,874,007 63,401,401

In tolars

- bonds of the Republic of Slovenia - 143,213,025 - 130,862,419

- certificates of deposits of the Bank of Slovenia 113,135,449 - 201,975,247 -

- other securities 8,728 3,664,458 - 2,261,575

Current portion 11,080,379 (11,080,379) 4,449,102 (4,449,102)

331,806,561 218,273,065 435,290,009 199,467,082

TOTAL a) 550,079,626 634,757,091
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The total amount of debt securities not held for trading as at 31 December 2004 includes listed securities in the amount of

163,954,533 thousand tolars (156,283,276 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003).

Other securities include Factor bank d.d., Ljubljana bonds with a total value of 150,000 thousand tolars, Slovenica d.d., Ljubljana

bonds with a total value of 500,000 thousand tolars and Probanka d.d., Maribor bonds with a total value 238,305 thousand tolars

which have the nature of a subordinate debt. Other than interest entitlement and the right to repayment of the principal the Group

does not have any other rights deriving from these bonds.

The Group had as at 31 December 2004 own bonds in the amount of 993,000 thousand tolars (31 December 2003: 993,000 thou-

sand tolars)

b) Analysis by type of securities, held to maturity

31.12.2004 31.12.2003

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term

In foreign currency

- bonds of the Republic of Slovenia - 999,454 - 1,487,290

- other bonds - 4,892,879 - -

In tolars

- bonds of the Republic of Slovenia

- for paid foreign currency deposits - 31,462,606 - 30,074,252

Current portion 400,791 (400,791) 424,940 (424,940)

400,791 36,954,148 424,940 31,136,602

TOTAL b) 37,354,939 31,561,542

TOTAL   a) + b) 587,434,565 666,318,633

c) Analysis of movements

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 666,318,633 587,581,822

Consolidation of new subsidiaries - 4,272,801

Exchange differences on opening balance of subsidiaries 829,722 1,497,789

Increase:

- acqusition of securities 511,267,895 489,941,503

- foreign exchange difference and interest added to principal 7,305,553 10,211,110

- transfer from securities held for trading - 37,447,763

Decrease:

- sale of securities (598,081,610) (465,661,001)

- transfers to securities held for trading (276,690) -

Reversal of impairment 71,062 1,026,846

Balance at 31 December 587,434,565 666,318,633
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The total amount of securities held for trading as at 31 December 2004 includes listed securities in the amount of 100,518,792

thousand tolars (91,504,799 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003).

The carrying amount of securities held for trading as at 31 December 2004 is lower than their market value by 6,142,676 thou-

sand tolars (5,926,761 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003).

Other securities include Factor bank d.d., Ljubljana bonds with a total value of 102,387 thousand tolars (101,300 thousand tolars

as at 31 December 2003) and Zavarovalnica Maribor d.d., Maribor bonds with a total value of 781,579 thousand tolars (673,274

thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003) which have the nature of a subordinate debt. Other than interest entitlement and the right

to repayment of the principal the Group does not have any other rights deriving from these bonds.

The Group had as at 31 December 2004 own bonds in the amount of 2,802,984 thousand tolars (31 December 2003: 4,762,025

thousand tolars)

20. Securities held for trading

a) Analysis by type of securities

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Certificates of deposits of the Bank of Slovenia 18,685,247 -

Bonds

- Republic of Slovenia 43,342,170 46,146,231

- other bonds 48,280,696 38,418,632

Shares 22,847,590 16,132,939

Treasury bills 6,371,848 6,131,307

Other securities 4,721,325 3,779,881

TOTAL 144,248,876 110,608,990

b) Analysis of movements

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 110,608,990 136,661,172

Consolidation of new subsidiaries - 700,135

Exchange difference on opening balance of subsidiaries (75,978) 95,216

Increase:

- acqusition of securities 368,314,847 239,941,188

- transfer from debt securities 276,690 -

- interest added to principal 544,734 425,622

Decrease:

- sale of securities (334,905,143) (229,937,643)

- transfer of investment securities - (37,447,763)

- transfer to loans - (1,339,696)

- foreign exchange differences (283,780) -

Valuation at fair value (231,484) 1,510,759

Balance at 31 December 144,248,876 110,608,990
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Equity decreased for own shares is used in the calculation of the participation in equity and the share of held voting power.

Jointly controlled companies are:

Companies in which the Group has significant influence are:

21. Investments in associated companies and joint ventures

a) Analysis by type of investment

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

In tolars

- banks 6,598,757 5,544,639

- financial organisations 1,087,221 206,256

- enterprises 887,663 693,806

In foreign currency

- banks 2,576,791 2,571,982

- financial organisations 35,825 20,458

- enterprises 45,726 73,819

TOTAL 11,231,983 9,110,960

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Equity Investment

as at 31 Profit for Ownership Voting as at 31

Nature of December the period Interest power December

Name business 2004 2004 in % held in % 2004

Banka Celje d.d., Celje Banking 27,395,221 2,726,411 32.15 37.51 6,598,757

Adria Bank AG, Wien Banking 7,107,510 226,496 28.46 28.46 2,136,570

Bankart d.o.o., Ljubljana Card management 2,223,944 488,723 39.45 39.45 881,376

West-East Bank AD, Sofia Banking 1,767,122 15,016 24.50 24.50 440,221

Skupna pokojninska druæba d.d., Ljubljana Insurance 777,829 12,365 27.18 27.18 281,822

Krajinapromet AD, Banja Luka Trade 151,756 (55,130) 30 30 45,726

ICJ d.o.o., Domæale Property 20,331 (61,332) 50 50 6,287

VB Inter Invest AD, Banja Luka Asset management 89,147 36,155 40.74 40.74 35,825

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Equity

as at 31 Profit for Ownership Voting

Nature of December the period Interest power

Name business 2004 2004 in % held in %

NLB Vita d.d., Ljubljana Insurance 883,430 (78,895) 50 50

Prvi Faktor Group d.o.o., Ljubljana Finance 777,599 104,864 50 50
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In year 2004 the method of consolidation of joint ventures in consolidated statements was changed from proportional method to cap-

ital method. The effects of this change in the consolidated financial statements are immaterial, consequently the comparative data for

the year 2003 has not been changed. In case it was, the assets and liabilities would be lower for:

The total amount of investments in other companies as at 31 December 2004 includes listed securities in the amount of tolars

848,319 thousand tolars (31 December 2003: 1,759,793 thousand tolars).

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS

Loans and advances to customers 1,974,342

Other assets 743,952

Deposits and borrowings from banks 355,036

Deposits and borrowings from other customers 819,939

Provisions for liabilities and charges 1,151,378

Other liabilities 391,942

b) Analysis of movements

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 9,110,960 7,996,439

Acqusition of an associate 548,351 558,511

Increase of investment due to the change in accounting policy 807,956 -

Foreign exchange differences 26,096 57,605

Profit for the period 1,662,797 1,431,739

Tax on profit (554,063) (525,209)

Dividends received (525,334) (547,889)

Other 155,220 139,764

Balance at 31 December 11,231,983 9,110,960

22. Investments in other companies

a) Analysis by type of investment

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

In tolars

- banks 1,235 1,235

- financial organisations 1,173,345 2,181,613

- enterprises 181,321 295,475

In foreign currency

- banks 299,497 204,443

- financial organisations 277,043 1,220,270

- enterprises 572,615 474,117

TOTAL 2,505,056 4,377,153
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Intangible assets include the Group’s new information system with the carrying value of 15,653,607 thousand tolars as at 31

December 2004 (information system completed for use 9,617,304 thousand tolars, information system in course of implementation

6,036,303 thousand tolars). Accumulated amortisation of the information system as at 31 December 2004 amounted to 1,808,526

thousand tolars while the amortisation costs for the year 2004 amounted to 932,295 thousand tolars. The remaining useful life of

the system is between 7 and 9 years. 

b) Analysis of movements

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 4,377,153 4,883,673

Consolidation of new subsidiaries - 115,849

Exchange differences on opening balance of subsidiaries 3,630 (5,215)

Increase in investment 330,672 977,754

Decrease in investment (1,012,107) (798,059)

Foreign exchange differences 2,330 (14,505)

Impairment (211,818) (164,310)

Other (984,804) (618,034)

Balance at 31 December 2,505,056 4,377,153

23. Intangible assets

Intangible

assets in

course of

transfer or 

constru-

ction/

Deferred imple-

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Software Goodwill cost mentation TOTAL

Cost or valuation

Balance at 1 January 2004 12,521,315 4,686,739 2,015,495 6,989,885 26,213,434

Exchange diffrences on opening balance of subsidiaries (5,941) - (1,858) 188 (7,611)

Additions 5,894,140 559,560 327,007 168,914 6,949,621

Disposals (264,026) (2,344,240) (244,451) (565,951) (3,418,668)

Balance at 31 December 2004 18,145,488 2,902,059 2,096,193 6,593,036 29,736,776

Depreciation

Balance at 1 January 2004 3,430,034 2,734,573 1,346,185 - 7,510,792

Exchange diffrences on opening balance of subsidiaries (1,059) - (1,031) - (2,090)

Disposals (233,220) (1,684,115) (138,711) - (2,056,046)

Charge for the year 2,157,061 473,487 161,355 - 2,791,903

Balance at 31 December 2004 5,352,816 1,523,945 1,367,798 - 8,244,559

Net carrying value

Balance at 1 January 2004 9,091,281 1,952,166 669,310 6,989,885 18,702,642

Balance at 31 December 2004 12,792,672 1,378,114 728,395 6,593,036 21,492,217
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In order to rationalize business activities the Bank decided in the year 2004 to sell certain property, which was therefore impaired

to its realizable value in the amount of 479,645 thousand tolars. The building of LHB Immobilien was impaired in the amount of

1,894,557 thousand tolars due to the decrease in market prices of real estate. 

Assets held under finance lease amounted to 2,536 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2004. 

25. Treasury shares

The Group holds treasury shares in the amount of 490,825 thousand tolars being 34,925 treasury shares in the nominal amount

of 69,850 thousand tolars. NLB Propria d.o.o., Ljubljana holds one share while Koroπka banka d.d., Slovenj Gradec holds 34,924 NLB

shares being 0.45% of the subscribed capital.

The information system for the retail banking (Bancs) was partially operational in 2003 and started fully operating in January 2004.

The information system for the corporate banking (Globus) is presented under assets in the course of implementation.

In the year 2004 the Group concluded detailed assessment of the Globus functionality in order to determine compliance with busi-

ness requirements. The results of the assessment indicated that certain capitalized expenditure does not produce any future economic

benefits and accordingly the Group partly wrote off the investment in Globus in the amount of 562,475 thousand tolars.

24. Property and equipment

Assets in

course of 

transfer or

construction/

Land & Furniture & Motor imple-

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS buildings Computers equipment vehicles mentation Total

Cost or valuation

Balance at 1 January 2004 63,402,372 24,774,865 16,824,725 2,869,573 674,828 108,546,363

Exchange differences on opening balance of subsidiaries 13,156 (30,633) (44,639) (17,334) (9,382) (88,832)

Additions - - - - 12,406,716 12,406,716

Transfers 1,634,580 2,879,379 2,168,331 5,140,180 (11,822,470) -

Disposals (2,054,742) (1,759,008) (715,238) (4,315,758) (36,540) (8,881,286)

Impairment (2,611,620) - - - - (2,611,620)

Balance at 31 December 2004 60,383,746 25,864,603 18,233,179 3,676,661 1,213,152 109,371,341

Depreciation

Balance at 1 January 2004 16,089,442 17,474,063 11,550,835 1,321,133 - 46,435,473

Exchange differences on opening balance of subsidiaries (2,159) (12,389) (17,355) (6,403) - (38,306)

Impairment (39,231) - - - - (39,231)

Disposals (451,925) (1,709,213) (656,736) (402,972) - (3,220,846)

Charge for the year 1,116,225 3,026,277 1,754,936 551,386 - 6,448,824

Balance at 31 December 2004 16,712,352 18,778,738 12,631,680 1,463,144 - 49,585,914

Net carrying value

Balance at 1 January 2004 47,312,930 7,300,802 5,273,890 1,548,440 674,828 62,110,890

Balance at 31 December 2004 43,671,394 7,085,865 5,601,499 2,213,517 1,213,152 59,785,427



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 4

79

The Group holds 88,362 treasury shares received as a collateral as at 31 December 2004 (31 December 2003: 88,669) with the

nominal value of 176,724 thousand tolars (31 December 2003: 177,338 thousand tolars) being 1.2% of subscribed capital (31

December 2003: 1.2%). 

Receivables in the course of collection are temporary balances, which are according to the functionality of the information support

system transferred to appropriate item of other assets within next few days after the occurrence.

26. Other assets

a) Analysis by type of asset

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Accrued interest due 2,934,775 4,759,709

Fees and commissions due 503,185 526,297

Credit cards receivables 9,465,531 9,969,184

Non authorized overdrafts 5,274,500 5,014,706

Debtors 2,739,214 3,028,429

Claims for taxes and other dues 1,134,517 2,250,236

Inventories 2,178,509 3,441,565

Prepayments 1,814,789 1,487,170

Receivables in course of collection 3,459,383 1,390,784

Cheques 770,143 1,187,784

Net receivables from intercompany relations - 2,953

Investment property 3,618,407 3,424,935

Derivative financial instruments 1,242,207 2,702,752

Other assets 2,667,386 2,820,227

37,802,546 42,006,731

Provisions (9,592,251) (9,512,668)

TOTAL 28,210,295 32,494,063

b) Movement in investment property

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 january 3,424,935 4,325,700

Exchange differences on opening balance of subsidiaries (9,184) 10,451

Consolidation of new subsidiaries - 166,696

Disposal of investment property (140,977) (852,028)

Increase 646,547 -

Transfer from property and equipment 64,461 15,117

Impairment (26,435) -

Disposal of subsidiary - (58,355)

Depreciation (178,507) (182,646)

Other (162,433) -

Balance at 31 December 3,618,407 3,424,935
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Other includes the decrease in provisions for SIB banka and NLB Vita, which are no longer consolidated in the year 2004 (see expla-

nation in the introduction).

27. Accured income and deferred expenses

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Accrued income not yet due 14,330,496 13,653,282

Deferred expenses 544,496 413,655

TOTAL 14,874,992 14,066,937

28. Movements in specific provisions by type of asset 

Share in Exchange Balance Share in

Balance at gross differences Specific Specific at 31 gross

1 January assets on opening provisions provisions December assets

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 in % balance made released Other 2004 in %

Placements with, and loans to, other banks 3,000,895 2.25% (16,954) 2,266,512 (1,792,121) - 3,458,332 1.96%

Loans and advances to customers 65,602,213 5.96% (177,626) 46,993,339 (40,657,813) (2,713,598) 69,046,515 5.24%

Other assets 9,512,668 22.65% (189,062) 2,884,736 (2,650,887) 34,796 9,592,251 25.37%

TOTAL 78,115,776 (383,642) 52,144,587 (45,100,821) (2,678,802) 82,097,098

29. DEPOSITS AND BORROWINGS FROM BANKS

a) Analysis of deposits

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

On demand

- in tolars 3,953,751 1,593,403

- in foreign currency 20,080,146 18,707,050

Short-term deposits

- in tolars 7,458,672 37,121,942

- in foreign currency 88,038,364 80,250,942

Long-term deposits

- in tolars 5,000 86,294

- in foreign currency 1,577,780 1,420,142

Current portion of long-term deposits 37,000 -

TOTAL a) 121,150,713 139,179,773
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c) Analysis of deposits and borrowings from associated and other related banks

Deposits and borrowings received from associated and other related banks amounted to 5,365,236 thousand tolars as at 31

December 2004 (8,958,801 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003).

Deposits and borrowings between the Group members amounted to 150,310,423 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2004

(126,034,318 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003).

b) Analysis of borrowings

31.12.2004 31.12.2003

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term

In tolars

- Central Bank - - - 540

- other banks 340,841 - 810,806 99,530

In foreign currency

- other banks 90,028,450 272,073,124 110,643,531 145,592,512

Current portion of long term loans 50,616,669 (50,616,669) 38,328,341 (38,328,341)

TOTAL b) 140,985,960 221,456,455 149,782,678 107,364,241

TOTAL a) in b) 260,553,893 223,039,235 287,456,015 108,870,677

TOTAL 483,593,128 396,326,692

d) Analysis of movements

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 396,326,692 324,842,867

Consolidation of new subsidiaries - 7,405,806

Exchange differences on opening balance of subsidiary 2,906,822 2,392,332

Increase:

- new borrowings and deposits 8,033,197,774 4,492,246,072

- exchange differences 500,306 4,777,519

- interest added to principal 25,258 35,120

Decrease:

- repayments (7,949,363,724) (4,435,278,109)

Disposal of subsidiary - (94,915)

Balance at 31 December 483,593,128 396,326,692
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30. Deposits and borrowings from other customers

a) Analysis of deposits by type of customer

31.12.2004 31.12.2003

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term

Demand deposits

- Enterprises

- in tolars 57,916,883 - 52,299,247 -

- in foreign currency 28,566,734 - 29,223,230 -

- Goverment departments and agencies

- in tolars 14,522,809 - 5,811,456 -

- in foreign currency 555,413 - 374,827 -

- Citizens

- in tolars 288,181,106 - 201,483,325 -

- in foreign currency 51,972,554 - 163,518,172 -

- Financial organisations

- in tolars 997,733 - 828,755 -

- in foreign currency 748,502 - 778,956 -

- Non-residents

- in tolars 2,338,486 - 1,891,553 -

- in foreign currency 48,763,316 - 40,584,572 -

- Non profit household service providers

- in tolars 9,460,412 - 7,922,917 -

- in foreign currency 1,210,425 - 1,146,933 -

Time deposits

- Enterprises

- in tolars 85,681,132 9,046,121 81,859,228 19,123,586

- in foreign currency 29,563,151 414,108 25,311,666 73,484

- Goverment departments and agencies

- in tolars 23,630,734 3,836,605 27,141,330 7,812,696

- in foreign currency 157,324 - 25,918 -

- Citizens

- in tolars 251,871,968 59,887,619 273,943,034 92,123,785

- in foreign currency 283,777,553 31,406,394 141,968,734 29,899,573

- Financial organisations

- in tolars 17,074,308 20,702,800 6,013,455 27,016,198

- in foreign currency 3,214,021 50,958 1,103,581 37,616

- Non-residents

- in tolars 983,481 79,441 570,955 88,875

- in foreign currency 44,870,189 10,715,053 29,385,987 8,638,775

- Non profit household service providers

- in tolars 5,501,801 367,052 5,484,765 1,217,833

- in foreign currency 1,668,076 1,008 1,840,808 35,474

Current portion of long-term deposits 58,895,002 (58,895,002) 92,430,004 (92,430,004)

1,312,123,113 77,612,157 1,192,943,408 93,637,891

TOTAL a) 1,389,735,270 1,286,581,299
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c) Analysis of deposits and borrowings from associated and other related companies

Deposits and borrowings received from associated, joint ventures and other related companies amounted to 41,293,714 thousand

tolars as at 31 December 2004 (27,975,893 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003).

Deposits and borrowings between the Group members amounted to 10,749,052 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2004

(7,340,692 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003).

b) Analysis of borrowings by type of customer

31.12.2004 31.12.2003

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term

Enterprises

- in tolars 216,397 - - -

Goverment departments and agencies

- in foreign currency - 2,576,975 - 3,772,650

Financial organisations

- in tolars 4,235,569 1,562,730 6,960,175 3,614,842

- in foreign currency - 20,682,902 390,539 9,820,797

Non residents

- in foreign currency 40,314,257 13,749,600 36,237,560 15,383,719

Current portion of long-term deposits 5,462,880 (5,462,880) 9,042,554 (9,042,554)

TOTAL b) 50,229,103 33,109,327 52,630,828 23,549,454

TOTAL a) in b) 1,362,352,216 110,721,484 1,245,574,236 117,187,345

TOTAL 1,473,073,700 1,362,761,581

d) Analysis of movements

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 1,362,761,581 1,319,803,735

Consolidation of new subsidiaries - 23,137,435

Exchange differences on opening balance of subsidiaries (1,624,246) 2,073,736

Increase:

- new borrowings and deposits 22,483,988,381 20,302,325,817

- exchange differences 2,533,989 1,644,883

- interest added to principal 20,974,066 35,859,879

Decrease:

- repayments (22,395,560,071) (20,322,083,904)

Balance at 31 December 1,473,073,700 1,362,761,581
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For a detailed maturity analysis of bonds refer to note 45 - Balance sheet maturity analysis.

b) Analysis of issued debt securities to associated and other related companies

Liabilities to associated and other related companies arising from debt securities amounted to 24,224,232 thousand tolars as at 31

December 2004 (17,266,733 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003).

Net liabilities from funds managed on behalf of third parties show liabilities from commission operating, placements with, and loans

to banks include monetary assets.

31. Debt securities

a) Analysis of debt securities by maturity

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Short-term liabilities

- in tolars 7,336,179 228,275

- in foreign currency 166,740 104,963

Long-term liabilities

- in tolars 64,722,104 65,708,030

Current portion of long-term liabilities 23,441,356 44,393,099

TOTAL 95,666,379 110,434,367

32. Other liabilities

a) Analysis by type of liability

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Suppliers 5,727,103 4,629,958

Liabilities to traders for credit cards 4,337,998 4,155,612

Derivative financial instruments 3,505,548 2,528,320

Taxes payable 3,429,195 1,560,933

Liabilities for purchased debts 2,722,282 1,718,610

Accrued salaries 1,974,831 1,999,438

Accrued interest due 1,382,185 1,343,131

Items in course of payment 1,170,154 937,131

Net liabilities from funds managed on behalf of third parties 1,099,168 70,475

Payments received in advance 509,782 1,148,799

Liabilities for received cash in foreign currency 222,738 -

Fees and commisions due 79,803 40,307

Other liabilities 2,338,525 2,272,651

TOTAL 28,499,312 22,405,365
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Other provisions were decreased due to the elimination of provisions for SIB banka and NLB Vita.

Provisions for pensions and restructuring costs include 720,000 thousand tolars of employee restructuring provisions. 

Other includes effects of the elimination of provisions for SIB banka in NLB Vita.

33. Accruals and deferred income

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Accrued interest not yet due 9,936,031 18,081,872

Items in course of collection 649,982 673,289

Accrued expenses 1,395,973 1,431,986

Deferred income 792,818 1,346,210

TOTAL 12,774,804 21,533,357

34. Provisions for liabilities

a) Analysis by type of provision

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Provisions for A graded balance sheet and off-balance sheet assets 15,877,817 13,323,791

Provisions for other off-balance sheet assets 14,093,283 13,410,007

Country risk provision 14,917,049 12,380,629

Provisions for non-credit risk 3,656,386 3,172,834

Negative goodwill 598,355 876,460

Provisions for pensions and restructuring costs 3,211,008 2,330,299

Other provisions 80,008 1,269,560

TOTAL 52,433,906 46,763,580

b) Analysis of movements

Exchange

difference Balance

Balance at on opening at 31

1 January  balance of Provisions Provisions Provisions December

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 subsidiaries made released utilized Other 2004

Provisions for A graded balance sheet and 

off balance sheet assets 13,323,791 (49,414) 10,607,755 (9,449,025) - 1,444,710 15,877,817

Provisions for other off-balance sheet assets 13,410,007 (26,659) 18,652,120 (16,770,366) - (1,171,819) 14,093,283

Negative gooodwill 876,460 - 21,048 (299,153) - - 598,355

Provisions for offsetting by groups - - 52,962 (52,962) - - -

Country risk provisions 12,380,629 60,886 15,762,112 (13,273,216) - (13,362) 14,917,049

Provisions for pensions and 

restructuring costs 2,330,299 29,299 1,053,790 (319) (202,061) - 3,211,008

Provisions for non-credit risk 3,172,834 - 580,000 - (96,448) - 3,656,386

Other provisions 1,269,560 256 75,523 (35,602) - (1,229,729) 80,008

TOTAL 46,763,580 14,368 46,805,310 (39,880,643) (298,509) (970,200) 52,433,906
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Subordinated liabilities arising from subordinated loans are commented in detail in note 35 of NLB financial statements.

Subordinated liabilities include a subordinated long-term deposit from Zavarovalnica Triglav in the amount of 400,000 thousand tolars.

The maturity of the deposit was extended to 1 April 2005 with an annex from the 29 April 2000. The fixed interest rate is GPI + 6%.

In the year 2004 the Group prepaid three subordinated loans and issued new subordinated securities. New subordinated securities

are perpetual floating rate notes that have the nature of subordinated hybrid financial instruments in accordance with the Regulation

on capital adequacy of banks and savings banks and can therefore be included in supplementary capital for the purpose of capital

adequacy calculation. The securities have no fixed maturity. A call option gives the Bank the right to redeem these securities after 10

years from the date of their issuance.

35. Provisions for general banking risks 

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 7,619,204 5,387,174

Exchange difference 35,174 76,773

Provisions made 2,450,000 2,944,503

Provisions released (501,658) (500,000)

Provisions utilized - (289,246)

Balance at 31 December 9,602,720 7,619,204

36. Subordinated liabilities

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Currency Maturity Interest rate 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Subordinated loans and deposits SIT 1.4.2005 GPI + 6 % 400,000 400,000

EUR EURIBOR + 2.5 % p.a. - 5,917,257

EUR 24.7.2012 EURIBOR + 1.2 % p.a.

till 24.7.2007, then 

EURIBOR + 1.5 % p.a. 21,576,870 21,302,127

EUR EURIBOR + 2.3 % p.a. - 8,284,161

21,976,870 35,903,545

Subordinated notes SIT FCC (EUR) + 7.5% - 1,089,178

SIT 9.6.2013 7 % 10,508,543 11,587,067

SIT 2.6.2014 3.426% 11,987,150 -

SIT after 

17.12.2014 3.775 % 23,974,300 -

in SIT with foreign currency clause 24.11.2008 5 % 3,344,071 4,004,945

in SIT with foreign currency clause 5.9 % - 1,015,760

EUR 10.2.2011 4.5 % 1,198,776 -

51,012,840 17,696,950

TOTAL 72,989,710 53,600,495
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At 31 December 2004, 7,682,015 ordinary shares represented the Group’s subscribed capital, each with the nominal value of 2,000

tolars. The shares are issued in a non-materialized form and are registered in the Centralna klirinπko depotna druæba d.d. register. All

shares are ordinary shares of the same class.

At the end of the year 2004, there were 901 shareholders of whom 259 were legal entities, 640 private individuals and 2 non-res-

idents. 

The weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding in the year 2004 is 7,682,015 (31 December 2003: 7,682,015). Basic

earnings per share as at 31 December 2004 amounted to tolars 1,128.14 (31 December 2003: 813.01).

In case the Group would have revalued its capital using the general price index the profit before tax would amount to 22,753,018

thousand tolars (31 December 2003: 11,407,031 thousand tolars), and in case of capital revaluation based on tolar to euro exchange

rate the profit before tax would amount to 20,602,082 thousand tolars (31 December 2003: 13,541,030 thousand tolars).

37. Minority interest

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 22,754,402 24,844,446

Exchange differences on opening balance of subsidiaries (230,852) 162,290

Consolidation of new subsidiaries - 1,574,312

Share of profits 1,211,321 2,261,095

Decrease due to the purchases (1,903,946) (4,664,122)

Dividends paid (975,442) (1,300,356)

Decrease in capital of subsidiary - (24,321)

Other (95,710) (98,942)

Balance at 31 December 20,759,773 22,754,402

38. Subscribed capital

a) Analysis of subscribed capital by type of shareholder

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Enterprises 1,255,618 1,245,774

Goverment departments and agencies 6,251,896 6,250,496

Banks 6,074,742 6,075,048

Other financial organisations 1,673,542 1,653,668

Citizens 108,232 139,044

TOTAL 15,364,030 15,364,030



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 4

88

According to the Bank of Slovenia's methodology the Group's total off-balance sheet items amounted to tolars 820,309,543 thou-

sand tolars (31 December 2003: 1,770,333,116 thousand tolars). In accordance with the Decree on the classification of the Balance Sheet

and Off-Balance Sheet items of Banks and Saving Banks, the Group established provisions only for contingent liabilities and commit-

ments amounting to 444,355,548 thousand tolars (31 December 2003: 384,759,063 thousand tolars). The difference to the total off-

balance sheet items of the Bank consists of transactions or items that are treated as riskless contingent liabilities such as currency spot

transactions and difference between contractual and replaceable value of derivatives.

The decrease in total off-balance sheet items in the year 2004 is the result of the change in the Bank of Slovenia's methodology.

At 31 December 2004 off-balance sheet items included liabilities related to contracts with associates and other related companies in

the amount of 5,254,200 thousand tolars (31 December 2003: 2,654,019 thousand tolars).

b) Components of equity

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Subscribed capital 15,364,030 15,364,030

Equity reserves 13,859,952 13,859,929

Profit reserves 65,994,030 63,589,253

Treasury shares reserve 490,825 490,828

Retained earnings 2,284,543 2,497,429

General capital revaluation adjustment 11,791,771 11,791,771

Specific capital revaluation adjustment 189,834 190,327

Net profit for the period 7,198,852 2,785,787

Total shareholder's equity 117,173,837 110,569,354

39. Off-balance sheet

a) Analysis by type of contingent liabilities and commitments

31.12.2004 31.12.2003

In tolars In foreign

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS currency In foreign In tolars currency

Short-term guarantees

- finance 34,170,467 22,211,574 14,190,757 17,990,847

- service 14,011,879 12,075,101 12,627,074 13,091,181

Long-term guarantees 

- finance 15,788,389 34,328,773 12,593,402 36,434,741

- service 40,349,475 13,266,013 32,152,725 28,177,078

Letters of credit - 8,209,913 - 5,888,364

Guaranteed and accepted bills - 6,656,073 - 4,357,041

Commitments to extend credit 171,840,001 63,498,303 158,469,546 43,607,196

Other contingent liabilities 1,463,066 3,337,664 224,856 -

Recoverable amount of derivative financial instruments 997,229 2,151,628 812,171 4,142,084

278,620,506 165,735,042 231,070,531 153,688,532

Provisions (6,956,745) (7,136,538) (7,259,404) (6,150,603)

271,663,761 158,598,504 223,811,127 147,537,929

TOTAL 430,262,265 371,349,056
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Certain derivative financial instruments, while providing effective economic hedges under the risk management strategy of the

Group, do not qualify for hedge accounting under the specific accounting rules and are therefore treated as derivatives held for trad-

ing.

Financial statements of the Group for the year 2004 include provisions for financial derivative instruments in the amount of 37,275

thousand tolars (14,534 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003).

In the year 2004 the Central bank offered Slovenian banks a possibility of permanent purchase of foreign currencies, which result-

ed in the reduction of the foreign currency swaps with the Bank of Slovenia.

All assets are pledged for liabilities related to received deposits and loans.

40. Funds managed on behalf of third parties

The Group manages assets totaling 290,764,816 thousand tolars (139,722,325 thousand as at 31 December 2003) on behalf of

third parties. Managed funds are accounted for separately from those of the Group. Income and expenses of these funds are for the

account of the respective fund and no liability falls on the Group in connection with these transactions. The Group is compensated

for its services by fees chargeable to the funds.

b) Analysis of derivative financial instruments by type

31.12.2004 31.12.2003

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term

Forward contracts

- for hedging - - 239,463 -

- for trading 19,858,624 3,245,230 62,563,677 1,227,736

Swaps with the Bank of Slovenia 170,219,916 - 822,556,848 -

Swaps 41,427,177 49,408,644 44,460,080 -

Options 9,627,025 7,653,969 15,352,875 -

Futures 477,338 - 733,740 -

Forward contracts to buy or sell securities 3,566,658 2,563,497 1,623,977 526,792

245,176,738 62,871,340 947,530,660 1,754,528

TOTAL 308,048,078 949,285,188

c) Assets pledged 

Assets pledged as collateral Liabilities

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Bonds 63,044,106 58,305,258 58,122,478 53,098,071

Finance lease receivables 1,617,179 2,026,535 1,617,179 2,026,535

Factoring receivables 2,090,673 955,734 1,576,320 727,740

TOTAL 66,751,958 61,287,527 61,315,977 55,852,346
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Profit for the period and subscribed capital of the above listed companies are adjusted according to Slovenian Accounting Standards

and group accounting policy.

* Equity decreased for own shares is used in the calculation of the participation in equity and the share of voting power held.

41. Subsidiaries

The Bank's

share of

subscribed

capital as

at 31 Profit Ownership Voting

The subsidiaries are: Country of December for the Interest Power

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS incorporation  2004 period in % Held in %

Group Banka Domæale, Domæale Slovenia 8,652,723 1,180,850 59.80 59.80

Koroπka banka d.d., Slovenj Gradec Slovenia 12,068,543 1,008,628 61.91 61.91

Banka Zasavje d.d., Trbovlje Slovenia 6,356,391 565,262 70.08 70.08

Group LHB Internationale Handelsbank, Frankfurt / Main Germany 16,932,719 423,686 56.01 56.01

Group Tutunska Banka AD, Skopje Republic of Macedonia 9,806,539 1,290,375 73.12 77.20

CBS Bank d.d., Sarajevo Republic of Bosnia and Herzegovina 2,365,333 (180,424) 100 100

Montenegrobanka AD, Podgorica Republic of Srbija and Montenegro 3,010,301 11,991 91.52 91.52

Group LB Leasing d.o.o., Ljubljana Slovenia 2,735,680 385,590 100 100

LB Leasing Maribor d.o.o., Maribor Slovenia 302,984 109,609 100 100

LB Maksima d.o.o., Ljubljana Slovenia 639,561 192,671 100 100

Fit Leasing d.o.o., Velenje Slovenia (87,301) 34,609 100 100

NLB Skladi d.o.o., Ljubljana Slovenia 545,527 (154,473) 100 100

Group LB InterFinanz, Zürich Switzerland 2,485,336 544,471 100 100

Group NLB Factoring a.s., Ostrava Czech Republic 916,657 212,562 100 100

Group NLB Propria d.o.o., Ljubljana Slovenia 2,839,038 (189,754) 100 100

Prospera plus d.o.o., Ljubljana Slovenia 121,624 2,500 100 100

CBS Invest d.o.o., Sarajevo Republic of Bosnia and Herzegovina 12,996 669 100 100

Slovenska Investicijska Banka Slovenia (2,310,268) 122,697 80.85 80.85



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 4

91

Income includes gross salaries, shares in profit, profit sharing bonus, vacation bonus, management insurance, jubilee bonuses and

additional pension insurance.

Income of the Management Board members includes only income of the Management Board of the parent bank.

42. Related party transactions

Balance at Balance at Interest Repayments

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003 rate in 2004

Loans and advances to:

- Management Board members 49,872 47,778 GPI + 1.3% 2,037

- Supervisory Board members 7,344 557 1,556

- other employees by individual contracts 520,977 528,089 GPI + 1.3% 85,293

- NLB Bank Shareholder's 106,295,476 93,939,961

Securities:

- NLB Bank Shareholder's 195,791,296 211,840,299

Deposits from:

- Management Board members 33,097 13,259

- Supervisory Board members 10,168 10,054

- other employees by individual contracts 837,020 644,249

- NLB Bank Shareholder's 69,621,215 82,526,757

Borrowings from:

- NLB Bank Shareholder's 3,709,491 3,905,927

Debt securities:

- NLB Bank Shareholder's 37,147,586 52,585,017

Subordinated liabilities:

- NLB Bank Shareholder's 27,203,391 35,651,861

Contingent liabilities and commitments

- other employees by individual contracts 4,977 1,220

2004 2003

Income:

- Management Board members 401,172 260,545

- Supervisory Board members 3,400 4,787

- other employees by individual contracts 3,243,123 2,777,543
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Placements with, and loans to other banks

The estimated fair value of the deposits is based on dis-

counted cash flows using prevailing money market interest

rates for debts with similar credit risk and remaining maturity.

Loans and advances to other customers

Loans and advances are net of specific provisions for impair-

ment. The Bank uses a discount rate adjustment approach. In

other words, the stream of contracted cash flows forms the

basis for the present value computation, and the rates used to

discount those cash flows reflect the uncertainties of cash

flows. 

Debt securities held to maturity

The fair value of securities held to maturity is based on their

quoted market price or calculated by using discounted cash

flows techniques and is equal or higher to the carrying value

of these securities.

Deposits

The fair value to the depository institution of a demand

deposit depends on the expectations of the timing and

amounts of withdrawals of the existing balance, the level of

prevailing interest rates with similar terms, the costs of servic-

ing the deposit and the bank’s own credit risk. This is essen-

tially important for core demand deposits, which have a posi-

tive fair value.

The estimated fair value of other deposits is based on dis-

counted cash flows using interest rates for new deposits with

similar remaining maturity.

Debt securities

The fair value of issued securities is based on their quoted

market price or calculated by using discounted cash flows

techniques.

43. Fair values of financial instruments

2004 2003

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS amount value amount value

Placements with, and loans to other banks 172,952,577 175,815,952 130,486,015 132,804,061

Loans and advances to customers 1,247,967,984 1,284,088,944 1,035,545,234 1,072,833,783

Debt securities available for sale 550,079,626 556,372,497 634,757,091 639,957,872

Debt securities held to maturity 37,354,939 38,030,607 31,561,542 30,551,878

Investments in other companies 13,737,039 14,913,748 13,488,113 14,359,030

Securities held for trading 144,248,876 150,391,552 110,608,990 116,832,991

Derivative financial instruments 1,242,207 1,874,287 2,702,752 3,307,693

Deposits from banks 121,150,713 118,979,420 139,179,773 139,031,758

Borrowings from banks 362,442,415 359,275,184 257,146,919 254,609,246

Deposits from customers 1,389,735,270 1,359,263,017 1,286,581,299 1,262,804,245

Borrowings from customers 83,338,430 83,076,134 76,180,282 75,233,763

Debt securities 95,666,379 98,433,652 110,434,367 112,294,341

Subordinated liabilities 72,989,710 72,279,476 53,600,495 52,796,724

Derivative financial instruments 3,505,548 3,505,548 2,528,320 2,531,986



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 4

93

The Group’s operations are divided in segments, which in accordance with Group’s strategy represent its most important business

segments. Segment Other includes above all the Group’s operation in the field of real estate management and other non-financial

operation. The income is: interest income, received commissions, income from capital and other investments, income from financial

transactions, other operating income and extraordinary profit.

Geographical analysis includes the division between geographical segments according to the country in which individual Group

company is located.

44. Segmental analysis

a) Business segments

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Trade Asset

2004 Banking finance Leasing management Other Total

Income 210,150,248 11,495,571 5,055,256 1,037,133 2,444,642 230,182,850

Profit before tax 15,584,627 1,914,582 1,799,008 436,956 (519,879) 19,215,294

Total assets 2,247,150,756 69,031,404 45,522,294 1,755,572 3,107,243 2,366,567,269

Liabilities 2,176,329,865 48,625,852 23,189,790 536,435 711,490 2,249,393,432

2003

Income 245,472,141 7,665,980 4,389,182 661,532 5,145,595 263,334,430

Profit before tax 14,292,563 574,550 1,856,613 (28,810) (96,147) 16,598,770

Total assets 2,069,317,109 50,395,516 30,842,406 1,402,128 2,811,238 2,154,768,397

Liabilities 1,993,896,970 35,812,509 13,660,015 548,913 280,636 2,044,199,043

b) Geographical segments

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS South

East West 

2004 Slovenia Europe Europe Total

Income 191,557,493 14,089,874 24,535,483 230,182,850

Profit before tax 16,198,182 1,969,617 1,047,495 19,215,294

Total assets 1,944,474,137 119,278,292 302,814,840 2,366,567,269

Liabilities 1,897,268,161 88,142,159 263,983,112 2,249,393,432

2003

Income 232,103,020 12,055,400 19,176,010 263,334,430

Profit before tax 11,376,329 2,180,070 3,042,371 16,598,770

Total assets 1,832,409,670 68,049,079 254,309,647 2,154,768,397

Liabilities 1,759,082,449 54,755,658 230,360,936 2,044,199,043
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Up to 1 Month to 3 Months 1 Year to Over

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 1 month 3 Months to 1 Year 5 Years 5 Years TOTAL

Cash and balances with Central Bank 75,372,472 - - - - 75,372,472

Placements with, and loans to, other banks 49,273,572 8,534,644 15,534,276 97,547,284 2,062,801 172,952,577

Loans and advances to customers 70,054,932 116,204,741 386,748,109 475,453,240 199,506,962 1,247,967,984

Debt securities not held for trading 130,950,689 175,275,915 31,793,444 158,083,850 91,330,667 587,434,565

Securities held for trading 135,436,437 3,802,849 5,009,590 - - 144,248,876

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures - - - - 11,231,983 11,231,983

Investments in other companies - - - 615,036 1,890,020 2,505,056

Intangible assets - - 10,620 4,230,202 17,251,395 21,492,217

Property and equipment - - - 13,224,499 46,560,928 59,785,427

Treasury shares - - - 121,147 369,678 490,825

Other assets 19,823,421 1,132,426 1,961,598 4,464,344 828,506 28,210,295

Accrued income and deferred expenses 2,898,333 2,296,560 9,680,099 - - 14,874,992

TOTAL ASSETS 483,809,856 307,247,135 450,737,736 753,739,602 371,032,940 2,366,567,269

Deposits and borrowings from banks 101,231,647 78,639,826 80,682,420 194,163,435 28,875,800 483,593,128

Deposits and borrowings from other customers 651,614,508 340,276,439 370,461,269 94,772,752 15,948,732 1,473,073,700

Debt securities 11,180,966 7,693,518 12,069,791 51,662,659 13,059,445 95,666,379

Other liabilities 19,022,532 3,129,906 6,175,745 171,129 - 28,499,312

Accruals and deferred income 3,841,867 1,797,202 6,436,093 699,642 - 12,774,804

Provisions for liabilities and charges 2,816,311 1,736,523 7,727,241 30,991,912 9,161,919 52,433,906

Provisions for general banking risks - - - - 9,602,720 9,602,720

Subordinated liabilities - - 400,000 3,344,071 69,245,639 72,989,710

Minority interest - - - - 20,759,773 20,759,773

Subscribed capital - - - - 15,364,030 15,364,030

Equity reserves - - - - 13,859,952 13,859,952

Profit reserves - - - - 66,484,855 66,484,855

Capital revaluation adjustment - - - - 11,981,605 11,981,605

- general capital revaluation adjustment - - - - 11,791,771 11,791,771

- specific capital revaluation adjustment - - - - 189,834 189,834

Consolidation capital adjustment - - - - 399 399

Retained earnings - - - - 2,284,543 2,284,543

Net profit for the period - - - - 7,198,453 7,198,453

TOTAL LIABILITIES 789,707,831 433,273,414 483,952,559 375,805,600 283,827,865 2,366,567,269

DIFFERENCE BETWEEN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (305,897,975) (126,026,279) (33,214,823) 377,934,002 87,205,075 -

The balance sheet maturity analysis as at 31 December 2004 is as follows:

45. Balance sheet maturity analysis
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Tolars with

foreign 

currency

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Tolars clause EUR USD Other Total

Cash and balances with Central Bank 49,640,472 - 20,248,645 657,430 4,825,925 75,372,472

Placements with, and loans to, other banks 83,268,660 117,674 62,554,723 18,677,393 8,334,127 172,952,577

Loans and advances to customers 567,924,543 48,681,399 536,830,050 29,650,072 64,881,920 1,247,967,984

Debt securities not held for trading 284,478,428 7,005,838 278,500,597 13,635,887 3,813,815 587,434,565

Securities held for trading 91,836,127 8,445,626 28,569,797 12,736,298 2,661,028 144,248,876

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures 8,573,641 - 2,184,508 - 473,834 11,231,983

Investments in other companies 1,355,901 - 468,929 - 680,226 2,505,056

Intangible assets 20,865,594 16,947 451,794 - 157,882 21,492,217

Property and equipment 45,679,506 - 10,292,545 - 3,813,376 59,785,427

Treasury shares 490,825 - - - - 490,825

Other assets 21,425,714 368,692 3,247,115 970,027 2,198,747 28,210,295

Accrued income and deferred expenses 11,066,821 147,422 2,902,996 309,890 447,863 14,874,992

TOTAL ASSETS 1,186,606,232 64,783,598 946,251,699 76,636,997 92,288,743 2,366,567,269

Deposits and borrowings from banks 11,455,332 339,934 422,083,697 22,531,214 27,182,951 483,593,128

Deposits and borrowings from other customers 852,444,372 5,650,815 524,667,772 50,913,915 39,396,826 1,473,073,700

Debt securities 81,942,345 13,557,294 71,848 94,892 - 95,666,379

Other liabilities 18,619,892 31,393 4,873,823 1,361,342 3,612,862 28,499,312

Accruals and deferred income 8,020,813 278,468 3,958,251 104,878 412,394 12,774,804

Provisions for liabilities and charges 21,510,542 302,001 22,131,965 1,566,744 6,922,654 52,433,906

Provisions for general banking risks 7,202,253 - 2,400,467 - - 9,602,720

Subordinated liabilities 10,908,544 4,542,846 57,538,320 - - 72,989,710

Minority interest 9,649,462 - 6,479,460 - 4,630,851 20,759,773

Subscribed capital 15,364,030 - - - - 15,364,030

Equity reserves 13,859,952 - - - - 13,859,952

Profit reserves 65,269,920 - 1,067,773 - 147,162 66,484,855

Capital revaluation adjustment 11,981,395 - - - 210 11,981,605

- general capital revaluation adjustment 11,791,561 - - - 210 11,791,771

- specific capital revaluation adjustment 189,834 - - - - 189,834

Consolidation capital adjustment - - - - 399 399

Retained earnings 3,793,711 - 745,686 - (2,254,854) 2,284,543

Net profit for the period 5,448,906 - (296,987) - 2,046,534 7,198,453

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,137,471,469 24,702,751 1,045,722,075 76,572,985 82,097,989 2,366,567,269

DIFFERENCE BETWEEN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 49,134,763 40,080,847 (99,470,376) 64,012 10,190,754 -

The balance sheet analysis by currency as at 31 December 2004 is as follows:

46. Balance sheet analysis by currency
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Non interest- Interest- Up to 1 Month to 3 Months Over

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Total bearing bearing 1 Month 3 Months to 1 Year 1 Year

Cash and balances with Central Bank 75,372,472 33,262,308 42,110,164 42,110,164 - - -

Placements with, and loans to, other banks 172,952,577 578,676 172,373,901 121,236,403 29,092,332 18,156,667 3,888,499

Loans and advances to customers 1,247,967,984 917,868 1,247,050,116 453,342,211 287,934,340 272,044,100 233,729,465

Debt securities not held for trading 587,434,565 - 587,434,565 261,037,006 224,227,237 30,947,188 71,223,134

Securities held for trading 144,248,876 22,976,092 121,272,784 110,861,648 1,641,078 6,579,015 2,191,043

Investments in associated companies 

and joint ventures 11,231,983 11,231,983 - - - - -

Investments in other companies 2,505,056 2,505,056 - - - - -

Intangible assets 21,492,217 21,492,217 - - - - -

Property and equipment 59,785,427 59,785,427 - - - - -

Treasury shares 490,825 490,825 - - - - -

Other assets 28,210,295 27,454,759 755,536 755,536 - - -

Accrued income and deferred expenses 14,874,992 14,874,992 - - - - -

TOTAL ASSETS 2,366,567,269 195,570,203 2,170,997,066 989,342,968 542,894,987 327,726,970 311,032,141

Deposits and borrowings from banks 483,593,128 181,757 483,411,371 111,495,209 110,275,253 242,238,272 19,402,637

Deposits and borrowings from other customers 1,473,073,700 5,476,897 1,467,596,803 1,074,755,980 251,814,969 122,841,599 18,184,255

Debt securities 95,666,379 - 95,666,379 40,014,573 3,921,497 10,218,241 41,512,068

Other liabilities 28,499,312 28,499,312 - - - - -

Accruals and deferred income 12,774,804 12,774,804 - - - - -

Provisions for liabilities and charges 52,433,906 52,433,906 - - - - -

Provisions for general banking risks 9,602,720 9,602,720 - - - - -

Subordinated liabilities 72,989,710 - 72,989,710 400,000 35,889,857 21,533,268 15,166,585

Minority interest 20,759,773 20,759,773 - - - - -

Subscribed capital 15,364,030 15,364,030 - - - - -

Equity reserves 13,859,952 13,859,952 - - - - -

Profit reserves 66,484,855 66,484,855 - - - - -

Capital revaluation adjustment 11,981,605 11,981,605 - - - - -

- general capital revaluation adjustment 11,791,771 11,791,771 - - - - -

- specific capital revaluation adjustment 189,834 189,834 - - - - -

Consolidation capital adjustment 399 399 - - - - -

Retained earnings 2,284,543 2,284,543 - - - - -

Net profit for the period 7,198,453 7,198,453 - - - - -

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,366,567,269 246,903,006 2,119,664,263 1,226,665,762 401,901,576 396,831,380 94,265,545

DIFFERENCE BETWEEN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES - (51,332,803) 51,332,803 (237,322,794) 140,993,411 (69,104,410) 216,766,596

The balance sheet analysis by interest rate as at 31 December 2004 is as follows:

47. Balance sheet analysis by interest rate
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* Interest rates based on interest income and expenses increased by credit commissions.

Interest rates are calculated on the basis of cumulative interest income and expenses, and on daily average of NLB balances and

quarterly average of the rest of the Group companies balances of interest-bearing assets and liabilities. Interest income related to the

items Placement with, and loans to other banks and Loans and advances to customers are increased by respective commissions for

granting those loans.

48. Effective interest rates

2004 2003

In foreign In foreign 

IN % In tolars currency In tolars currency

ASSETS

Cash and balances with Central Bank 0.90 0.00 0.88 0.00

Placements with, and loans to, other banks * 4.37 3.66 6.03 2.80

Loans and advances to customers * 5.85 3.30 11.96 3.57

Debt securities not held for trading 11.05 3.32 10.77 2.10

Securities held for trading 7.72 1.87 6.02 3.38

Other assets 0.58 0.00 0.27 0.00

TOTAL ASSETS 8.43 2.63 9.62 2.86

LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks 7.22 1.74 8.56 2.81

Borrowings from banks 3.12 1.94 3.63 2.41

Deposits from other customers 3.58 0.71 5.78 1.29

Borrowings from other customers 4.71 2.11 3.54 0.38

Debt securities 8.78 0.23 9.57 0.02

Other liabilities 0.45 0.00 0.21 0.00

Subordinated liabilities 5.43 3.56 5.72 4.23

TOTAL LIABILITIES 3.66 1.22 5.28 2.86
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IN BILLION TOLARS

1. BALANCE SHEET 31.12.2002 31.12.2003 31.12.2004

2. Total assets 1.619,2 1.717,3 1.864,8

3. Non-bank customer deposits & borrowings 1.118,6 1.120,2 1.188,2

4. a) corporate & state 397,6 348,7 372,5

5. b) retail 721,0 771,5 815,7

6. Non-bank customer loans 704,1 779,4 900,4

7. a) corporate & state 544,2 608,5 706,3

8. b) retail 159,9 170,9 194,1

9. Total equity 112,6 115,9 121,1

10. Total Provisions 79,1 84,6 95,7

11. Off-balance sheet 1.410,1 1.731,1 748,0

12. INCOME STATEMENT 2002 2003 2004

13. Net interest income 43,4 41,7 42,9

14. Net non-interest income 25,0 25,2 34,0

15. General administrative expenses 40,6 40,1 40,2

16. Depreciation 5,5 6,6 7,7

17. Net provisions 9,5 9,0 15,0

18. Profit before Tax 12,6 11,0 13,8

19. Tax on profit 5,0 4,7 6,0

20. Other Taxes 1,3 0,8 0,9

Number of employees (at the year-end) 3.953 3.805 3.619

SHARES

Number of shareholders 883 919 901

Number of shares 7.682.015 7.682.015 7.682.015

Nominal value of a share 2.000 2.000 2.000

Book value of a share 14.656 15.086 15.764

21. FIGURES in % in % in %

22. a) Capital

23. - amount 92,7 102,1 127,6

24. - capital adequacy ratio 10,7 10,2 11,7

25. b) Asset quality

26. - non-performing asset portfolio (B, C, D, E) total assets before charge for provisions 11,49 11,93 12,08

27. - special provisions for on-balance sheet/total assets before charge for provisions 3,74 3,93 3,98

28. - special provisions for on-balance sheet/non-performing asset portfolio (B, C, D, E) 27,77 27,11 32,93

29. c) Profitability

30. - net interest margin 3,23 2,70 2,59

31. - return on total average assets before tax 0,87 0,66 0,78

32. - return on total average assets after tax 0,43 0,33 0,42

33. - return on capital before tax 12,14 9,85 11,93

34. - return on capital after tax 6,06 4,91 5,95

35. d) Total operating expenses

36. - total operating expenses/average total assets 3,19 2,81 2,71

37. e) Liquidity

38. - avg. liquidity assets/avg. demand deposits 29,44 30,84 23,67

39. - secondary liquidity/demand deposits 112,94 100,69 80,03

* figures 29. in 30. for 2002, 2003 and 2004 include also country risk provisions

Key figures of NLB in accordance to Bank of Slovenia methodology
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To the Members of Nova Ljubljanska banka d.d., Ljubljana

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Nova Ljubljanska banka d.d. Ljubljana (the Bank) standing alone as of 31

December 2004 and the related statements of income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial

statements are the responsibility of the management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based

on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we plan and perform

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes

examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assess-

ing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial state-

ment presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Bank standing alone as of 31 December

2004 and of the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Slovenian Accounting

Standards.

Ljubljana, 22 April 2005 PricewaterhouseCoopers d.o.o.

Joæe Plevnik, certified auditor Francois Mattelaer, partner

This audit report has been translated from the Slovenian original. This translation is provided for reference purposes only and is not

to be signed. 

Report of the auditors
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Income statement

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Notes 2004 2003

Interest and similar income 3 83,193,455 99,687,633

Interest and similar expenses 3 (45,265,766) (64,800,375)

Net interest and similar income 37,927,689 34,887,258

Income from capital investments and securities held for trading 4 9,088,962 10,471,334

Fees and commissions income 5 26,692,965 23,098,669

Fees and commissions expenses 5 (5,642,699) (4,333,843)

Net fees and commissions 21,050,266 18,764,826

Gains from financial transactions 6 52,266,978 71,629,605

Losses from financial transactions 6 (45,250,696) (71,477,644)

Net profit from financial transactions 7,016,282 151,961

Other operating income 7 2,683,428 3,037,060

Employee costs 8 (25,285,007) (23,995,048)

Cost of material and services 9 (14,963,072) (16,104,761)

Depreciation and revaluation expenses from property, equipment and intangible assets 10 (7,667,604) (6,578,882)

Other operating expenses 11 (1,902,465) (703,910)

Net provisions for losses on loans and write offs less any recoveries 12 (12,072,470) (7,060,615)

Provisions for general banking risks 34 (2,150,000) (1,900,000)

OPERATING PROFIT 13,726,009 10,969,223

Extraordinary income 13 67,760 49,099

Extraordinary expenses 13 (3,868) (3,051)

Extraordinary profit (loss) 63,892 46,048

PROFIT  BEFORE TAX 13,789,901 11,015,271

Tax on profit 14 (5,973,193) (4,679,105)

Other taxes 14 (935,971) (842,813)

NET PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 6,880,737 5,493,353
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The Management Board authorised for issue the financial statements and notes to the financial statements.

Ljubljana, 22 April 2005

Balance sheet 

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Notes 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Cash and balances with the Central Bank 15 50,941,783 51,220,012

Placements with, and loans to, other banks 16 189,875,786 120,988,996

Loans and advances to customers 17 900,389,684 779,362,127

Debt securities not held for trading 18 454,054,305 535,071,514

Securities held for trading 19 132,716,261 100,775,593

Investments in subsidiaries, associated and jointly controlled companies 20 50,511,108 45,692,997

Investments in other companies 21 620,540 719,080

Intangible assets 22 18,479,736 15,150,348

Property and equipment 23 37,279,282 37,903,755

Other assets 25 18,237,351 19,196,870

Accrued income and deferred expenses 26 11,665,963 11,176,487

TOTAL ASSETS 1,864,771,799 1,717,257,779

Deposits and borrowings from banks 28 315,266,777 252,670,722

Deposits and borrowings from other customers 29 1,188,191,151 1,120,183,949

Debt securities 30 95,467,606 110,011,380

Other liabilities 31 19,254,022 14,224,440

Accruals and deferred income 32 9,526,396 17,649,687

Provisions for liabilities and charges 33 36,777,485 31,688,451

Provisions for general banking risks 34 5,989,370 3,839,370

Subordinated liabilities 35 73,201,428 51,095,558

Subscribed capital 36 15,364,030 15,364,030

Equity reserves 36 13,603,399 13,603,376

Profit reserves 36 70,814,025 66,824,307

Capital revaluation adjustment 36 17,875,740 17,355,795

Retained earnings 36 2 37

Net profit for the period 36 3,440,368 2,746,677

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,864,771,799 1,717,257,779

OFF-BALANCE SHEET 37 747,661,027 1,731,126,938

Pierre Van Keirsbilck

Member of the

Management Board

Andrej Hazabent

Member of the

Management Board

Marjan Kramar

President of the

Management Board

& CEO

Erik Luts

Member of the

Management

Board

Borut StaniË

Member of the

Management

Board

Matej Narat

Member of the

Management

Board
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IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Inflows from operating activities 127,004,549 132,077,337

Interest and similar income 81,045,321 94,474,441

Fees and commissions income 26,678,898 23,003,387

Recoveries from loans previously written off 442,572 237,219

Income from capital investments and securities held for trading 7,885,715 10,721,497

Net profit from financial transaction 8,317,362 985,219

Other operating income 2,634,681 2,655,574

Outflows from operating activities (103,280,954) (114,470,186)

Interest and similar expenses (53,628,751) (60,059,221)

Fees and commissions expenses (5,602,693) (4,326,048)

Employee costs (25,416,623) (24,628,767)

Material and services costs (13,953,999) (17,537,799)

Other operating expenses (172,396) (1,577,560)

Taxation paid (4,506,492) (6,340,791)

Operating income before changes in operating assets and liabilities 23,723,595 17,607,151 

Increase in operating assets (223,790,694) (84,408,612)

Net increase in loans to banks (93,742,560) (16,625,554)

Net increase in loans and advances to customers (124,283,922) (73,035,658)

Net decrease in securities held for trading (2,367,036) 515,899

Net (increase)/decrease in other operating assets (3,397,176) 4,736,701 

(Decrease)/increase in operating liabilities 47,212,999 (1,482,368)

Net increase in deposits from banks (13,563,280) 13,187,962 

Net (decrease)/increase in deposits from other customers 60,395,285 (10,744,081)

Net decrease in other operating liabilities 380,994 (3,926,249)

Net inflow from operating activities (152,854,100) (68,283,829)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Inflows from investing activities 198,457,547 167,226,368

Sale of debt securities 198,089,852 160,874,781

Sale of investment in subsidiaries, associated companies and other companies 304,717 4,454,123

Sale of property, equipment and intangible assets 62,978 1,897,464

Outflows from investing activities (72,517,037) (251,457,147)

Purchase of debt securities (59,100,533) (232,387,425)

Purchase of investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and other companies (3,614,890) (9,560,213)

Purchase of property, equipment and intangible assets (9,801,614) (9,509,509)

Net inflow or net outflow from investing activities 125,940,510 (84,230,779)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Inflows from financing activities 866,795,282 159,799,274

Borrowings from banks and other customers 778,949,970 106,631,711

Increase in debt securities and subordinated liabilities 87,845,287 53,167,563

Sale of treasury shares 25 -

Outflows from financing activities (779,707,944) (80,810,640)

Dividends paid (2,197,228) (2,512,019)

Debts repayment (696,751,121) (73,462,866)

Decrease in debt securities and subordinated liabilities (80,759,595) (4,835,755)

Net inflow or net outflow from financing activities 87,087,338 78,988,634 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1,069,440 2,749,697

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 465,684,646 404,441,458

Financial result for the period 61,243,188 (70,776,277)

Cash at the beginning of period 404,441,458 475,217,735
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Statements of changes in equity

2004

General Specific Net Total

Treasury capital capital profit share-

Subscribed Equity Profit shares Retained revaluation revaluation for the holders

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS capital reserves reserves fund profits adjustment adjustment period equity

BALANCE AT 1 JANUARY 2004 15,364,030 13,603,376 66,333,481 490,826 37 11,791,560 5,564,235 2,746,677 115,894,222

Transfers to equity - 23 - - - - 1,032,841 6,880,737 7,913,601

Specific capital revaluation - - - - - - 1,032,841 - 1,032,841

Net profit (loss) for the period - - - - - - - 6,880,737 6,880,737

Other - 23 - - - - - - 23

Transfers within equity - - 3,989,720 (2) (35) - - (3,989,683) -

Allocation of net profit for the period - - 3,440,369 - - - - (3,440,369) -

Transfer of capital items to own shares fund - - - (2) 2 - - - -

Other - - 549,351 - (37) - - (549,314) -

Transfers from equity - - - - - - (512,896) (2,197,363) (2,710,259)

Dividends paid - - - - - - - (2,197,363) (2,197,363)

Transfer of revaluation gains on financial 

assets to income statement - - - - - - (512,896) - (512,896)

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2004 15,364,030 13,603,399 70,323,201 490,824 2 11,791,560 6,084,180 3,440,368 121,097,564

2003

General Specific Net Total

Treasury capital capital profit share-

Subscribed Equity Profit shares Retained revaluation revaluation for the holders

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS capital reserves reserves fund profits adjustment adjustment period equity

BALANCE AT 1 JANUARY 2003 15,364,030 13,603,376 63,189,341 490,826 5,446 11,791,560 4,954,069 3,190,321 112,588,969

Transfers to equity - - - - 37 - 1,070,663 5,493,353 6,564,053

Specific capital revaluation - - - - - - 1,070,663 - 1,070,663

Net profit (loss) for the period - - - - - - - 5,493,353 5,493,353

Other - - - - 37 - - - 37

Transfers within equity - - 3,430,424 - - - - (3,424,978) -

Allocation of net profit for the period - - 2,746,676 - - - - (2,746,676) -

Other - - 683,748 - (5,446) - - (678,302) -

Transfers from equity - - (286,284) - - - (460,497) (2,512,019) (3,258,800)

Dividends paid - - - - - - - (2,512,019) (2,512,019)

Transfer of revaluation gains on financial 

assets to income statement - - - - - - (460,497) - (460,497)

Other - - (286,284) - - - - - (286,284)

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2003 15,364,030 13,603,376 66,333,481 490,826 37 11,791,560 5,564,235 2,746,677 115,894,222
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Statement of management’s responsibilities

The management are responsible for preparing financial statements for each financial year that present fairly the state of affairs of

the Bank as at the end of the financial year and of the profit or loss for that period.

The management confirm that suitable accounting policies have been used and applied consistently and reasonable and prudent

judgements and estimates have been made in the preparation of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2004. The

management also confirm that applicable legislation and Slovenian Accounting Standards have been followed and that the financial

statements have been prepared on the going concern basis.

The management are responsible for keeping proper accounting records, for taking reasonable steps to safeguard the assets of the

Bank and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The tax authorities may at any time inspect the books and records within 5 years subsequent to the reported tax year, and may impose

additional tax assessments and penalties.

Management Board

Pierre Van Keirsbilck

Member of the

Management Board

Andrej Hazabent

Member of the

Management Board

Marjan Kramar

President of the

Management Board

& CEO

Erik Luts

Member of the

Management

Board

Borut StaniË

Member of the

Management

Board

Matej Narat

Member of the

Management

Board
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1. General information

Nova Ljubljanska banka d,d,, Ljubljana ("the Bank" or

"NLB") is incorporated in Slovenia as a joint stock company

providing universal banking services.

The majority shareholders of Nova Ljubljanska banka d.d. are

the Republic of Slovenia, holding 35.41 % of the shares and

KBC Bank N.V., Brussels ("KBC Bank"), holding 34 % of the

shares.

The address of its registered office is:

Nova Ljubljanska banka d.d., Ljubljana, Trg republike 2,

Ljubljana

The increase in the general price index for the year 2004

was 3.2 % (2003: 4.6 %). The exchange rate changed from

236.7 tolars to the euro at 31 December 2003 to 239.7 tolars

to the euro at 31 December 2004, and from 189.4 tolars to

the US dollar at 31 December 2003 to 176.2 tolars to the US

dollar at 31 December 2004.

2. Significant accounting policies 

The Bank’s financial statements have been prepared in

accordance with Slovene Accounting Standards, and Bank of

Slovenia’s regulations, represented by the Decree on the

Classification of Balance Sheet and Off-Balance Sheet Asset

Items of Banks and Savings Banks and the Decree on

Establishing Specific Provisions of Banks and Savings Banks

and other Bank of Slovenia’s regulations.

The principal accounting policies applied by the Bank for

the preparation the financial statements are set out below:

a) Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies

Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are converted into

the tolar equivalent at the mid-market exchange rate of the

Bank of Slovenia as at the last day of the accounting period.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are included in the income

statement.

b) Interest, fees and commissions 

Interest, fees and commissions expenses are included in the

income statement as soon as they are accrued, while interest,

commission and fee income is included in the income statement

depending on the grading of the client. According to the Bank

of Slovenia’s regulations the income from performing assets (A

and B grading groups) is included in the income statement as

soon as it occurs. Income from non-performing loans (C, D and

E grading groups) is excluded until paid, and reported as

allowances for bad and doubtful interest under other assets.

In the cash flow statement interest is presented as cash

flows from operating activities.

c) Investments in securities

Investments in securities held for trading and investments in

debt securities available for sale are initially recorded at cost.

Subsequently they are stated at lower of the cost or fair value.

The fair value is based on a quoted market price at the bal-

ance sheet date. If a quoted market price is not available, the

fair value of the securities is calculated using discounted cash

flow techniques or it is assessed in accordance with the grad-

ing group of the issuer. Where discounted cash flow tech-

niques are used, estimated future cash flows are based on

management's best estimates and the discount rate is a mar-

ket related rate at the balance sheet date for a financial

instrument with similar terms and conditions. 

Held to maturity securities are initially measured at cost.

After initial recognition they are stated in the balance sheet at

the amount of the principal outstanding less any impairment.

The Bank use FIFO method for determination of the profit

or loss on derecognition of securities.

d) Treasury shares

Treasury shares constitute a part of the company's share

capital, presented as assets in the balance sheet. Gains and

losses on sale of treasury shares are credited or charged to

reserves.

e) Investments in subsidiaries, associates, jointly con-

trolled companies and investments in other companies

Investments in capital are initially measured at cost, being

the amount of cash paid or the fair value of consideration

given.

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled

companies are accounted for using the equity method, while

investments in other companies are accounted for using the

cost method.

The bank's share of profits and losses of subsidiaries is

included in the income statement as soon as it is accrued,

while the share of the profits of associates and jointly con-

trolled companies is until payment reported in the equity.

The bank's share of losses of associates and jointly con-

trolled companies is included in the income statement imme-

diately.

Profits of other companies are recognised in the income

statement only to the extent of dividends received.

Notes to financial statements
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If there is an indication that investments may be impaired each

individual investment is assessed. Any impairment is recog-

nised immediately in the income statement.

f) Derivative financial instruments 

For the accounting purposes derivative financial instru-

ments are designated for hedging or for trading purpose. The

contract and notional amount of derivative financial instru-

ments is recorded in the off - balance sheet, while their fair

values are presented as other assets when favourable to the

Bank or other liabilities when unfavourable to the Bank.

Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices, dis-

counted cash flow models and pricing models as appropriate.

Losses on derivative financial instruments, treated as held

for trading, are recognised in the income statement immedi-

ately. Gains are recognised in the income statement only

when they are realized.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments

that are designated as the fair value hedge are recognised in

the income statement on the same basis as the corresponding

change in the fair value of the hedged item.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments

that are designated as cash flow hedges and that prove to be

highly effective in relation to the hedged risk, are presented in

the equity as specific capital revaluation adjustment, while the

ineffective portion is immediately reported in the income

statement.

The income statement includes foreign exchange differ-

ences from certain financial derivatives, which are providing

effective economic hedges in respect of foreign currency risk

exposure.

g) Loans and borrowings

Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the amount

of the cash given or received.

Loans are stated in the balance sheet at the amount of the

principal outstanding, increased by interest capitalised where

appropriate, less any provision for unrecoverable amounts.

Borrowings in the balance sheet are presented at the

amount of the principal outstanding, increased by interest

capitalised where appropriate.

h) Provisions

In accordance with Bank of Slovenia's regulation the Bank

is required to establish specific risk provisions and provisions

for general banking risks.

Specific provisions are established on loans, advances and

off-balance sheet items in respect of credit risk on the basis of

provisioning rates specified by the Bank of Slovenia’s Decree

on the Classification of Balance Sheet and Off-Balance Sheet

Asset Items of Banks and Savings Banks. Specific credit risk

provisions on loans and advances to customers classified in

the rating group B, C, D or E are stated on the asset side of

the balance sheet as allowances for bad and doubtful loans,

while specific credit risk provisions for A rating group are stat-

ed on the liability side. Specific credit risk provisions estab-

lished on off - balance sheet items and specific country risk

provisions are also stated on the liability side of the balance

sheet.

Specific provisions for other foreseeable risks, stated on the

liability side of the balance sheet, are established in respect of

interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk.

General banking risk provisions, stated on the liability side

of the balance sheet, are established for the purpose of pro-

tecting against risks arising from the Bank's overall operations.

i) Uncollectable loans and advances

Uncollectable loans and advances are written off, according

to internal written procedures of the Bank after all necessary

procedures for recovery have been completed. Any eventual

subsequent repayments of loans and advances previously writ-

ten off are recognised as income from loans and advances

written off.

j) Provisions for liabilities and charges

Provisions for obligations that are expected to occur in the

period exceeding one year are recognised in the financial

statements when:

• there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result

of a past event,

• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying eco-

nomic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, 

• a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obli-

gation.

k) Negative Goodwill

Negative Goodwill presents excess of the fair values of the

net identifiable assets over the cost of acquisition. Negative 
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Goodwill is presented as part of provisions for liabilities and

charges and it is amortised to the income statement over a

period of five years.

l) Accruals and deferred income and expenses

Income and expenses are recognised when they occur and not

as cash is received or paid. They are presented as accruals in a

separate balance sheet position.

m) Property and equipment 

All property and equipment is initially recorded at cost. The

cost of property and equipment comprises purchase price

including import duties, initial delivery and installation costs.

At each balance sheet date the Bank assesses whether

there is any indication that assets may be impaired. If any such

indication exists the recoverable amount is estimated.

Recoverable amount is the higher of net selling price and

value in use. When value in use exceeds carrying amount that

indicates that assets are not impaired.

Depreciation of property and equipment is provided on a

straight-line basis at rates designed to write off cost or valua-

tion of buildings and equipment over their estimated useful

lives. 

Land and works of art are not depreciated.

Property and equipment is depreciated from the first day of

next month after it was brought into use.

Subsequent expenditures result in an increase of an asset's

carrying amount when it is probable that future economic

benefits will exceed the originally assessed benefits or in an

extension of the useful life of an asset.

The same accounting policies are applied for assets held by

the Bank under a finance lease.

n) Investment property

Investment property includes land and buildings owned by

the Bank and leased out under operating lease. Investment

property is accounted for using the same accounting policies

adopted by the Bank for property and equipment.

According to the Bank of Slovenia's methodology investment

property is in the balance sheet presented as other assets.

o) Intangible assets

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost including

any directly attributable costs. Intangible assets are subse-

quently impaired if their carrying amount exceeds their value

in use.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis at rates

designed to write off the cost of intangible assets over its esti-

mated useful life.

% 2004 2003

Buildings 2 2

Computers 14.3 - 25 14.3 - 25

Furniture and other equipment 10 - 20 10 - 20

Motor vehicles 25 25

Other assets 20 20

The following annual depreciation rates are applied:

% 2004 2003

Leasehold Improvements 20 20

Software 10 10

Integral information system 10 10

Other intangible assets 20 - 33.3 20 - 33.3

The following annual amortisation rates are applied:

Intangible assets are not amortised until they are brought into use.

Range in amortisation rates for intangible assets differ from the range in rates for the year 2002 due to the acquisition of new types

of intangible assets.
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Intangible assets are not amortised until they are brought

into use.

Range in amortisation rates for intangible assets differ from

the range in rates for the year 2002 due to the acquisition of

new types of intangible assets.

a) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash

equivalents comprise cash and balances with Central Bank,

securities held for trading, loans to banks and debt securities

not held for trading with maturity up to 90 days.

b) Tax on profit and balance sheet tax

Slovenian corporate tax is provided on taxable profits at the

rate of 25 % according to local tax legislation and according

to the provisions of local income tax law, which came into

force already in the year 2004. Foreign taxes are provided for

in accordance with local tax laws and accounting principles.

In 2002 the Slovenian balance sheet tax is calculated as a 3

% levy on certain balance sheet items. According to Slovenian

legislation the maximum balance sheet tax is limited to 50 %

of pre-tax profit. Where the 3 % levy exceeds 50 % of prof-

its, the lower tax charge is payable. In the year 2004 the Law

on the cessation of balance sheet tax law passed and as a con-

sequence the balance sheet tax is abolished from the year

2005.

c) Funds managed on behalf of third parties

Assets and liabilities managed on behalf of third parties are

in the balance sheet stated on a net basis.

d) Segmental reporting

Business segments provide products or services that are sub-

ject to risk and returns that are different from those of other

business segments.

3. Interest income and expense

a) Analysis by type of assets and liabilities

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Interest income

Deposits with the Central Bank 1,656,420 326,593

Loans and advances to other banks 1,848,446 1,130,703

Loans and advances to customers 53,853,127 61,611,265

Deposits to banks 1,516,478 2,822,864

Deposits to customers 135,840 165,438

Debt securities not held for trading 23,944,391 33,513,654

Other assets 238,753 117,116

TOTAL 83,193,455 99,687,633

Interest expense

Demand deposits from banks 297,072 223,710

Time deposits from banks 2,650,240 3,575,221

Borrowings from banks 5,137,831 4,345,969

Demand deposits from other customers 2,235,812 3,403,330

Time deposits from other customers 24,903,807 41,057,845

Borrowings from other customers 860,862 927,753

Debt securities 6,834,318 8,954,421

Subordinated liabilities 2,102,863 1,955,223

Other liabilities 242,961 356,903

TOTAL 45,265,766 64,800,375

NET INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME 37,927,689 34,887,258
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b) Analysis by sector

2004 2003

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Income Expenses Income Expenses

Enterprises 29,417,717 6,827,099 35,079,321 11,355,754

Government departments and agencies 13,014,915 2,816,533 13,597,702 4,079,796

Banks 17,978,377 11,231,415 27,140,542 11,490,007

Citizens 18,681,202 18,034,914 20,271,823 29,572,086

Other financial organisations 1,234,414 5,738,743 1,208,111 6,916,470

Non-residents 1,710,463 271,889 1,388,400 679,952

Non-profit service providers to households 48,777 308,875 70,606 574,707

Default interest 1,107,590 36,298 931,128 131,603

TOTAL 83,193,455 45,265,766 99,687,633 64,800,375

Interest income from loans to foreign banks and to other foreign costumers amounted to 3,842,472 thousand tolars as at 31

December 2004 (4,043,353 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003), while interest expenses from borrowings and deposits from

foreign banks and other foreign customers amounted to 6,951,645 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2004 (8,313,260 thousand

tolars as at 31 December 2003).

4. Income from capital investments and securities held for trading

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Income from investments in subsidiaries and associated companies

- In subsidiaries

- banks 1,998,677 1,918,781

- other financial organizations 1,233,949 959,455

- enterprises 2,500 43,938

- In associated companies

- banks 512,896 481,093

Income from other investments

- banks 2,872 -

- other financial organizations 10,569 18,038

- enterprises 29 46

Income from securities held for trading

- dividends 364,496 214,502

- interest 4,962,974 6,835,481

TOTAL 9,088,962 10,471,334
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5. Income and expenses from fees and commissions

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Fees and commissions income:

Payments 7,614,186 7,063,107

Agency services/brokerage 7,343,932 5,792,715

Administrative services 6,327,608 5,931,894

Lending 3,080,275 2,080,419

Guarantees 2,114,882 2,028,087

Depositing valuables in safe custody 212,082 202,447

TOTAL 26,692,965 23,098,669

Fees and commissions expense:

Banking services 3,946,249 3,409,975

Agency services/brokerage 1,369,302 588,000

Brokerage 188,166 173,285

Payments 138,982 162,583

TOTAL 5,642,699 4,333,843

NET FEES AND COMMISSIONS 21,050,266 18,764,826

6. Net profit from financial transactions

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Gains from financial transactions

Income from securities held for trading 5,622,666 2,368,846

Income from valuation of securities:

- debt securities not held for trading 44,864 170,877

- securities held for trading 675,789 2,045,418

- investments in subsidiaries and associated companies 158,002 307,776

- investments in other companies 331,282 473,382

- other investments - 1,413

Foreign exchange differences 29,046,336 49,749,124

Income from derivative financial instruments 6,396,737 10,107,612

Income arising from transactions in foreign currency 9,991,302 6,405,157

TOTAL 52,266,978 71,629,605

Losses from financial transactions

Expenses from securities held for trading 257,638 147,231

Expenses from valuation of securities: 

- debt securities not held for trading 240 21,105

- securities held for trading 1,046,453 754,448

- investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and jointly controlled companies 765,018 926,687

- investments in other companies 142,414 -

- other investments 9,924 77,698

Foreign exchange differences 27,502,647 51,485,523

Expenses from derivative financial instruments 7,711,410 13,248,699

Expenses arising from transactions in foreign currency 7,814,952 4,816,253

TOTAL 45,250,696 71,477,644

NET PROFIT FROM FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS 7,016,282 151,961
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7. Other operating income

a) Analysis by type

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Income from non-banking services

- information technology services 1,220,599 1,480,479

- other services 1,056,916 995,392

Income from sale of tangible and intangible assets 28,360 253,587

Other operating income 377,553 307,602

TOTAL 2,683,428 3,037,060

8. Employee costs

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Gross salaries 16,877,606 16,511,377

Social security costs

- pension security contributions 1,557,709 1,492,088

- social security contributions 1,346,753 1,278,909

- other contributions 1,184,505 1,102,933

Other employee costs 4,318,434 3,609,741

TOTAL 25,285,007 23,995,048

9. Costs of materials and services

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Services 6,399,001 7,453,704

Maintenance 2,225,033 2,502,642

Material 1,930,035 2,199,741

Rental income 1,900,870 1,747,129

Advertising 813,596 788,049

Insurance 662,922 524,310

Travel costs 335,878 364,785

Education and scholarships 256,025 211,934

Entertainment expenses 227,499 201,838

Other expenses 212,213 110,629

TOTAL 14,963,072 16,104,761

10. Depreciation and revaluation expenses from property, equipment and intangible assets

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Depreciation of property and equipment 4,609,794 4,818,531

Amortisation of intangible assets 2,042,129 1,655,704

Expenses from intangible and tangiable assets (notes 22 and 23) 1,015,681 104,647

TOTAL 7,667,604 6,578,882
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11. Other operating expenses

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Taxes 26,905 33,504

Membership fees 226,152 225,891

Other employee costs 744,874 310,069

Charges for general banking risk provisions (note 33) 742,964 29,314

Other operating expenses 161,570 105,132

TOTAL 1,902,465 703,910

12. Net provisions for losses on loans and write offs less any recoveries

a) Provisions and write offs

2004 2003

Provisions Provisions Provisions Provisions 

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS made released made released

Write off of irrecoverable loans and debts 3,787,018 - 2,475,213 -

Write back of loans and debts - 442,572 - 237,219

Provisions for A graded balance sheet and off-balance sheet assets 10,330,446 9,138,338 13,319,720 10,274,124

Provisions for other off-balance sheet assets 12,913,152 11,757,689 10,496,099 12,278,353

Country risk provisions 14,091,425 12,218,170 10,419,204 6,547,982

Provisions for balance sheet assets, classified in other credit rating groups:

- loans and advances to banks 3,268,400 1,734,385 1,531,422 3,560,661

- loans and advances to other customers 33,035,692 30,478,967 36,974,553 36,058,248

- other assets 2,036,572 1,910,601 3,708,881 2,846,851

- accrued interest due 5,095 - 1,438 -

Provisions for operational risk 500,000 - 155,000 -

TOTAL 79,967,800 67,680,722 79,081,530 71,803,438

b) Other provisions

2004 2003

Provisions Provisions Provisions Provisions 

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS made released made released

Negative goodwill - 214,580 - 214,579

Other long-term provisions - 28 - 2,898

TOTAL - 214,608 - 217,477
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13. Extraordinary profit

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Extraordinary income 

Income from compensation-rewards and similar 67,760 49,099

TOTAL 67,760 49,099 

Extraordinary expenses 

Expenses for penalty and similar 3,868 3,051

TOTAL 3,868 3,051 

EXTRAORDINARY PROFIT 63,892 46,048 

The tax authorities carried out the balance sheet tax audit for the year 2003 and confirmed its correctness. Income tax for the year

2003 and 2004 and balance sheet tax for the year 2004 were not the subject to the tax audit.

The Bank is required to maintain an obligatory reserve with the Bank of Slovenia, relative to the volume and structure of its cus-

tomer deposits. The current requirement of the Bank of Slovenia regarding the calculation of the amount to be held as obligatory

reserve is as follows:

• 4.5 % of time deposits up to 90 days,

• 2 % of time deposits from 91 days to 2 years and deposits in foreign currency due to 2 years.

In December 2004, the obligatory reserve of the Bank amounted to 34,660,066 thousand tolars.

14. Tax

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Tax on profit 5,973,193 4,679,105

Other taxes 935,971 842,813

TOTAL 6,909,164 5,521,918

15. Cash and balances with the central bank

31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Tolars Foreign Tolars Foreign 

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS currency currency

Cash 11,548,396 4,443,395 12,135,846 4,456,697

Balances with the Central Bank  34,230,763 - 34,627,469 -

Deposits with the Central Bank - 719,229 - -

45,779,159 5,162,624 46,763,315 4,456,697

TOTAL 50,941,783 51,220,012
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A detailed maturity analysis of loans to banks is given in Note 43 - Balance sheet maturity analysis. 

16. Placements with, and loans to, other banks

a) Maturity analysis

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Short-term loans

- in tolars 3,521,550 6,630,000

- in foreign currency 69,166,111 87,355,590

Long-term loans 

- in tolars 87,443 150,586

- in foreign currency 33,091,653 21,548,891

Long term deposits with the Central Bank

- in tolars 75,590,000 -

Current portion of long-term loans

- in tolars 57,827 62,061

- in foreign currency 11,339,296 6,685,947

192,853,880 122,433,075

Provisions (2,978,094) (1,444,079)

TOTAL 189,875,786 120,988,996

b) Analysis by type of loan 

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Demand deposits 8,095,591 3,720,640

Time deposits 124,629,156 78,091,063

Loans 57,821,959 39,104,962

Called guarantees 21,936 21,657

Other investments 2,285,238 1,494,753

192,853,880 122,433,075

Provisions (2,978,094) (1,444,079)

TOTAL 189,875,786 120,988,996

c) Geographical analysis 

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Slovenia 109,171,996 30,484,968

OECD countries 41,565,399 68,478,749

Other countries 39,138,391 22,025,279

TOTAL 189,875,786 120,988,996
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d) Analysis by related party

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Subsidiaries 61,237,407 44,911,579

Associated banks 8,197,270 9,074,364

Other banks 123,419,203 68,447,132

192,853,880 122,433,075

Provisions (2,978,094) (1,444,079)

TOTAL 189,875,786 120,988,996

e) Analysis of movements

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 120,988,996 131,940,293

Increase:

- loans made 6,005,827,750 15,189,066,237

Decrease:

- repayments (5,935,058,712) (15,201,612,837)

- exchange differences (229,233) (141,881)

- write offs (119,000) (292,055)

Provisions (1,534,015) 2,029,239

Balance at 31 December 189,875,786 120,988,996
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The total amount of non-performing loans (C, D and E grading groups) amounted to 50,119,021 thousand tolars as at 31

December 2004 (46,536,974 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003), while loans overdue amounted to 7,860,835 thousand tolars

(20,385,323 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003). Interest income from non - performing loans, not recognised as income,

amounted to 3,541,381 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2004 (3,922,424 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003). 

17. Loans and advances to customers

a) Analysis by type of customer

31.12.2004 31.12.2003

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term

In tolars

- enterprises 116,839,509 163,677,076 117,763,968 165,967,731

- government department and agencies 243,259 22,534,699 5,440,242 19,588,292

- citizens 39,399,770 169,435,277 38,586,904 153,816,622

- financial organisations 4,179,418 8,442,374 4,355,042 9,506,700

- non-profit-household service providers 327,843 244,183 272,215 229,732

- non-residents - - 306 -

In foreign currency

- enterprises 63,190,463 238,787,322 47,088,355 183,667,446

- government departments and agencies 19,479 1,569,302 - 1,242,589

- citizens 602,314 12,915,002 278,804 2,680,285

- financial organisations 3,900,147 19,204,046 553,704 9,899,478

- non-residents 48,281,903 28,442,413 41,651,411 15,481,140

Current portion of long-term loans 156,301,609 (156,301,609) 146,879,272 (146,879,272)

433,285,714 508,950,085 402,870,223 415,200,743

Provisions (27,481,440) (14,364,675) (28,463,169) (10,245,670)

405,804,274 494,585,410 374,407,054 404,955,073

TOTAL 900,389,684 779,362,127
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b) Analysis by sector

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Manufacturing 221,327,063 178,144,319

Citizens 196,947,332 173,915,691

Commerce and finance 188,270,321 163,502,014

Services 166,341,751 131,553,095

Transport and communication 58,777,741 67,829,219

Ministries 23,619,863 25,515,792

Energy 10,324,296 16,646,946

Small enterprises 26,355,737 22,569,503

Construction 33,022,366 24,157,357

Agriculture, forestry and fishing 9,588,521 7,063,977

Mining 4,199,909 2,908,813

Other 3,460,899 4,264,240

942,235,799 818,070,966

Provisions (41,846,115) (38,708,839)

TOTAL 900,389,684 779,362,127

c) Analysis by type of advance 

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Loans 880,194,762 761,263,655

Overdrafts 38,686,619 42,740,772

Called guarantees 1,199,058 1,547,414

Purchased loans and receivables 22,010,042 12,377,793

Other investments 145,318 141,332

942,235,799 818,070,966

Provisions (41,846,115) (38,708,839)

TOTAL 900,389,684 779,362,127

d) Guaranteed loans

Loans, which are guaranteed by the Republic of Slovenia 

or other Slovenian banks, are as follows:

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Loans:

- Republic of Slovenia guarantees 71,739,316 71,965,521

- Other bank's guarantees 3,648,802 3,899,095

TOTAL 75,388,118 75,864,616
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e) Geographical analysis

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Slovenia 831,077,650 735,674,106

OECD countries 48,303,092 32,750,306

Other countries 21,008,942 10,937,715

TOTAL 900,389,684 779,362,127

f) Analysis by related party

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Subsidiaries 51,176,408 42,300,923

Associated and jointly controlled companies 2,597,568 2,070,809

Other companies 4,345,882 3,539,327

Others 884,115,941 770,159,907

942,235,799 818,070,966

Provisions (41,846,115) (38,708,839)

TOTAL 900,389,684 779,362,127

g) Analysis of movements

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 779,362,127 704,103,725

Increase:

- loans made 1,703,685,520 1,245,247,579

- interest added to principal 14,481,676 15,233,106

- exchange differences 2,633,455 1,441,858

- transfer from securities held for trading - 1,339,696

- loans purchased from Slovenska investicijska banka d.d. 5,266,504 -

Decrease:

- repayments (1,599,201,202) (1,185,166,611)

- write offs (3,301,404) (1,921,644)

Provisions (2,536,992) (915,582)

Balance at 31 December 900,389,684 779,362,127



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 4

121

Other securities include Factor bank d.d. bonds with a total value of 150,000 thousand tolars, Slovenica d.d. bonds with a total

value of 500,000 thousand tolars and Probanka d.d. bonds with a total value 238,305 thousand tolars which have the nature of a

subordinate debt. Other than interest entitlement and the right to repayment of the principal the Bank does not have any other rights

deriving from these bonds.

The market value of debt securities available for sale exceeds their carrying value by 3,098,945 thousand tolars  as at 31 December

2004 (2,180,422 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003).

At 31 December 2004 securities not held for trading amounting to 84,655,062 thousand tolars were listed on the stock exchange

(59,871,757 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003).

18. Debt securities not held for trading

a)  Analysis by type of securities, available for sale 

31.12.2004 31.12.2003

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term

In foreign currency

- Certificate of deposit of the Bank of Slovenia 167,526,779 - 194,186,509 -

- Bonds - 12,359,579 - 2,816,740

In tolars

- Bonds of the Republic of Slovenia - 135,860,215 - 122,653,250

- Bonds from others - 888,305 - 885,270

- Certificate of deposit of the Bank of Slovenia 107,734,649 - 190,257,271 -

Current portion of investment securities 11,039,978 (11,039,978) 4,264,029 (4,264,029)

286,301,406 138,068,121 388,707,809 122,091,231

TOTAL 424,369,527 510,799,040

b) Analysis by type of securities, held to maturity  

31.12.2004 31.12.2003

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term

In foreign currency

- Bonds of the Republic of Slovenia - 999,454 - 1,487,290

- Other bonds - 4,892,879 - -

In tolars

- Bonds of the Republic of Slovenia - 23,792,445 - 22,785,184

Current portion of investment securities 400,791 (400,791) 424,940 (424,940)

400,791 29,283,987 424,940 23,847,534

TOTAL 29,684,778 24,272,474
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At 31 December 2004 the securities held for trading amounting to 4,278,062 thousand tolars were listed on the stock exchange

(86,090,183 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003).

The market value of securities held for trading exceeds their carrying value by 5,654,418 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2004

(5,403,959 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003).

Other securities include Factor bank d.d. bonds with a total value of 102,387 thousand tolars (01,300 thousand tolars as at 31

December 2003), which have the nature of a subordinate debt. Other than its interest entitlement and the right to repayment of the

principal the Bank doesn’t have any other rights deriving from these bonds. Other securities include also NLB bonds in the amount

of 1,747,608 thousands tolars (3,918,942 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003).

c) Analysis of movements

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 535,071,514 479,910,865

Increase:

- purchase of securities 274,435,806 349,617,456

- revaluation and exchange differences 5,616,511 9,055,008

- transfer from securities held for trading - 37,447,763

Decrease:

- sale or repayments of securities (360,831,909) (341,072,471)

- transfer to securities held for trading (276,690) -

Reversal of impairment 39,073 112,893 

Balance at 31 December 454,054,305 535,071,514

19. Securities held for trading

a) Analysis by type of securities

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Certificates of deposits of the Bank of Slovenia 18,685,247 -

Bonds

- Republic of Slovenia 39,018,952 41,986,522

- other issuers 41,736,747 33,361,214

Shares

- banks 356,989 228,324

- other issuers 21,825,163 15,288,355

Treasury bills 5,995,097 6,024,795

Other securities 5,098,066 3,886,383

TOTAL 132,716,261 100,775,593
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b) Analysis of movements

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 100,775,593 121,272,288

Increase:

- purchase of securities 364,893,762 236,001,979

- transfer from securities not held for trading 276,690 -

- interest added 474,902 1,307,110 

Decrease:

- sale of securities (332,966,418) (219,217,336)

- exchange differences (366,887) (1,091,959)

- transfer to investment securities - (37,447,763)

- transfer to loans - (1,339,696)

Impairment/reversal of impairment (371,381) 1,290,970 

Balance at 31 December 132,716,261 100,775,593

20. Investments in subsidiaries, associated and jointly controlled companies

a) Analysis by type of investment in subsidiaries

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

In tolars

- banks 17,633,508 15,763,332

- other financial organisations 2,850,644 2,651,817

- enterprises 2,890,986 3,320,238

In foreign currency

- banks 11,236,261 10,302,692

- other financial organisations 3,429,748 2,581,977

TOTAL 38,041,147 34,620,056
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In the year 2004 the Bank increased its share in Koroπka banka, Banka Domæale, Banka Zasavje, Tutunska banka and LB Maksima.

The Bank also acquired 9,4% share in LHB Banka a.d., Beograd.

Tutunska Banka, Montenegro banka and LHB Banka are treated as subsidiaries due to the majority interest held by the NLB Group.

* Equity decreased for own shares is used in the calculation of the participation in equity and the share of voting power held.

Balance of

Equity as Profit Bank's investment

at  31 for the share- Voting as of 31

December period holding rights December

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2004 % % 2004

Koroπka banka d.d., Slovenj Gradec 12,068,542 1,008,628 61.91 61.91 7,750,640

Banka Domæale d.d., Domæale 8,637,324 1,148,930 59.80 59.80 5,667,193

Banka Zasavje d.d., Trbovlje 6,356,391 498,774 70.08 70.08 4,215,674

LHB Internationale Handelsbank AG,  Frankfurt/Main 16,313,771 503,460 56.01 56.01 9,137,344

Tutunska banka a.d., Skopje 9,625,676 1,086,089 16.23 41.99 1,479,999

LB InterFinanz AG, Zürich 2,513,091 619,088 100 100 2,513,091

LB Factoring CZ, a.s., Ostrava 916,657 218,652 100 100 916,657

Slovenska investicijska banka d.d., Ljubljana (2,310,268) 122,697 80.85 80.85 -

Montenegro banka a.d., Podgorica 3,010,301 11,991 5 5 133,147

LHB Banka a.d., Beograd 3,668,210 807,574 9.40 9.40 485,771

NLB Propria d.o.o., Ljubljana 2,836,697 (189,752) 100 100 2,769,363

LB Leasing d.o.o., Ljubljana 2,772,510 412,451 55 55 1,524,880

LB Leasing d.o.o., Maribor 302,984 109,609 55 55 166,641

LB Maksima d.o.o., Ljubljana 639,561 192,671 95.95 95.95 613,596

NLB Skladi d.o.o., Ljubljana 545,527 (154,473) 100 100 545,527

FIT Leasing d.o.o., Velenje (87,301) 34,609 100 100 -

Prospera plus d.o.o., Ljubljana 121,624 2,500 100 100 121,624

The Bank's subsidiaries are:

b) Analysis by type of investment in associated and jointly controlled companies

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

In tolars

- banks 8,517,077 7,662,764

- other financial organisations 1,113,010 739,050

- enterprises 817,077 644,257

In foreign currency

- banks 2,022,797 2,026,870

TOTAL 12,469,961 11,072,941
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Balance of

Equity as Profit Bank's investment

at  31 for the share- Voting as at 31

December period holding rights December

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Activity 2004 2004 % % 2004

Banka Celje d.d., Celje Banking 27,395,221 2,726,411 32.15 37.51 8,517,077

Adria Bank AG., Vienna Banking 7,107,510 226,496 28.46 28.46 2,022,797

Bankart d.o.o., Ljubljana Credit and payment cards 2,223,944 488,723 36.74 36.74 817,077

Skupna pokojninska druæba d.d., Ljubljana Insurance 777,829 12,365 27.18 27.18 279,887

The principal associated companies are:

Balance of

Equity as Profit Bank's investment

at  31 for the share- Voting as at 31

December period holding rights December

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Activity 2004 2004 % % 2004

NLB Vita d.d., Ljubljana Insurance 884,430 (78,895) 50 50 444,276

Prvi Faktor d.o.o., Ljubljana Finance 772,599 104,864 50 50 388,847

Jointly controlled companies are:

c) Analysis of movement  

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 45,692,997 40,246,255

New investments 3,571,988 9,564,552

Share of profits 4,449,389 3,823,010

Exchange differences 158,851 240,722

Share of losses (387,290) (174,148)

Dividend received (2,568,141) (3,891,670)

Other adjustment of investments (564,686) (93,088)

Reversal of impairment/impairment 158,000 (105,733)

Sale of investments - (3,916,903)

Balance at 31 December 50,511,108 45,692,997
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21. Investments in other companies

a) Analysis by type of investment

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

In tolars

- other financial organisations 415,465 400,373

- enterprises 37,894 153,000

In foreign currency

- other financial organisations 159,148 157,777

- enterprises 8,033 7,930

TOTAL 620,540 719,080

b) Analysis of movements 

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 719,080 1,314,128

New investments 42,900 3,181

Sale of investments (500) (215,000)

Exchange differences 2,125 (18,733)

Impairment (142,414) -

Other (651) (364,496)

Balance at 31 December 620,540 719,080

22. Intangible assets

Intangible

assets in

course of

transfer or

construction/

Deferred implemen-

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Software costs tation Total

Cost or valuation

- at 1 January 2004 11,193,862 1,744,500 6,450,792 19,389,154

Additions 5,295,812 286,567 311,615 5,893,994

Disposals - (65,789) (499,993) (565,782)

- at 31 December 2004 16,489,674 1,965,278 6,262,414 24,717,366

Depreciation

- at 1 January 2004 2,973,297 1,265,509 - 4,238,806

Disposals - (43,305) - (43,305)

Charge for the year 1,903,181 138,948 - 2,042,129

- at 31 December 2004 4,876,478 1,361,152 - 6,237,630

Net carrying value

- at 1 January 2004 8,220,565 478,991 6,450,792 15,150,348

- at 31 December 2004 11,613,196 604,126 6,262,414 18,479,736
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Intangible assets include the Bank’s information system with the carrying value of 14,726,143 thousand tolars (information system

completed for use 9,028,570 thousand tolars, information system in course of implementation 5,697,573 thousand tolars).

Accumulated amortisation of information system as at 31 December 2004 amounted to 1,739,021 thousand tolars while the amor-

tisation costs of the system in the year 2004 amounted to 882,200 thousand tolars. The remaining useful life of the information sys-

tem is between 7 and 9 years. 

The information system for the retail banking (Bancs) was partially operational in 2003 and started fully operating in January 2004.

The information system for the corporate banking (Globus) is presented under assets in the course of implementation. 

In the year 2004 the Bank concluded detailed assessment of the Globus functionality in order to determine the compliance with

business requirements. The results of the assessment indicated that certain capitalized expenditures don’t produce any future eco-

nomic benefits and accordingly the Bank partly wrote off the investment in Globus in the amount of 499,993 thousands tolars.

In order to rationalize business activities the Bank decided in the year 2004 to sale certain property, which was therefore impaired

to realizable value in the amount of 479,645 thousands tolars. For all other assets included in property and equipment there were

no evidences of impairment.

Assets held under finance lease amounted to 2,536 thousands tolars as at 31 December 2004. 

24. Treasury shares 

In the year 2004 due to the liquidation of subsidiary company LB Trading d.o.o. the Bank acquired one own share, which was dis-

posed in the same year. Accordingly the bank decreased treasury shares fund by 2 thousand tolars. The positive difference between

nominal and selling price in the amount of 23 thousands tolars is included in equity reserves.

23. Property and equipment

Assets in

course of 

transfer or

Furniture construction/

Land & and Motor implemen-

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS buildings Computers equipment vehicles tation Total

Cost or valuation

- at 1 January 2004 38,460,141 21,942,083 12,623,754 675,147 475,886 74,177,011

Addition - - - - 4,605,635 4,605,635

Transfers 1,157,498 2,270,783 781,016 42,607 (4,251,904) -

Disposals (252,081) (1,535,691) (472,650) (53,861) - (2,314,283)

Valuation (497,898) - - - - (497,898)

- at 31 December 2004 38,867,660 22,677,175 12,932,120 663,893 829,617 75,970,465

Depreciation

- at 1 January 2004 10,934,835 15,638,015 9,138,281 562,125 - 36,273,256

Disposals (159,927) (1,509,505) (457,629) (46,553) - (2,173,614)

Charge for the year 742,232 2,613,970 1,192,574 61,018 - 4,609,794

Valuation (18,253) - - - - (18,253)

- at 31 December 2004 11,498,887 16,742,480 9,873,226 576,590 - 38,691,183

Net carrying value

- at 1 January 2004 27,525,306 6,304,068 3,485,473 113,022 475,886 37,903,755

- at 31 December 2004 27,368,773 5,934,695 3,058,894 87,303 829,617 37,279,282
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In the year 2004 there were no contractual agreements between NLB Bank and third parties for the acquisition or disposal of NLB’s

shares on behalf of NLB Bank nor were there any contractual agreements for the pledge of NLB’s shares as collateral on Behalf of

NLB Bank.

Shares of NLB Bank held by its subsidiaries LB Propria d.o.o., Ljubljana in Koroπka banka d.d., Slovenj Gradec amounted to 490,824

thousand tolars as at 31 December 2004. In respect of these shares NLB Bank formed treasury shares fund in the year 2002.

As at 31 December 2004 there were 88,362 shares pledged on behalf of subsidiary companies of NLB Group, which presents

1.15% of subscribed capital of NLB Bank.

Receivables in the course of collection are temporary balances, which are according to the functionality of the information support

system transferred to appropriate item of other assets within next few days after the occurrence.

25. Other assets

a) Analysis by type of asset 

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Accrued interest due 2,239,381 2,879,988

Fees and commissions due 343,479 337,347

Credit cards receivables 9,411,231 9,723,013

Non authorized overdrafts 4,979,361 4,686,994

Derivative financial instruments 1,252,426 2,702,752

Debtors 221,606 303,850

Investment property 240,085 208,708

Assets aquired for debt repeyment 154,182 212,957

Claims for taxes and other dues 83,823 706,401

Stocks 114,575 74,954

Prepayments 392,612 331,433

Cheques 68,782 222,515

Receivables in the course of collection 3,313,676 1,199,776

Other assets 446,808 497,859

23,262,027 24,088,547

Provisions (5,024,676) (4,891,677)

TOTAL 18,237,351 19,196,870

b) Movement of investment property  

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 208,708 694,495

Sale of investment property - (474,762)

Transfer from property plant and equipment 64,461 -

Valuation (26,435) -

Depreciation (6,649) (11,025)

Balance at 31 December 240,085 208,708
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c) Analysis of provisions by type of asset 

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Credit card receivables 130,852 67,313

Non authorized overdrafts 4,761,635 4,710,910

Other assets 132,189 113,454

TOTAL 5,024,676 4,891,677

d) Analysis of allowances for bad and doubtful income by type of asset

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Accrued interest due 3,014,107 3,405,981

Accrued interest not yet due 566,335 552,606

Fees and commissions due 68,791 50,800

Debtors 61,901 57,193

TOTAL 3,711,134 4,066,580

26. Accrued income and deferred expenses

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Accrued interest not yet due 11,234,594 10,879,670

Accrued fees not yet due 37,570 27,802

Deferred expenses 393,799 269,015

TOTAL 11,665,963 11,176,487

27. Movements in provisions by type of asset

Transfer

Share in from Balance Share in

Balance at gross Specific Specific Slovenska at 31 gross

1 January assets provisions provisions investicijska December assets

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 in % made released banka d.d. 2004 in %

Placements with, and loans to other banks 1,444,079 1.18 3,268,400 (1,734,385) - 2,978,094 1.54

Placements with, and loans to 

other customers 38,708,839 4.73 33,073,945 (30,536,953) 600,284 41,846,115 4.44

Other assets 4,891,677 20.31 2,036,572 (1,910,601) 7,028 5,024,676 21.60

TOTAL 45,044,595 38,378,917 (34,181,939) 607,312 49,848,885
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28. Deposits and borrowings from banks

a) Analysis of deposits

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

On demand

- in tolars 3,960,760 7,344,938

- in foreign currency 10,507,434 10,456,512

Other short-term deposits

- in tolars 17,806,202 44,664,878

- in foreign currency 51,346,428 34,792,635

Long-term deposits

- in tolars 5,000 42,000

- in foreign currency 1,532,828 1,429,018

Current portion of long-term deposits

- in tolars 37,000 -

- in foreign currency 5,994 5,917

TOTAL 85,201,646 98,735,898

b) Analysis of borrowings

31.12.2004 31.12.2003

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term

In foreign currency

- commercial banks 359,615 229,705,516 38,796,584 115,138,240

Current portion of long-term borrowings 42,462,138 (42,462,138) 34,145,758 (34,145,758)

TOTAL 42,821,753 187,243,378 72,942,342 80,992,482

TOTAL a) and b) 126,485,571 188,781,206 170,207,222 82,463,500

315,266,777 252,670,722
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IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Interest 

Currency date Maturity rate 31.12.2004

ING Bank N.V., London EUR 18.8.2009 EURIBOR + 0.20% p.a. 95,897,200

Bayerische Landesbank Girozentrale, München EUR 9.6.2006 EURIBOR + 0.225% p.a. 35,961,450

West LB, AG London EUR 6.11.2007 EURIBOR + 0.30% p.a. 15,183,723

European Investment Bank, Luxembourg USD 15.3.2016 floating interest rate 10,771,954

ING Bank N.V., London EUR 30.10.2006 EURIBOR + 0.30% p.a. 9,589,720

INTESA BCI, London EUR 22.11.2005 EURIBOR + 0.25% p.a. 7,458,671

Bank Austria AG, Wien EUR 12.1.2006 12 months EURIBOR 

+ 0.31% p.a. 2,397,430

Bayerische Landesbank Girozentrale, München EUR 9.12.2007 6 months EURIBOR 

+ 0.60% p.a. 2,157,687

Landesbank Hessen - Thüringen Girozentrale, Frankfurt/Main EUR 29.3.2012 for EUR 10,260,619.74

fixed -  5.80% p.a., for EUR

1,553,368.16 - 3 months 

EURIBOR + 0.50% p.a. 

till 31.3.2008, after 3 months

EURIBOR + 0.60% p.a. 1,825,273

WGZ Bank - Westdeutsche Genossenschafts - Zentralbank eG, Düsseldorf EUR 20.12.2007 6 months EURIBOR 

+ 0.55% p.a. 1,798,073

Overview of more significant borrowings from banks: 

c) Analysis by related party

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Subsidiary banks 26,173,317 26,906,895

Associated banks 754,644 5,988,596

Other banks 288,338,816 219,775,231

TOTAL 315,266,777 252,670,722

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS

Maturity 

Currency date Interest rate 31.12.2004

EUR 9.5.2005 5.4% p.a. fixed 52,536

Loans received by LHB Internationale Handelsbank AG, Frankfurt/Main, a subsidiary bank of NLB are:

d) Analysis of movements 

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 252,670,722 210,393,019

Increase:

- new borrowings and deposits 10,663,941,213 7,236,162,307

- exchange differences 426,318 3,794,470

- interest added to principal 24,524 24,886

Decrease:

- repayments (10,601,796,000) (7,197,703,960)

Balance at 31 December 315,266,777 252,670,722
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29. Deposits and borrowings from other customers

a) Analysis by type of customer

31.12.2004 31.12.2003

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term

Demand deposits

- enterprises

- in tolars 51,543,756 - 44,722,279 -

- in foreign currency 25,618,855 - 25,876,832 -

- Government departments and agencies

- in tolars 14,522,809 - 5,799,958 -

- in foreign currency 549,364 - 362,426 -

- citizens

- in tolars 249,972,641 - 171,458,475 -

- in foreign currency 44,991,186 - 142,966,521 -

- other financial organisations

- in tolars 1,129,505 - 1,417,908 -

- in foreign currency 742,683 - 777,573 -

- non-profit household service providers

- in tolars 8,275,961 - 6,979,728 -

- in foreign currency 1,194,842 - 1,145,107 -

- non-residents

- in tolars 2,254,903 - 1,805,732 -

- in foreign currency 9,932,926 - 9,867,335 -

Time deposits

- enterprises

- in tolars 79,135,665 8,021,117 76,726,189 17,234,390

- in foreign currency 20,621,115 236,506 23,547,134 40,527

- government departments and agencies

- in tolars 21,443,918 3,084,568 24,670,569 5,504,352

- in foreign currency 155,833 - 24,467 -

- citizens

- in tolars 219,368,167 53,520,466 238,790,880 83,224,258

- in foreign currency 247,762,439 20,176,322 123,734,873 27,906,889

- other financial organisations

- in tolars 25,698,404 17,850,097 9,889,645 23,798,254

- in foreign currency 3,394,453 50,958 1,103,581 37,616

- non-profit household service providers

- in tolars 5,064,495 344,936 5,078,097 1,191,678

- in foreign currency 1,668,076 1,008 1,840,808 -

- non-residents

- in tolars 908,530 59,031 779,749 88,267

- in foreign currency 11,517,115 2,659,159 10,029,976 3,482,327

Current portion of long-term deposits 51,462,745 (51,462,745) 83,702,170 (83,702,170)

TOTAL 1,098,930,386 54,541,423 1,013,098,012 78,806,388
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b) Analysis by type of customer

31.12.2004 31.12.2003

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term

Government departments and agencies

- in foreign currency - 2,576,975 - 3,772,650

Other financial organisations

- in tolars 3,575,755 1,554,538 5,547,055 2,481,973

- in foreign currency - 20,649,338 - 9,563,236

Non-residents

- in foreign currency - 6,362,736 - 6,914,635

Current portion of long-term borrowings 5,303,340 (5,303,340) 4,204,410 (4,204,410)

TOTAL 8,879,095 25,840,247 9,751,465 18,528,084

TOTAL a) and b) 1,107,809,481 80,381,670 1,022,849,477 97,334,472

1,188,191,151 1,120,183,949

c) Analysis by related party

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Subsidiaries 9,829,248 6,390,630

Associated and jointly controlled companies 1,483,708 829,368

Other companies 36,497,238 25,944,541

Others 1,140,380,957 1,087,019,410

TOTAL 1,188,191,151 1,120,183,949

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Maturity

Currency date Interest rate 31.12.2004

CHF 26.8.2008 6 months CHF LIBOR 

+ 1.375% p.a. 278,571

EUR 1.2.2005 3 months EURIBOR 

+ 1.25% p.a. 127,064

CHF 20.10.2012 1 month CHF LIBOR 

+ 1.875% p.a. 88,952

CHF 12.6.2006 6 months CHF LIBOR 

+ 1.5% p.a. 31,440

Loans received by LB Interfinanz AG, Zürich, a subsidiary company of NLB are:
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A detailed maturity analysis of bonds is given in Note 43 - Balance sheet maturity analysis.

d) Analysis of movements 

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 1,120,183,949 1,118,591,370

Increase:

- new borrowings and deposits 20,549,346,984 18,280,890,023

- exchange differences 1,319,025 988,082

- interest added to principal 19,062,468 32,811,590

Decrease:

- repayments (20,501,721,275) (18,313,097,116)

Balance at 31 December 1,188,191,151 1,120,183,949

30. Debt securities

a) Maturity analysis

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Short-term liabilities

- in tolars 7,336,179 228,275

- in foreign currency 61,587 1,136

Long-term liabilities

- in tolars 64,628,484 65,388,870

Current portion of long-term liabilities

- in tolars 23,441,356 44,393,099

TOTAL 95,467,606 110,011,380

b) Analysis of debt securities and certificates of deposits by related parties

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Subsidiaries 239,743 236,690

Associated companies 2,058,972 7,250,000

Other investments 21,833,758 9,697,573

Other customers 71,335,133 92,827,117

TOTAL 95,467,606 110,011,380
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31. Other liabilities

a) Analysis by type of liability 

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Accrued interest due 949,030 968,070

Fees and commissions due 70,833 31,189

Liabilities to traders for credit cards 4,388,673 4,228,875

Suppliers 4,424,185 2,478,055

Accrued salaries 1,582,427 1,697,061

Taxes payable 2,592,033 526,637

Derivative financial instruments 3,505,548 2,529,779

Payments received in advance 17,030 6,896

Items in the course of payment 646,225 699,920

Liabilities for received cash in foreign currency 222,738 -

Net liabilities from funds managed on behalt of third parties 37,994 47,195

Net balance from intercompany transactions 269,485 130,065

Other liabilities 547,821 880,698

TOTAL 19,254,022 14,224,440

32. Accruals and deferred income

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Accrued interest not yet due 8,182,461 16,526,406

Items in course of collections 412,922 222,848

Accrued expenses 533,860 516,727

Deferred income 397,153 383,706

TOTAL 9,526,396 17,649,687

33. Provisions for liabilities and charges

a) Analysis by type of provision

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Provisions for A graded balance sheet and off-balance sheet assets 13,425,093 12,229,021

Provisions for other off-balance sheet assets 9,787,698 8,632,235

Provisions for country risk 9,897,706 8,024,451

Provisions for other foreseeable risks 2,508,552 2,105,000

Negative goodwill 375,514 590,094

Other provisions 782,922 107,650

TOTAL 36,777,485 31,688,451

In the year 2004 the Management Board of the Bank decided to continue further the restructuring process in order to reduce the

operating expenses. Therefore the bank established restructuring provisions in the amount of 720,000 thousands tolars.
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b) Analysis of movements

Balance

Balance at at 31

1 January Provisions Provisions Provisions December

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 made released utilized 2004

Provisions for A graded balance sheet and 

off-balance sheet assets 12,229,021 10,334,410 (9,138,338) - 13,425,093

Provisions for other off-balance sheet assets 8,632,235 12,913,152 (11,757,689) - 9,787,698

Provisions for country risk 8,024,451 14,091,425 (12,218,170) - 9,897,706

Negative goodwill 590,094 - (214,580) - 375,514

Provisions for other foreseeable risks 2,105,000 500,000 - (96,448) 2,508,552

Other provisions 107,650 743,014 (28) (67,714) 782,922

TOTAL 31,688,451 38,582,001 (33,328,805) (164,162) 36,777,485

34. Provisions for general banking risks 

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 3,839,370 2,228,616

Provisions made 2,150,000 2,400,000

Provisions released - (500,000)

Provisions utilized - (289,246)

Balance at 31 December 5,989,370 3,839,370

35. Subordinated liabilities

Due 

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Currency date Interest rate 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Subordinated loans EUR EURIBOR + 2.5% p.a. - 5,917,257

EUR EURIBOR + 2.3% p.a. - 8,284,161

EUR 24.07.2012 EURIBOR + 1.2% p.a. 

to 24.7.2007, after that 

EURIBOR + 1.5% p.a. 21,576,870 21,302,127

Subordinated securities Tolars 09.06.2013 7.0 % 11,602,615 11,587,067

In tolars with foreign currency 

clause 24.11.2008 5.0 % 4,060,493 4,004,946

EUR 02.06.2014 3.426 % 11,987,150 -

EUR 17.12.2014 3.775 % 23,974,300 -

TOTAL 73,201,428 51,095,558
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In accordance with the Decree on the calculation of capital, capital requirements and capital adequacy of banks and savings banks,

one subordinated long-term loan and issued subordinate securities are included in the Bank’s Tier 2 capital. The issued subordinate

securities do not contain any provisions on conversion to capital or any other liabilities.

In the year 2004 the Bank prepaid three subordinated loans and issued new subordinated securities. New subordinate securities

are perpetual floating rate notes that have the nature of subordinate hybrid financial instrument in accordance with the Regulation

on capital adequacy of banks and savings banks and can therefore be included in supplementary capital for the purpose of capital

adequacy calculation. Securities have no fixed maturity. The call option gives the bank the right to redeem these securities after 10

years from the date of their issuance.

As at 31 December 2004 7,682,015 ordinary shares represented the capital of the Bank, each with a nominal value of 2,000 tolars.

Shares are issued in non-material form and registered in the Central Securities Clearing Corporation. All shares are ordinary and

inscribed. 

At 31 December 2004 there were 901 shareholders. The Bank's shareholders are 259 corporate entities, 640 citizens and 2 non -

residents. The number of shareholders in the year 2004 decreased by 18 or 2 % in comparison with the year 2004.

According to the decision of the Assembly in the year 2004 the Bank paid a dividend for the year 2003 of 286 tolars per share

amounting to 2,197,364 thousand tolars. 

36. Subscribed capital

a) Analysis of subscribed capital by type of shareholder

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Enterprises 1,255,618 1,245,774

Government departments and agencies 6,251,896 6,250,496

Banks 6,074,742 6,075,048

Other financial organisations 1,673,542 1,653,668

Citizens 108,232 139,044

TOTAL 15,364,030 15,364,030

b) Components of equity

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Subscribed capital 15,364,030 15,364,030

Equity reserves 13,603,399 13,603,376

Profit reserves 70,814,025 66,824,307

- Own shares fund 490,824 490,826

Retained earnings 2 37

General capital revaluation adjustment 11,791,560 11,791,560

Specific capital revaluation adjustment 6,084,180 5,564,235

Net profit for the period 3,440,368 2,746,677

TOTAL CAPITAL 121,097,564 115,894,222

Basic earnings per share at 31 December 2004 amounted to 896 tolars (715 tolars as at 31 December 2003). The weighted aver-

age number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 31 December 2004 was 7,682,015 (7,682,015 as at 31 December

2003).
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If the Bank maintained capital at the rate equal to the general price index in the year 2004, profit before tax would amount to

10,038,866 thousand tolars (5,742,734 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003). If instead of the general prices index the growth

rate for Euro in the year 2004 was used it would result in a profit before tax at amount of 12,299,246 thousand tolars (7,896,081

thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003).

c) Distributable net profit for the year 2004

In accordance with the decision of the supervisory Board net profit for the year 2004 in the amount of 3,440,369 thousand tolars

was transferred to other profit reserves, while the retained earnings and remaining part of net profit for the year 2004 in the amount

of 3,440,370 thousand tolars represent distributable net profit for the year 2004. 

37. Off-balance sheet 

a) Analysis by types of contingent liabilities and commitments 

31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Foreign Foreign 

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Tolars currency Tolars currency

Short-term guarantees 

- financial 26,356,546 9,704,064 12,249,325 7,319,351

- service 12,027,103 5,373,641 11,709,780 6,922,344

Long-term guarantees 

- financial 21,693,172 98,095,874 35,517,893 84,788,825

- service 37,343,713 8,088,990 29,754,982 27,978,849

Letters of credit - 4,472,486 - 3,298,675

Guaranteed and accepted bills - 6,284,123 - 4,024,168

Commitments to extend credit 159,771,495 44,690,337 147,877,365 28,714,535

Other 1,463,066 - - -

Derivative financial instruments 997,229 2,151,628 812,171 4,142,084

259,652,324 178,861,143 237,921,516 167,188,831

Provisions (5,766,899) (4,020,799) (4,777,568) (3,854,667)

TOTAL 253,885,425 174,840,344 233,143,948 163,334,164

According to the Bank of Slovenia's methodology the total off-balance sheet items amounted to 747,661,027 thousand tolars

(1,731,126,938 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003). In accordance with the Decree on the Classification of Balance Sheet and

Off-Balance Sheet Asset items of Banks and Savings Banks the total contingent liabilities with risk exposure amounted to

438,513,467 thousand tolars (405,110,347 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003). The difference to the total off balance sheet

items of the Bank consists of transactions or items that are treated as risk less contingent liabilities such as currency spot transactions

and difference between contractual and replaceable value of derivatives.
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b) Analysis of derivative financial instruments 

31.12.2004 31.12.2003

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term

Forward contracts

- for hedging - - 239,463 -

- for trading 19,962,661 3,297,249 61,863,996 700,944

Swaps with Bank of Slovenia 166,623,771 - 822,556,848 -

Other swaps 41,427,177 49,408,644 44,460,078 -

Options 9,627,025 7,653,969 15,352,876 -

Futures 477,338 - 733,740 -

Forward contracts to buy or sell securities 3,566,658 2,563,497 1,623,977 526,792

241,684,630 62,923,359 946,830,978 1,227,736

304,607,989 948,058,714

Those derivative financial instruments, which provide effective economic hedges under the risk management strategy of the Bank,

do not qualify for hedge accounting under the specific accounting rules and are therefore treated as derivatives held for trading.

Financial statements of the Bank for the year 2003 include provisions for financial derivative instruments in the amount of 37,275

thousand tolars (14,534 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003).

In the year 2004 the central bank offered Slovenian banks a possibility of permanent purchase of foreign currencies, which result-

ed in the reduction of foreign currency swaps with the Bank of Slovenia.

c) Assets pledged 

No assets are pledged as collateral for liabilities of the Bank as at 31 December 2004. 

38. Funds managed on behalf of third parties

The Bank manages assets totaling 286,137,422 thousand tolars (135,627,971 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003) on behalf

of third parties. Managed funds’ assets are accounted for separately from those of the Bank. Income and expenses of these funds

are for the account of the respective fund and no liability falls on the Bank in connection with these transactions. The Bank is com-

pensated for its services by fees chargeable to the funds.  

39. Foregin branches

The Bank has a branch in Triest, which total assets amounted to amounted to 38,418,434 thousand tolars as of 31 December 2004

(29,256,279 thousand tolars as at 31 December 2003) and net profit for the year 2004 5,477 thousand tolars (3,297 thousand tolars

as at year 2003).
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40. Related party transactions

Balance Balance

at 31 at 31 Repayments

December December Interes in the year

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 2004 2003 rate  2004

Loans and advances to

- Management board members 49,872 47,778 TOM + 1.3 % 2,037

- Supervisory board members 6,201 557 799

- Other key managers 292,603 298,871 TOM + 1.3 % 49,700

- Shareholders 80,568,760 71,844,894

Securities

- Shareholders 184,266,101 197,704,186

Deposits from

- Management board members 33,097 13,259

- Supervisory board members 8,619 10,054

- Other key managers 399,601 455,325

- Shareholders 59,576,477 79,897,033

Loans received from

- Shareholders 2,959,491 3,905,927

Debt securities

- Shareholders 37,147,586 52,585,017

Subordinate loans received from:

- Shareholders 26,803,391 35,198,645

2004 2003

Receipts

- Management board members 368,012 251,590

- Supervisory board members 3,400 4,787

- Other key managers 1,828,578 1,463,065

Receipts include gross salaries, remunerations, vacation bonus, management insurance, jubilee bonuses and additional pension

insurance.
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41. Fair value of financial instruments

31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair 

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS value value value value

Placements with, and loans to, other banks 189,875,786 193,463,929 120,988,996 121,862,894

Loans and advances to customers 900,389,684 919,127,908 779,362,127 796,440,383

Investment securities, available for sale 424,369,527 427,468,472 510,799,040 513,811,862

Investment securities, held to maturity 29,684,778 29,684,167 24,272,474 23,075,192

Investments in capital 51,131,648 51,131,648 46,412,077 46,412,077

Securities held for trading 132,716,261 138,370,679 100,775,593 106,476,792

Derivative financial instruments - other assets 1,252,426 1,884,506 2,702,752 3,307,693

Deposits from banks 85,201,646 83,606,516 98,735,898 98,252,844

Borrowing from banks 230,065,131 227,015,758 153,934,824 150,270,214

Deposits from other customers 1,153,471,809 1,123,513,993 1,091,904,400 1,068,370,086

Borrowing from other customers 34,719,342 34,492,504 28,279,549 27,519,903

Debt securities 95,467,606 98,234,879 110,011,380 111,871,354

Subordinated liabilities 73,201,428 75,061,081 51,095,558 50,462,918

Derivative financial instruments - other liabilities 3,505,548 3,505,548 2,529,779 2,531,986

Placements with and loans to other bank

The estimated fair value of the deposits is based on discounted cash flows using prevailing money market interest rates for debts

with similar credit risk and remaining maturity.

Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances are net of specific provisions for impairment. The Bank uses a discount rate adjustment approach. In other

words, the stream of contracted cash flows forms the basis for the present value computation, and the rates used to discount those

cash flows reflect the uncertainties of cash flows.

Debt securities held to maturity

The fair value of other securities held to maturity is based on their quoted market price or calculated by using discounted cash flows

techniques and it is higher or equal to the carrying value of these securities.

Deposits

The fair value to the depository institution of a demand deposits on the expectations of the timing and amounts of withdrawals of

the existing balance, the level of prevailing interest rates with similar terms, the costs of servicing the deposit and the bank's own

credit risk. This is essentially important for core demand deposits, which have a positive fair value.

The estimated fair value of other deposits is based on discounted cash flows using interest rates for new debts with similar remain-

ing maturity.
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42. Segmental analysis 2004

Other

Retail Corporate Financial (unallo- 

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS network business markets cated) The Bank

Net interest income 25,622,728 9,465,794 (1,331,204) 4,170,371 37,927,689

Income from investing in capital 1,128,447 602,174 6,605,470 752,871 9,088,962

Net fees and commissions 16,868,877 3,698,070 211,618 271,701 21,050,266

Net profit (loss) from finance transactions 1,404,143 (29,413) 5,900,972 (259,420) 7,016,282

Other operating income 1,686,795 14,573 32,882 949,178 2,683,428

Employee costs (19,611,310) (2,879,304) (2,711,733) (82,660) (25,285,007)

Other expenses (11,729,246) (1,445,699) (1,583,798) (204,329) (14,963,072)

Depreciation and revaluation expenses (6,027,115) (766,651) (737,924) (135,914) (7,667,604)

Other operating expenses (625,788) (94,416) (86,074) (1,096,187) (1,902,465)

Losses on loans and advances less recoveries (3,186,523) (5,909,902) (2,895,239) (80,806) (12,072,470)

Extraordinary income/expenses 7,122 2 (127) 56,895 63,892

Segment result 5,538,130 2,655,228 3,404,843 4,341,700 15,939,901

Income/(expenses) made between segments  22,017,075 (9,639,087) (18,447,218) 6,069,230 -

Provisions for general banking risks (2,150,000)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 13,789,901

Taxes (6,909,164)

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 6,880,737

Total assets 344,602,812 575,247,109 1,055,212,312 (110,290,434) 1,864,771,799

Total liabilities 987,361,150 125,456,723 617,986,701 12,869,661 1,743,674,235

Equity - - - 121,097,564 121,097,564

The Bank's organisational structure is from the beginning of the year 2004 based on 3 major business segments (value generation

centres). This business segments are used for segment reporting for the year 2004:

1. Financial markets, including: treasury, investment banking and capital investments

2. Corporate business, including: large companies and state companies (public sector)

3. Retail network, including: payment and credit cards, loans to and deposits from individual clients, balances on their accounts etc.

Other operations comprise support centre (information technology and administration) and management centre, none of which

constitutes a separately reportable segment.
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2003

Other

Retail Corporate Financial (unallo-

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS network business markets cated) The Bank

Net interest income 21,111,282 10,028,300 (106,026) 3,853,702 34,887,258

Income from investing in capital 1,026,405 547,852 8,209,284 687,793 10,471,334

Net fees and commissions 14,702,775 3,600,263 385,154 76,634 18,764,826

Net profit (loss) from finance transactions 1,212,284 110,926 (890,230) (281,019) 151,961 

Other operating income 1,882,443 11,525 18,647 1,124,445 3,037,060

Employee costs (18,155,302) (2,687,968) (3,122,770) (29,008) (23,995,048)

Other expenses (12,136,203) (1,503,764) (2,168,955) (295,839) (16,104,761)

Depreciation and revaluation expenses (4,986,129) (634,186) (798,485) (160,082) (6,578,882)

Other operating expenses (265,619) (44,099) (46,326) (347,866) (703,910)

Losses on loans and advances less recoveries (2,678,826) (803,596) (3,120,759) (457,434) (7,060,615)

Extraordinary income/expenses 7,314 1,137 - 37,597 46,048 

Segment result 1,720,424 8,626,390 (1,640,466) 4,208,923 12,915,271

Income/(expenses) made between segments  29,420,398 (12,657,853) (23,782,860) 7,020,315 -

Provisions for general banking risks (1,900,000)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 11,015,271

Taxes (5,521,918)

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 5,493,353

Total assets 298,852,948 493,229,649 909,052,154 16,123,028 1,717,257,779

Total liabilities 942,970,574 110,924,332 473,387,703 74,080,948 1,601,363,557

Equity - - - 115,894,222 115,894,222
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43. Balance sheet maturity analysis

Year ended 31 December 2004: Up to 1 Month to 3 Months 1 to 5 Over

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS 1 Month 3 Months to 1 Year Years 5 Years Total

Cash and balances with the Central Bank 50,941,783 - - - - 50,941,783

Placements with, and loans to, other banks 39,116,534 16,768,176 26,133,552 104,895,790 2,961,734 189,875,786

Loans and advances to customers 37,905,513 91,404,320 276,494,441 341,575,732 153,009,678 900,389,684

Debt securities not held for trading 112,545,594 151,261,446 22,895,157 89,049,383 78,302,725 454,054,305

Securities held for trading 129,710,341 - 3,005,920 - - 132,716,261

Investments in subsidiaries, associated companies 

and jointly controlled companies - - - - 50,511,108 50,511,108

Investments in other companies - - - - 620,540 620,540

Intangible assets - - - 2,717,181 15,762,555 18,479,736

Property and equipment - - - 9,736,165 27,543,117 37,279,282

Other assets 16,411,345 - 1,403,388 422,618 - 18,237,351

Accrued income and deferred expenses 1,367,585 1,872,432 8,425,946 - - 11,665,963

TOTAL ASSETS 387,998,695 261,306,374 338,358,404 548,396,869 328,711,457 1,864,771,799

Deposits and borrowings from banks 65,579,189 18,556,351 42,350,031 172,351,486 16,429,720 315,266,777

Deposits and borowings from other customers 503,650,105 301,761,749 302,397,627 71,129,845 9,251,825 1,188,191,151

Debt securities 11,075,813 7,693,518 12,069,791 51,570,900 13,057,584 95,467,606

Other liabilities 13,970,195 15,855 5,267,972 - - 19,254,022

Accruals and deferred income 1,628,653 1,363,744 6,173,692 360,307 - 9,526,396

Provisions for liabilities and charges 1,937,975 1,556,482 3,872,606 24,742,207 4,668,215 36,777,485

Provisions for general banking risks - - - - 5,989,370 5,989,370

Subordinated liabilities - - - 4,060,493 69,140,935 73,201,428

Subscribed capital - - - - 15,364,030 15,364,030

Equity reserves - - - - 13,603,399 13,603,399

Profit reserves - - - - 70,814,025 70,814,025

Capital revaluation adjustment - - - - 17,875,740 17,875,740

Retained profits - - - - 2 2

Net profit for the period - - - - 3,440,368 3,440,368

TOTAL LIABILITIES 597,841,930 330,947,699 372,131,719 324,215,238 239,635,213 1,864,771,799

DIFFERENCE BETWEEN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (209,843,235) (69,641,325) (33,773,315) 224,181,631 89,076,244 -

31 December 2003

TOTAL ASSETS 353,261,655 216,231,724 475,379,122 411,710,369 260,674,909 1,717,257,779

TOTAL LIABILITIES 619,247,638 244,287,435 412,961,786 207,530,762 233,230,158 1,717,257,779

DIFFERENCE BETWEEN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (265,985,983) (28,055,711) 62,417,336 204,179,607 27,444,751 -



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 4

145

44. Balance sheet analysis by currency  

In Tolars

with foreign

Year ended 31 December 2004: currency

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Tolars  clause EUR USD Other Total

Cash and balances with the Central Bank 45,779,159 - 3,278,876 479,524 1,404,224 50,941,783

Placements with, and loans to, other banks 79,139,146 117,674 90,909,625 15,822,247 3,887,094 189,875,786

Loans and advances to customers 484,771,546 14,592,061 363,080,470 19,455,799 18,489,808 900,389,684

Debt securities not held for trading 268,037,311 238,305 172,538,614 11,070,429 2,169,646 454,054,305

Securities held for trading 87,363,585 3,439,475 28,339,695 12,736,298 837,208 132,716,261

Investments in subsidiaries, associated companies 

and jointly controlled companies 33,822,302 - 11,293,287 - 5,395,519 50,511,108

Investments in other companies 453,359 - 167,181 - - 620,540

Intangible assets 18,410,508 16,947 52,281 - - 18,479,736

Property and equipment 37,215,608 - 63,674 - - 37,279,282

Other assets 15,664,967 16,106 1,567,808 968,555 19,915 18,237,351

Accrued income and deferred expenses 10,775,075 44,410 779,485 32,800 34,193 11,665,963

TOTAL ASSETS 1,081,432,566 18,464,978 672,070,996 60,565,652 32,237,607 1,864,771,799

Deposits and borrowings from banks 21,808,962 - 270,395,867 16,630,793 6,431,155 315,266,777

Deposits and borowings from other customers 762,631,543 4,697,719 362,968,784 42,503,303 15,389,802 1,188,191,151

Debt securities 81,608,982 13,797,037 51,566 10,021 - 95,467,606

Other liabilities 16,013,418 30,923 1,992,416 1,192,195 25,070 19,254,022

Accruals and deferred income 7,287,084 280,527 1,854,928 65,821 38,036 9,526,396

Provisions for liabilities and charges 16,746,671 360,771 16,757,980 1,615,043 1,297,020 36,777,485

Provisions for general banking risks 5,989,370 - - - - 5,989,370

Subordinated liabilities 11,602,615 4,060,493 57,538,320 - - 73,201,428

Subscribed capital 15,364,030 - - - - 15,364,030

Equity reserves 13,603,399 - - - - 13,603,399

Profit reserves 70,814,025 - - - - 70,814,025

Capital revaluation adjustment 17,875,740 - - - - 17,875,740

Retained profits 2 - - - - 2

Net profit for the period 3,440,368 - - - - 3,440,368

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,044,786,209 23,227,470 711,559,861 62,017,176 23,181,083 1,864,771,799

DIFFERENCE BETWEEN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 36,646,357 (4,762,492) (39,488,865) (1,451,524) 9,056,524 -

Derivative financial instruments (94,925,363) - 106,323,046 (5,494,443) (6,753,964) (850,724)

31 December 2003

TOTAL ASSETS 1,028,491,465 22,882,781 579,293,797 60,270,753 26,318,983 1,717,257,779

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,040,861,713 25,132,472 568,224,093 59,110,924 23,928,577 1,717,257,779

DIFFERENCE BETWEEN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (12,370,248) (2,249,691) 11,069,704 1,159,829 2,390,406 -

Derivative financial instruments 24,522,950 - (15,200,302) (4,949,529) (2,585,233) 1,787,886
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45. Effective interest rates

The interest rate risk exposure analysis of the Non

bank's balance sheet as at 31 December 2004: interest Interest Up to 1 Month 3 Months Over

IN THOUSANDS OF TOLARS Total bearing bearing 1 month to 3 Months to 1 Year 1 Year

ASSETS

Cash and balances with the Central Bank 50,941,783 16,711,021 34,230,762 34,230,762 - - -

Placement with, and loans to, other banks 189,875,786 - 189,875,786 120,209,256 36,011,461 33,551,779 103,290

Loans and advances to customers 900,389,684 - 900,389,684 380,396,690 189,070,317 190,124,545 140,798,132

Debt securities not held for trading 454,054,305 - 454,054,305 239,751,128 153,236,840 18,958,970 42,107,367

Securities held for trading 132,716,261 22,182,152 110,534,109 107,528,189 34,375 2,971,545 -

Investments in subsidiaries, associated companies

and jointly controlled companies 50,511,108 50,511,108 - - - - -

Investments in other companies 620,540 620,540 - - - - -

Intangible assets 18,479,736 18,479,736 - - - - -

Property and equipment 37,279,282 37,279,282 - - - - -

Other assets 18,237,351 18,019,625 217,726 217,726 - - -

Accrues income and deferred expenses 11,665,963 11,665,963 - - - - -

TOTAL ASSETS 1,864,771,799 175,469,427 1,689,302,372 882,333,751 378,352,993 245,606,839 183,008,789

LIABILITIES

Deposits and borrowings from banks 315,266,777 - 315,266,777 86,650,149 38,373,621 188,525,661 1,717,346

Deposits and borrowings from other 

customersbanks 1,188,191,151 - 1,188,191,151 922,798,674 163,687,688 94,636,050 7,068,739

Debt securities 95,467,606 - 95,467,606 39,909,420 3,919,636 10,218,241 41,420,309

Other liabilities 19,254,022 19,254,022 - - - - -

Accruals and deferred income 9,526,396 9,526,396 - - - - -

Provisions for liabilities and charges 36,777,485 36,777,485 - - - - -

Provisions for general banking risks 5,989,370 5,989,370 - - - - -

Subordinated liabilities 73,201,428 - 73,201,428 - 35,889,857 21,533,914 15,777,657

Subscribed capital 15,364,030 15,364,030 - - - - -

Equity reserves 13,603,399 13,603,399 - - - - -

Profit reserves 70,814,025 70,814,025 - - - - -

Capital revaluation adjustment 17,875,740 17,875,740 - - - - -

Retained profits 2 2 - - - - -

Net profit for the period 3,440,368 3,440,368 - - - - -

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,864,771,799 192,644,837 1,672,126,962 1,049,358,243 241,870,802 314,913,866 65,984,051

DIFFERENCE BETWEEN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (167,024,492) 136,482,191 (69,307,027) 117,024,738

31 December 2003

TOTAL ASSETS 834,087,875 287,618,696 360,146,358 73,664,330

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,056,512,625 192,797,328 225,337,772 59,313,884

DIFFERENCE BETWEEN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (222,424,750) 94,821,368 134,808,586 14,350,446
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46. Effective interest rates

2004 2003

In In foreign In In foreign 

IN % tolar currency tolar currency

ASSETS

Cash and balances with the Central Bank 0.68 - 0.84 -

Placements with. and loans to. other banks 4.17 2.87 6.53 2.62

Loans and advances to customers 8.35 3.59 10.27 3.88

Debt securities not held for trading 6.91 2.04 10.33 2.24

Securities held for trading 5.01 2.85 5.96 3.49

Other assets 0.86 - 0.50 -

TOTAL ASSETS 6.63 2.96 8.66 3.04

LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks 4.28 1.53 7.82 1.34

Borrowings from banks 4.81 2.56 6.13 3.09

Deposits from other customers 3.29 0.86 5.49 1.37

Borrowings from other customers 5.72 2.56 10.34 2.68

Debt securities 7.25 1.72 9.01 0.71

Other liabilities 0.35 - 0.31 -

Subordinated liabilities 7.01 3.68 7.24 4.23

TOTAL LIABILITIES 3.26 1.52 5.11 1.91

Effective interest rates are calculated on the basis of daily averages for each interest bearing balance sheet item (separately for tolars

and foreign currencies), Interest income from loans to banks and loans to other customers are increased by commitment fees and

commissions related to these loans. 
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Audited consolidated financial
statements for NLB Group under

International Financial Reporting Standards



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 4

150



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 4

151

Statement of management’s responsibilities

The management are responsible for preparing financial statements for each financial year that present fairly the state of affairs of

the Bank and its subsidiaries as at the end of the financial year and of the profit or loss for that period.

The management confirm that suitable accounting policies have been used and applied consistently and reasonable and prudent

judgements and estimates have been made in the preparation of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2004.

The management also confirm that applicable International Financial Reporting Standards have been followed and that the finan-

cial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis.

The management are responsible for keeping proper accounting records, for taking reasonable steps to safeguard the assets of the

Bank and its subsidiaries and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Management Board

Pierre Van Keirsbilck

Member of the 

Management Board

Andrej Hazabent

Member of the 

Management Board

Marjan Kramar

President of the 

Management

Board & CEO

Erik Luts

Member of the 

Management

Board

Borut StaniË

Member of the 

Management

Board

Matej Narat

Member of the 

Management

Board
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Report of the auditors

To the Members of Nova Ljubljanska banka d.d., Ljubljana

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Nova Ljubljanska banka d.d. Ljubljana and its subsidiaries (the

Group) as of 31 December 2004 and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year

then ended. These financial statements set out on pages 155 to 201 are the responsibility of the management. Our responsibility is

to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we plan and per-

form the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit

includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also

includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall

financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as of 31

December 2004 and of the results of its operations, changes in equity and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance

with International Financial Reporting Standards.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Ljubljana, 26 April 2005
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IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS Notes 2004 2003

Interest and similar income 6 124,824 137,609

Interest expense and similar charges 6 (54,512) (74,637)

NET INTEREST INCOME 70,312 62,972

Fees and commissions income 7 30,439 27,032

Fees and commissions expense 7 (6,580) (4,872)

NET FEES AND COMMISSIONS 23,859 22,160

Gains arising from securities held for trading (net) 5,760 6,149

Gains arising from investment securities (net) 719 2,095

Gains arising from dealing in foreign currencies (net) 2,549 2,015

(Losses)/gains arising from derivatives (1,124) (2,965)

Foreign exchange gains and losses (net) 2,427 (1,106)

Other operating income 8 5,914 7,474

OPERATING INCOME 110,416 98,794

Impairment losses 9 (18,519) (12,576)

General administrative expenses 10 (58,699) (56,434)

Other operating expenses 11 (13,323) (11,847)

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 19,875 17,937

Share of profits of associated companies and joint ventures 20 2,154 2,065

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 22,029 20,002

Income tax expense 12 (6,260) (8,045)

PROFIT AFTER TAX 15,769 11,957

Minority interest 35 (2,627) (2,344)

NET PROFIT 13,142 9,613

Basic and diluted earnings per share (expressed in tolars per share) 13 1,711 1,251

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 december 2004
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IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS Notes 2004 2003

ASSETS

Cash and balances with the Central Bank 14 75,372 70,456

Placements with, and loans to banks 15 490,718 558,876

Securities held for trading 16 186,180 148,863

Loans and advances to customers 17 1,380,910 1,155,988

Investment securities 18 123,397 108,596

Investment property 19 4,046 4,777

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures 20 13,077 10,631

Other assets 21 16,570 18,623

Accrued income and deferred expenses 23 14,829 13,548

Property and equipment 24 60,449 62,578

Intangible assets 25 18,951 15,646

TOTAL ASSETS 2,384,499 2,168,582

LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks 26 121,151 139,180

Borrowings from banks 27 362,442 257,147

Deposits from other customers 28 1,389,735 1,286,581

Borrowings from other customers 29 83,738 76,180

Debt securities 30 93,919 106,279

Other liabilities 31 40,391 37,332

Accruals and deferred income 32 12,063 20,802

Provisions for liabilities and charges 33 16,860 12,194

Subordinated liabilities 34 72,990 51,800

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,193,289 1,987,495

Minority interest 35 27,057 28,015

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Share capital 37 15,364 15,364

Share premium 12,546 12,546

Less: treasury shares (69) (69)

Retained earnings 103,212 94,481

Reserves 38 33,100 30,750

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 164,153 153,072

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2,384,499 2,168,582

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The Management Board authorised for issue the financial statements and notes to the financial statements.

Ljubljana, 26 April 2005

Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 december 2004

Pierre Van Keirsbilck

Member of the 

Management Board

Andrej Hazabent

Member of the 

Management Board

Marjan Kramar

President of the 

Management

Board & CEO

Erik Luts

Member of the 

Management

Board

Borut StaniË

Member of the 

Management

Board

Matej Narat

Member of the 

Management

Board
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Share

Share premium Retained Total

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS Capital Reserves reserve Earnings Equity

Balance at 1 January 2003 15,364 28,231 12,477 81,972 138,044

Adjustment to opening balance (note 2x) - - - 7,625 7,625

Balance at 1 January 2003 - restated 15,364 28,231 12,477 89,597 145,669

Foreign exchange difference on net assets of subsidiaries and associates - 180 - 291 471

Profit for the year - - - 9,613 9,613

Dividends paid - - - (2,501) (2,501)

Transfer to general banking reserve - 2,339 - (2,339) -

Other - - - (180) (180)

Balance at 31 December 2003 15,364 30,750 12,477 94,481 153,072

Balance at 1 January 2004 15,364 30,750 12,477 94,481 153,072

Foreign exchange difference on net assets of subsidiaries and associates - (178) - 23 (155)

Profit for the year - - - 13,142 13,142

Dividends paid - - - (2,187) (2,187)

Transfer to general banking reserve - 2,528 - (2,528) -

Other - - - 281 281

Balance at 31 December 2004 15,364 33,100 12,477 103,212 164,153

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 
the 31 december 2004
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IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Interest and commission receipts 153,034 158,921

Interest and commission payments (69,417) (74,469)

Dividend receipts 413 344

Recoveries on loans previously written off 554 304

Cash payments to employees and suppliers (58,530) (58,274)

Trading gains 15,286 4,193

Other income 4,694 6,204

Other expense (828) (2,105)

Taxation paid (6,027) (8,034)

Cash flows from operating profit before changes in operating assets and liabilities 39,179 27,084

(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:

Balances with the Central Bank (6,626) 2,144

Placements with, and loans to, other banks 74,626 (24,969)

Loans and advances to customers (222,493) (118,307)

Short-term securities (2,348) (27,898)

Other assets (9,231) (11,820)

Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:

Deposits from banks (28,900) 21,152

Deposits from other customers 109,467 (3,275)

Other liabilities 2,097 (624)

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (44,229) (136,513)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sales of non - dealing investments 36,899 7,392

Purchase of investments (46,142) (20,703)

Proceeds from sales of property, equipment and intangibles 282 2,897

Purchase of property, equipment and intangibles (11,656) (13,681)

Acquisition of subsidiary undertaking (2,513) (3,698)

NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (23,130) (27,793)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Increase in borrowings 902,237 237,765

Decrease in borrowings (801,834) (155,362)

Subordinated debt received 21,577 15,584

Dividends paid (3,163) (3,801)

NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 118,817 94,186

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1,339 3,724

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 52,797 (66,396)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 483,626 550,022

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 536,423 483,626

Consolidated cash flow statement for the year ended 31 december 2004

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

Cash and balances with the Central Bank 14 27,957 29,667

Placements with, and loans to, other banks maturing within 3 months 364,450 344,399

Securities held for trading maturing within 3 months 144,016 109,560

TOTAL 536,423 483,626
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1. General information

Nova Ljubljanska banka ("The Bank" / "NLB") is incorporat-

ed in Slovenia as a share company providing universal banking

services. The largest shareholders of Nova Ljubljanska banka

d.d. are the Republic of Slovenia, holding 35.41% of the

shares, and KBC Bank N.V., Brussels ("KBC Bank") holding

34% of the shares.

The address of its registered office is: Nova Ljubljanska

banka d.d., Ljubljana, Trg republike 2, Ljubljana.

The increase of the general price index for the year 2004

was 3.2% (2003: 4.6%). The exchange rate changed from

236.7 tolars to the euro at 31 December 2003 to 239.7 tolars

to the euro at 31 December 2004, and from 189.4 tolars to

the US dollar at 31 December 2003 to 176.2 tolars to the US

dollar at 31 December 2004.

All amounts are expressed in million of tolars unless other-

wise specified.

2. Summary of significant accounting polices

The principal accounting policies adopted for the prepara-

tion of the consolidated financial statements are set out below:

a) Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance

with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS").

b) Basis of presentation of financial statements

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under

the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation

of available for sale investment securities, investment proper-

ty, financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading and

all derivative contracts.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with

IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect 

the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of

contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 

statements and the reported amounts of revenues and

expenses during the reporting period. Although these esti-

mates are based on management’s best knowledge of current

events and actions, actual results ultimately may differ from

those estimates.

For the purposes of these financial statements, the statuto-

ry financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries (togeth-

er: "the Group") have been adjusted, where necessary, for the

purpose of fair presentation in accordance with IFRS. There

was no early adoption of revised IFRSs in the year 2004.

c) Consolidation

Subsidiary undertakings, which are those companies in

which the Group, directly or indirectly, has an interest of more

than half of the voting rights or otherwise has the power to

exercise control over the operations, have been fully consoli-

dated. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which

effective control is transferred to the Group and are no longer

consolidated from the date of disposal. All intercompany

transactions, balances and unrealised surpluses and deficits on

transactions between group companies have been eliminated.

Where necessary, accounting policies for subsidiaries have

been changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopt-

ed by the Bank. Separate disclosure is made of minority inter-

est (note 35).

A listing of the Group’s subsidiaries is set out in note 44.

d) Associated undertakings

Investments in associated undertakings are accounted for

using the equity method of accounting. These are undertak-

ings where the Group generally has between 20% and 50%

of the voting rights, and over which the Group exercises sig-

nificant influence, but which it does not control. 

Notes to the consolidated financial 
statements
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Equity method of accounting involves recognizing in the

income statement the Group’s share of the associates’ profit

or loss for the year. The Group’s interest in the associate is car-

ried in the balance sheet at an amount that reflects its share

of the net assets of the associate and includes goodwill on

acquisition. 

In respect of associates, negative goodwill is amortised over

a period of five years.

If there is an indication that an investment may be impaired,

the recoverable amount is assessed for each associated com-

pany. Any impairment loss is recognised immediately in the

income statement.

A listing of the Group’s principal associated undertakings is

set out in Note 20.

e) Jointly controlled companies

Jointly controlled companies are those enterprises over

whose activities the Group has joint control, established by con-

tractual agreement. Investments in jointly controlled companies

are accounted for using the equity method of accounting.

f) Goodwill and Negative Goodwill

On acquisition of a subsidiary, the Bank calculates the dif-

ference between the fair value of the assets and liabilities

acquired and the fair value of the consideration given. For

additionally acquired shares in existing subsidiaries, the Bank

uses the partial step up method and calculates the difference

between the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired

and the fair value of consideration at the date of the latest

share purchase, but only to the extent of the additional pur-

chase. Where the consideration given exceeds the net assets

acquired, goodwill arises; this is amortised to the income

statement over its estimated useful life of five years. The car-

rying value of goodwill is reviewed annually and written down

for permanent impairment where considered necessary.

Negative goodwill arising on acquisition represents the

excess of the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired

over the cost of acquisition. Negative goodwill is generally

amortised to the income statement over a period of five years.

However in the case of significant acquisitions made by the

Group to expand its product and services or geographical

market coverage, such negative goodwill is amortised to the

income statement over a period not exceeding eight years. 

g) Foreign currencies

Assets and liabilities of foreign entities denominated in for-

eign currencies are translated into tolars at the exchange rate

ruling as at 31 December. Income and expenses of the foreign

entities are translated at average rate for the year. Exchange

differences arising from translating income and expenses at

average rate for the year and assets and liabilities at the year

end rate are taken directly into reserves. Gains and losses

resulting from the translation of the opening net assets of for-

eign subsidiaries and associated companies are taken directly

to reserves. 

Income and expenses arising in foreign currencies are trans-

lated at the exchange rate prevailing as at the transaction

date.

Gains and losses resulting from foreign currency purchases

and sales for trading purposes are included in the income

statement as net gains or losses from dealing in foreign cur-

rencies.

h) Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognised in the income

statement for all interest bearing instruments on an accruals

basis using the effective yield method based on the actual pur-

chase price. Loan origination fees for loans, which are proba-

ble of being drawn down, are deferred (together with related

direct costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the effective

yield on the loan. Interest income includes coupons earned on

fixed income investment and trading securities and accrued

discounts on discounted securities. When loans become

doubtful of collection, they are written down to their recover-

able amounts and interest income is thereafter recognised

based on recoverable amounts and interest income is there-

after recognised based on the rate of interest that was used

to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measur-

ing the recoverable amount.

i) Fees and commission income

Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accru-

al basis when the service has been provided. Fees and com-

missions consist mainly of fees received from payment and

from the managing of funds on behalf of legal entities and cit-

izens, together with commissions from loans and guarantees.

Fees receivable that represent a return for services provided

are credited to income when the related service is performed.

j) Financial instruments

i) Classification

Held for trading instruments include investments that

the Group principally holds for the purpose of short-term

profit taking.
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All regular way purchases and sales of trading securities

are recognised in the consolidated financial statements at

the trade date, which is the date the Group commits to pur-

chase or sell the asset.

Originated loans and receivables are loans and receiv-

ables created by the Group by providing money directly to a

debtor, other than those created with the intention of

short-term profit taking. Originated loans and receivables

are carried at amortised cost. All loans and advances are

recognised when cash is advanced to borrowers.

Held-to-maturity assets are financial assets with fixed

or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the

Group has the intent and ability to hold to maturity.

Available-for-sale assets are financial assets that are

not classified in any other previous category.

ii) Measurement and Recognition

All regular way purchases and sales of investment securi-

ties are recognised using trade date accounting. All other

purchase and sales are recognised as derivative forward

transactions until settlement.

All held for trading instruments and available-for-sale

assets are measured at fair value, except where an instru-

ment, including equity instrument, that does not have a

quoted market price in an active market and whose fair

value cannot be reliably measured, is stated at cost less

impairment.

iii) Fair value measurement principles

The fair value of financial instruments is based on their

quoted market price at the balance sheet date. If a quoted

market price is not available, the fair value of the instru-

ments is estimated using discounted cash flow techniques

or pricing models.

Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated

future cash flows are based on the management’s best esti-

mates and the discount rate is a market related rate at the bal-

ance sheet date for an instrument with similar terms and con-

ditions. Where pricing models are used, inputs are based on

market related measures at the balance sheet date.

iv) Gains and losses on subsequent measurement

Gains and losses arising from a change in the fair value of

held for trading and available-for-sale assets are recognised

in the income statement.

v) Derivative financial instruments 

Derivative financial instruments, including forward and

futures contracts, swaps and options, are initially recognized

on balance sheet at their cost, which is the fair value of

related consideration given or received. Derivative financial

instruments are subsequently remeasured at their fair value.

Fair values are obtained from quoted market price, dis-

counted cash flow models or pricing models, as appropri-

ate. All derivatives are carried at their fair value in assets

when favourable to the Bank, and in liabilities when

unfavourable to the Bank.

Certain derivative financial instruments, while providing

effective economic hedges, do not qualify for hedge

accounting under the specific accounting rules and are

therefore treated as derivatives held for trading.

k) Provisions for impairment of originated loans and

receivables

An allowance for loan impairment is established if there is

objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect

all amounts due according to the original contractual terms

loans. The amount of the provision is the difference

between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount,

being the present value of expected cash flows, including

amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, dis-

counted at the original effective interest rate.  In calculating

impairment loss  the management considers numerous fac-

tors, including (but not limited to) domestic economic con-

ditions, the composition of the loan portfolio, and prior bad

debt experience.

Statutory and other regulatory loan loss reserve require-

ments that exceed these amounts are dealt with in the

retained earnings.

If the amount of the impairment subsequently decreases

due to an event occurring after the write down, the reversal

of loss is credited as a reduction of an allowance for loan

impairment.

l) Accounting for leases - where a Group company is the

lessee

Leases entered into by the Group are all operating leases.

Payments made under operating leases are charged to the

income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of

the lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease

period has expired, any payment required to be made to the
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lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the

period in which termination takes place.

m) Accounting for leases - where a Group company is

the lessor

When assets are leased out under a finance lease, the pres-

ent value of the lease payments is recognised as a receivable.

Income from finance leasing transactions is apportioned sys-

tematically over the primary lease period, reflecting a constant

periodic return on the lessor's net investment outstanding.

n) Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount

reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforce-

able right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an

intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and set-

tle the liability simultaneously.

o) Sale and repurchase agreements

Securities sold under sale and repurchase agreements

(repos) are retained in the financial statements, and the coun-

terparty liability is included in deposits from banks or cus-

tomers as appropriate. Securities purchased under agree-

ments to resell (reverse repos) are recorded as loans and

advances to other banks or customers as appropriate. The dif-

ference between the sale and repurchase price is treated as

interest and accrued evenly over the life of the repo agree-

ments.

p) Property and equipment

All property and equipment is initially recorded at cost. The

Group assesses each year whether there are indications that

assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the

Group estimates the recoverable amounts of assets.

Recoverable amounts are the higher of net selling price and

value in use. If value in use exceeds the carrying value, the

assets are not impaired. 

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis at rates

designed to write off cost or valuation of buildings and equip-

ment over their estimated useful lives. The following are

approximations of the annual rates used:

%

Buildings 2 - 5

Leasehold improvements 20

Computers 14.3 - 50

Furniture and equipment 10 - 33.3

Motor vehicles 20 - 40

Assets in the course of transfer or construction are not

depreciated until they are brought into use.

Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are

determined by reference to their carrying amount and are

taken into account in determining operating profit.

Maintenance and repairs are charged to the income state-

ment when the expenditure is incurred and renewals capi-

talised.

q) Intangible assets

Intangible assets that relate solely to software licences are

stated at cost, less accumulated amortisation and impairment

losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis at rates

designed to write off cost of software over its estimated use-

ful life. The current system software and the new information

technology system are amortised over a period of ten years

and other software over a period of five years. 

Assets in the course of transfer or construction/implementa-

tion are not amortised until they are brought into use. 

r) Investment property

Investment property includes buildings held for rental yields

and not occupied by the Group. Investment property is stated

at fair value determined by an independent registered valuer.

Fair value is based on current market prices. Any gain or loss

arising from a change in fair value is recognised in the income

statement. 

s) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash

equivalents comprise balances with less than 90 days’ maturi-

ty for the date of acquisition including: cash and balances with

central bank except obligatory reserves, placement with and

loans to other banks, and securities held for trading.
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t) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at ‘cost’, being their issue

proceeds (fair value of consideration received) net of transac-

tion cost incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at

amortised cost and any difference between net proceeds and

the redemption value is recognised in the income statement

over the period of the borrowings using the effective yield

method.

If the Group purchases its own debt, it is removed from the

balance sheet.

u) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present

legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is

probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic

benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable

estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

v) Treasury shares

Where NLB or its subsidiaries purchase NLB's share capital or

obtains rights to purchase its share capital, the consideration

paid is shown as a deduction from total shareholders' equity.

Gains and losses on sales of own shares are charged or cred-

ited to share premium reserve.

w) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable

value. Cost is determined using the weighted average cost

formula. Inventories include cost of construction projects

where the Group is an investor and property held for sale in

the ordinary course of business.

x) Taxation

Slovenian corporation tax is provided on taxable profits at

the rate of 25% (2003: 25%). Foreign taxes are provided for

in accordance with local tax laws and accounting principles.

According to Slovenian legislation the maximum balance

sheet tax is limited to 50% of pre-tax profit. Where the 3%

levy exceeds 50% of profits, the lower tax charge is applicable. 

Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method,

for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of

assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial

reporting purposes. Tax rates currently enforced are used to

determine deferred income tax.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is

probable that future taxable profit against which the tempo-

rary differences can be utilised, will be available.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences

arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ven-

tures, except where the timing of the reversal of the tempo-

rary difference can be controlled, and it is probable that the

temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

As a consequence of a change in a tax legislation in the year

2004 the Bank will no longer pay a balance sheet tax but only

income tax at the rate of 25%. In previous financial state-

ments deferred tax was calculated using the tax rate of 50%.

As a result of a change in tax legislation the carrying amount

of deferred tax liability had to be correspondingly adjusted.

The effect of change in tax rate resulted in a decrease of

deferred tax liability by 9,971 million tolars. For those items

that were directly recognised in equity as a consequence of

implementation of the new accounting policy, the resulting

change in deferred tax in the amount of 7,625 million tolars

was also directly credited to equity. 

y) Managed funds

The Group manages a significant amount of assets on

behalf of legal entities and individuals. A fee is charged for this

service. These assets are not shown in the consolidated bal-

ance sheet.

aa) Employee benefits

Employee benefits include jubilee benefits, retirement

indemity bonuses and other long - services benefits.

Valuations of these obligations are carried out by an inde-

pendent qualified actuaries. The main actuarial assumptions

included in the calculation of the obligation for other long -

term employee benefits are:

- Discount rate of 2.75% and

- Future salary increases using general salary inflation index,

promotions and increases in salaries according to past years

of services.

The Bank and most of its subsidiaries contributed to the

State Pension Schemes (8.85% on gross salaries). The Bank

and its Slovene subsidiaries make contributions to a defined

contribution plan according to Slovenian legislation. Once

contributions have been paid, the Group has no further pay-

ment obligation. The regular contributions constitute net peri-

odic costs for the year in which they are due and are included

in staff costs.

According to Slovenian legislation employees retire after 40

years of working life, when, if fulfilling certain conditions, they

are entitled to indemnity paid in lump sum. Employees are

also entitled to long services bonus for every ten years of

employment with the Bank.
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These obligations are measured at the present value of the

future cash outflows. All gains and losses are recognised in

income.

ab) Segmental reporting

Business segments provide products or services that are sub-

ject to risks and returns that are different from those of other

business segments.

Geographical segments provide products or services within

a particular economic environment that is subject to risks and

returns that are different from those of components operat-

ing in other economic environments.

3. Risk management policies of the group

The strategy of the risk management system in NLB Group

is to maintain stable performance in the future. The Risk

Management Department has an independent and central-

ized role in controlling the different risks associated with the

data structure, adopted methodologies, reporting, and the

limits placed within the decision-making process. 

The Bank draws up risks policies and strategies in conjunc-

tion with its subsidiaries. The Bank therefore has a centralised

role in controlling the different risks. 

a) Credit Risk Management

The NLB Risk Management Department is responsible for

assessing credit risk for the Group as a whole. 

The main goal of the Risk management is to maintain the

highest possible asset quality.   

The credit portfolio includes loans (to corporate, retail and

the public sector), exposure to other banks and financial insti-

tutions, and corporate bonds and other banking products

(such as guarantees, derivative instruments, etc).  By entering

into any of the above-mentioned transactions the Group

members expose themselves to credit risk.

Subsidiaries must comply with standards of the internal

credit risk system of NLB, as defined in the special contracts

and instructions. The Bank has therefore the centralised role

in controlling the assumptions of different risks, regarding the

data structure, adopted methodologies and reporting. 

Depending on the risk category of a client, as expressed by

its rating, and the risk of a specific business or project, which

is also influenced by the guarantees provided, each member

of the group forms appropriate provisions for credit risk.

Provisions are formed for both local and International

Financial Reporting Standards. If local provisioning require-

ments within the country of each individual group member

are below the NLB standards, additional provisions are formed

in the consolidated reports of the group.

Country risk is managed using maximum risk levels for

investments in different countries. Assessment of the risk level

of a given country is carried out by reviewing the country’s

major macroeconomic data, its political situation and the rat-

ing attributed to the countries by major international special-

ized companies. 

Derivatives

The Group maintains strict control limits on net open deriv-

ative positions, i.e. the difference between purchase and sale

contracts, both by amount and term. Trading in these deriva-

tives is not very active and the majority of deals are made for

servicing clients, whereby all positions are ostensibly closed.

The amount subject to credit risk is limited to the current fair

value of instruments that are favourable to the Group, which

in relation to derivatives is only a small fraction of the contract

or notional values used to express the volume of outstanding

instruments. This credit risk exposure is managed as part of

the overall lending limits with customers, together with

potential exposures from market movements. 

Credit related commitments

The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that

funds are available to customers when required. Guarantees

and standby letters of credit, which represent irrevocable

assurance that the Group will make payments in the event

that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties,

carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and com-

mercial letters of credit, which are written undertakings by the

Group on behalf of a customer authorising a third party to

draw drafts on the Group up to a stipulated amount under

specific terms and conditions, are collateralised by the under-

lying shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore

carry less risk than direct borrowing. Commitments to extend

credit represent unused portions of authorisations to extend

credit in the form of loans, guarantees or letters of credit.

With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit,

the Group is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to

the total unused commitments. However, the likely amount of

losses is less than total unused commitments, since most com-

mitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers

maintaining specific credit standards. The Group monitors the

term to maturity of credit commitments because longer-term

commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk

than shorter-term commitments.
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b) Market risk management

Market risk concerns itself with potential losses in the Group’s

positions, which arise due to adverse changes in the interest

rate, foreign exchange, equities and derivatives markets.

Market risk management is a process comprising the monitor-

ing and measurement of individual risks with the aim to man-

age potential negative financial effects that could arise as a

result of changes in market prices. The methodology employed

fully meets the requirements of the Slovenian regulators.

Foreign Exchange Risks (FX)

The Group’s financial position and cash flows are exposed

to foreign currency fluctuations. Foreign exchange risk is mon-

itored and managed on a daily basis. By closing open FX posi-

tions on a daily basis the bank minimizes its foreign exchange

exposure and adheres to conservative policy on managing for-

eign exchange risk. Limits on permissible exposure in each for-

eign currency and for every trader have been confirmed by the

management board and are monitored on a daily basis. 

In addition to the standardized methodology the Bank uses

its own internal Value at Risk model to determine the FX risk

embedded in its positions (trading and investment book posi-

tions) and the maximum potential losses associated with

them. The VaR numbers are calculated using a historical sim-

ulation method and are in accordance with Basel II standards

on capital charge calculations (99% confidence interval, 10

days holding period, 250 working days observation period).

The method is based on a daily calculation of changes in the

foreign exchange part of the on-balance and off-balance

sheet items, thereby taking into account previous exchange

rate values and their mutual correlations during the previous

year. In addition to this, backtesting is carried-out on a daily

basis to corroborate the precision of the internal model. Since

the model is still in the testing phase, the Bank of Slovenia has

not issued an approval for the model to be formally used in

capital adequacy calculations yet. Therefore its application is

constrained only to internal usage. 

Interest Rate Risks

Interest rate risk arises when interest rate sensitive assets

have different maturities or repricing characteristics than the

corresponding interest rate sensitive liabilities. The Bank and

its Slovenian subsidiaries are using a gap methodology, dura-

tion and Basis-Point-Value, while foreign subsidiaries are using

their own models, making different scenarios for interest rate

movements.

The objective in managing interest rate risks is to lower the

volatility of net interest margins. The bank’s interest rate expo-

sures are monitored and managed using interest rate sensitiv-

ity gap reports. Those reports contain both on- and off-bal-

ance sheet net interest rate sensitive positions which are sep-

arated by types of interest rates and repricing bands at a sin-

gle point in time. To monitor vulnerability to interest rate

changes, the Bank uses techniques designed to keep track of

the market value (e.g., Basis-Point-Value) and income-related

aspects (e.g., by measuring interest income sensitivity) of the

position. Regarding the bond portfolio, techniques such as

variance covariance Value-at-Risk (VAR) and duration

approach are used.

Structural Liquidity

The Group’s liquidity situation cannot be viewed solely from

the liability side as a set of activities for meeting required cash

outflows, but also as the availability of liquid assets that at all

times assures immediate fulfilment of matured financial obli-

gations towards its clients. Therefore several structural liquid-

ity ratios (concerning assets, liabilities and relationship among

them) are calculated and reported on a regular basis. 

Equity Risks

In the area of equity investments the Bank and its sub-

sidiaries follow its investment policies, which have been

approved by the management board. These policies define

permissible investment structures within a portfolio, the asso-

ciated monitoring and managing of risk, and potential hedg-

ing strategies for the portfolios. During 2004 the major part of

the portfolio remained relatively stable. 

The bank applies a VaR calculation to monitor and manage

the equity portfolio’s risk. The method measures potential

losses of the portfolio within a 10-day holding period, given a

confidence interval of 99%. The VaR figure is calculated based

on 250-days of historical data and is in accordance with Bank

for International Settlement standards. The calculation is using

a historical VaR simulation, whereby the bank does not need

to make assumptions about the distribution of returns.    

4. Changes in subsidiary holdings

In the year 2004 the following changes occurred but had no

significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

a) Acquisitions

- NLB gradually increased its interest in three Slovenian banks

- in Banka Domæale from 58.46% to 59.80% for 156 million

tolars, in Koroπka banka from 54.5% to 61.9% for 1,146

million tolars and in Banka Zasavje from 62.11% to 70.08%

for 498 million tolars. Goodwill on acquisition in the amount

of 20 million tolars for Banka Domæale, 65 million tolars for

Koroπka banka and negative goodwill in the amount of 10

million tolars for Banka Zasavje was calculated.  
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- In the second quarter of the year NLB acquired a 9.38%

interest for 456 million tolars in LHB Bank Beograd. Together

with the existing interest of LHB Bank Frankfurt the total

interest increased to 60.40%. Acquisition resulted in good-

will in the amount of 182 million tolars.  

- In November and December LHB Banka Banja Luka acquired

a 49% interest for 78 million tolars and LHB Trade Zagreb a

30% interest for 69 million tolars in company Plan, Banja

Luka. Due to the immateriality and acquisition just before

the end of the year this company is not included in the con-

solidation.

- In July NLB acquired a small number of shares of Skupna

pokojninska druæba, consequently its interest increased from

26.94% to 27.18%. 

- In June LB Leasing, Ljubljana sold its interest in LB Leasing,

Maribor to NLB and three Slovenian daughter banks.

- In November NLB acquired all the ordinary and preference

shares of Tutunska banka from Tutunskabroker, so that the

group interest in Tutunska banka increased from 72.42% to

73.12%.

- In November LB Leasing Ljubljana founded a new 100 %

subsidiary CBS Leasing, Sarajevo.

- In December NLB Factoring Ostrava founded a new 100 %

subsidiary NLB Factor, Bratislava.

b) Other changes in Group’s financial statements

- In the year 2004 the consolidation method for joint ventures

NLB Vita and Prvi Faktor was changed from proportional

method to equity method. The effects of this change in the

consolidated financial statements are immaterial, conse-

quently the comparative data for the year 2003 has not been

changed.

- Slovenska investicijska banka, which is in the process of liq-

uidation, was fully consolidated in the year 2003, in the year

2004 it is not included in consolidation because of immate-

riality. In the year 2004 the major part of its assets were

transferred to NLB and its balance sheet as at 31.12.2004

amounts to 4,491 millions tolars. Comparative data for the

year 2003 has not been changed.

5. Significant events after the balance sheet date

From the balance sheet date until the completion of this

report, no such event has occurred that would require the

restatement of the completed consolidated financial state-

ments or any additional disclosure.

6. Interest income/(expense)

Interest relates to the following types of borrower and depositor: 2004 2003

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS Income Expense Income Expense

Enterprises 55,507 8,678 56,631 13,661

Government departments and agencies 19,148 3,004 22,546 4,359

Banks 23,408 14,841 31,479 14,529

Citizens 23,822 22,172 24,543 35,175

Financial organisations 2,939 5,817 2,410 6,913

TOTAL 124,824 54,512 137,609 74,637
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Interest relates to the following types of assets and liabilities:

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

INTEREST INCOME

Loans and advances to customers 90,924 95,586

Loans and advances to other banks 18,993 29,654

Securities 12,901 11,853

Deposits with the Central Bank 1,734 396

Other 272 120

TOTAL 124,824 137,609

INTEREST EXPENSE

Deposits from other customers 32,223 51,512

Debt securities 7,638 9,154

Borrowings from banks 7,934 7,133

Deposits from banks 4,826 5,502

Borrowings from other customers 1,354 1,177

Other liabilities 537 159

TOTAL 54,512 74,637

7. Fees and commissions income/(expense)

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

FEES AND COMMISSIONS INCOME

Payments 11,140 9,874

Agency services/brokerage 8,022 6,470

Administrative services 7,320 6,706

Guarantees 2,847 2,627

Investment funds 390 790

Depositing valuables in safe custody 201 191

Other services 519 374

TOTAL 30,439 27,032

FEES AND COMMISSIONS EXPENSE

Banking services 4,493 3,759

Payments 414 276

Agency services 1,457 653

Brokerage 216 184

TOTAL 6,580 4,872
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8. Other operating income

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Income from non-banking services 2,831 4,153

Rental income from investment property 1,080 902

Dividends 413 344

Profit on disposal of property and equipment 301 698

Other 1,289 1,377

TOTAL 5,914 7,474

The number of persons employed by the Group as at 31 December 2004 was: 5,790 (2003: 5,918 ).

9. Impairment losses

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Impairment charge/(write back) arising from:

- loans and advances to banks (note 15c) 1,916 1,520

- loans and advances to customers (note17e) 11,897 11,311

- other assets (note 21b) 236 192

- contingent liabilities and commitments (note 41d) 4,572 (813)

Write offs 452 670

Recoveries on loans previously written off (554) (304)

TOTAL 18,519 12,576

10. General administrative expenses

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Employee costs

- gross salaries 25,573 23,985

- social security costs 5,722 5,456

- other employee costs 5,628 4,805

- employee benefits (note 33b) 114 (152)

Other general administrative expenses

- cost of materials 3,385 3,525

- cost of services 18,277 18,815

TOTAL 58,699 56,434
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11. Other operating expenses

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Depreciation (notes 24, 25) 8,767 8,318

Taxes and other compulsory public revenues 190 229

Membership fees 373 338

Goodwill net of negative goodwill (note 23) (860) (782)

Impairment of goodwill - 1,582

Fair value adjustment for investment property (note 19) 95 172

Provisions 1,084 1,481

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets (note 24, 25) 3,135 50

Other 539 459

TOTAL 13,323 11,847

12. Income tax expense

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Current tax 8,773 7,837

Deferred tax (note 22) (3,076) (413)

Share of tax of associates 563 621

TOTAL 6,260 8,045

Profit before tax 22,029 20,002

Tax calculated at a rate of 25% 5,507 5,000

Income not assessable for tax purposes (784) (552)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 3,164 2,698

Income which increases taxable basis 255 495

Tax allowance (1,084) (1,031)

Other tax 936 865

Effects of tax rate difference and other items 612 570

Change in deffered tax liabilities (note 2x) (2,346) -

TOTAL 6,260 8,045

The tax authorities carried out a balance sheet tax audit for the year 2003 and full scope tax audit of the Bank for the year 2000

to 2001. The tax authorities may at any time inspect the books and records within 5 years subsequent to the reported tax year, and

may impose additional tax assessments and penalties. The Bank’s management is not aware of any circumstances that may give rise

to a potential material liability in this respect.
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2004 2003

Net profit (expressed in millions of tolars) 13,142 9,613

Number of ordinary shares (millions) 7.7 7.7

Basic and diluted earnings per share (expressed in tolars per share) 1,711 1,251

Subordinated loans and debt securities in issue have no future conversion rights and consequently there are no dilutive potential

ordinary shares.

13. Earnings per share

Basic earning per share is calculated by dividing the net profit by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue.

14. Cash and balances with the central bank

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Cash 20,511 21,390

Balances with the Central Bank other than obligatory reserves 7,446 8,277

Included in cash and cash equivalents 27,957 29,667

Obligatory reserve deposit 47,415 40,789

TOTAL 75,372 70,456

Slovenian banks are required to maintain an obligatory reserve with the Bank of Slovenia, relative to the volume and structure of

its customer deposits. The current requirement of the Bank of Slovenia regarding the calculation of the amount to be held as oblig-

atory reserve is as follows:

- 4.5% of time deposits up to 90 days,

- 2% of time deposits from 91 days due to 2 years and deposits in foreign currency due to 2 years.

15. Placements with, and loans to banks

a) Analysis by type of placements and loans

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Repayable on demand

- in tolars 2 29

- in foreign currency 14,929 11,912

Other short-term

- in tolars 118,086 205,741

- in foreign currency 263,274 329,341

Long-term

- in tolars 79,923 233

- in foreign currency 21,115 16,568

497,329 563,824

Impairment provisions (6,611) (4,948)

TOTAL 490,718 558,876
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b) Geographical analysis

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Slovenia 418,137 447,063

OECD countries 42,506 83,527

Other countries 30,075 28,286

TOTAL 490,718 558,876

c) Movements in impairment provisions

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 4,948 4,260

Acquisition of subsidiaries - 400

Exchange difference on opening balance of subsidiaries (22) 1

Impairment provisions (note 9) 1,916 1,520

Write offs (231) (1,233)

Balance at 31 December 6,611 4,948

At 31 December 2004 the securities held for trading amounting to tolars 137,747 million were listed on the stock exchange (2003:

123,452 million tolars).

16. Securities held for trading

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Bonds

- Republic of Slovenia 83,257 85,593

- Other 48,768 37,658

Shares 25,800 19,381

Certificate of deposits of the Bank of Slovenia 18,685 -

Other bills and securities 9,670 6,231

TOTAL 186,180 148,863
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17. Loans and advances to customers

a) Analysis by type of customer

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

In tolars

- citizens 230,411 213,985

- enterprises 356,279 353,182

- Government departments and agencies 123,127 116,131

- other financial organisations 5,047 4,968

In tolars with foreign currency

- citizens 5,904 5,024

- enterprises 39,350 40,662

- Government departments and agencies 11,079 7,977

- other financial organisations 1,582 1,892

In foreign currency

- citizens 33,330 18,014

- enterprises 621,910 442,577

- Government departments and  agencies 6,097 5,207

- other financial organisations 8,304 3,143

1,442,420 1,212,762

Impairment provisions (61,510) (56,774)

TOTAL 1,380,910 1,155,988

b) Analysis by sector

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Manufacturing 363,822 285,743

Citizens 269,811 237,023

Services 218,023 158,148

Commerce and finance 208,056 183,002

Government 178,330 128,574

Transport, storage and communication 75,855 105,772

Construction 50,672 37,825

Sole proprietors 34,335 28,891

Electricity, gas and water 17,907 19,952

Agriculture, forestry and fishing 15,756 19,481

Miscellaneous 9,853 8,351

1,442,420 1,212,762

Impairment provisions (61,510) (56,774)

TOTAL 1,380,910 1,155,988
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d) Analysis of movements

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 1,155,988 1,024,461

Acquisition of subsidiaries - 21,659

Exchange difference on opening balance of subsidiaries 1,667 1,873

Increase

- loans distributed 2,408,421 1,797,800

- interest added to principal 23,950 23,366

- exchange differences 2,299 4,079

Decrease

- repayments (2,199,036) (1,704,790)

- write offs (482) (433)

Disposal of subsidiary - (716)

Impairment provisions (11,897) (11,311)

Balance at 31 December 1,380,910 1,155,988

c) Analysis by type of advance 

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Loans 1,325,283 1,103,154

Overdrafts 63,281 67,276

Finance lease receivables 43,911 30,830

Credit cards 8,353 8,984

Called guarantees 1,592 2,030

Discounted bills - 488

1,442,420 1,212,762

Impairment provisions (61,510) (56,774)

TOTAL 1,380,910 1,155,988

Other represents the change of consolidation method of SIB banka and NLB Vita (note 4b).

e) Movements in impairment provisions

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 56,774 44,993

Acquisition of subsidiaries - 5,073

Exchange difference on opening balance of subsidiaries (101) 102

Impairment provisions (note 9) 11,897 11,311

Write offs (4,083) (4,633)

Disposal of subsidiaries - (72)

Other (2,977) -

Balance at 31 December 61,510 56,774
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IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Gross investment in finance leases:

Not later than 1 year 12,673 8,475

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 31,714 22,381

Later than 5 years 9,364 7,061

53,751 37,917

Unearned future finance income on finance leases (9,840) (7,087)

Net investment in finance leases 43,911 30,830

The net investment in finance leases may be analysed as follows:

Not later than 1 year 10,705 7,412

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 23,842 16,357

Later than 5 years 9,364 7,061

TOTAL 43,911 30,830

Loans and advances to customers include finance lease receivables:

The allowance for unrecoverable finance lease receivables included in the provision for loan losses amounted to 1,114 million tolars

(2003: 646 million tolars).

f) Finance leases

g) Guaranteed loans

Loans and advances are further analysed in the following notes: Currency risk Note 45, Liquidity risk Note 46, Interest rate risk Note

47, Fair value of financial instruments Note 39 and Related party transactions Note 43.

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Republic of Slovenia guarantees 79,081 79,138

Other banks' guarantees 3,788 7,296

TOTAL 82,869 86,434

Loans, which are guaranteed by the Republic of Slovenia or non Group Slovenian banks and have not been specifically provided against, are as follows:

18. Investment securities

a) Analysis by type: available-for-sale portfolio

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

In foreign currency

- equity investments 1,149 1,899

- debt securities 81,965 71,517

In tolars

- equity investments 2,533 3,349

- debt securities 395 270

TOTAL a) 86,042 77,035
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b) Analysis by type: held-to-maturity portfolio

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

In foreign currency

- Bonds of the Republic of Slovenia 999 1,487

- Other securities 4,893 -

In tolars

- Bonds of the Republic of Slovenia 31,463 30,074

TOTAL b) 37,355 31,561

TOTAL a) + b) 123,397 108,596

At 31 December 2004 the investment securities amounting to 90,396 million tolars were listed on the stock exchange.

c) Gains and losses from investment securities comprise:

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Revaluation gains - available for sale securities 689 2,618

Revaluation losses - available for sale securities (365) (1,188)

Impairment of held to maturity securities - (20)

Sale of available for sale securities 395 685

TOTAL 719 2,095

The investment property is independently valued in accordance with International Valuation Standards on the basis of determining

the open market value approximately each 3 years. The latest valuation was conducted as at 31 December 2002. The property is

located in central Ljubljana.

19. Investment property

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 4,777 5,230

Exchange difference on opening balance of subsidiaries (9) 12

Acqusition of subsidiaries - 585

Transfers from property and equipment (note 24) 64 124

Additions 647 240

Disposals (1,118) (1,076)

Transfers to property and equipment (note 24) (58) (108)

Fair value adjustment (note 11) (95) (172)

Disposal of subsidiaries - (58)

Other (162) -

Balance at 31 December 4,046 4,777
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20. Investments in associated companies and joint ventures

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

In tolars

- Banks 8,444 7,065

- Financial organisations 1,087 206

- Enterprises 888 694

In foreign currency

- Banks 2,577 2,572

- Financial organisations 36 20

- Enterprises 45 74

TOTAL 13,077 10,631

Country of Voting

Nature of Incorpo- power

Name Business ration held

Republic of

Banka Celje d.d., Celje Banking Slovenia 37.51

Adria Bank AG, Wien Banking Austria 28.46

Republic of

Skupna pokojninska druæba d.d., Ljubljana Insurance Slovenia 27.18

Card Republic of

Bankart d.o.o., Ljubljana Processing Slovenia 39.45

Republic of

ICJ d.o.o., Domæale Real Estate Slovenia 50

Republic of

Asset Bosnia and

VB Inter Invest AD, Banja Luka Management Herzegovina 40.74

Republic of

Bosnia and

Krajinapromet AD, Banja Luka Commerce Herzegovina 30

West - East Bank AD, Sofia Banking Bulgaria 24.50

The associated companies are:

Country of Voting

Nature of Incorpo- power

Name Business ration held

Republic of

NLB Vita d.d., Ljubljana Insurance Slovenia 50

Republic of

Prvi Faktor Group, Ljubljana Finance Slovenia 50

The jointly controlled companies are:

In December NLB increased its interest in Banka Celje from 29.91% to 32.15%. 
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IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Shares 7,295 5,800

Debentures 153 152

Share of profits 5,629 4,679

TOTAL 13,077 10,631

The investments in associated companies comprise:

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 10,631 9,094

Acquisition 548 557

Exchange difference on opening balance 25 58

Change in accounting policy (note 4b) 807 -

Share of profits before tax 2,154 2,065

Share of tax (note 12) (563) (621)

Dividends received (525) (548)

Other - 26

Balance at 31 December 13,077 10,631

The movements on investments in associated companies and joint ventures comprise:

21. Other assets

a) Analysis by type of asset

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Accrued interest due 3,919 4,760

Items in the course of collection 3,459 1,391

Debtors 2,756 3,029

Property held for sale by the real estate operation 2,169 2,363

Prepayments 1,815 1,487

Fair value of derivative financial instruments (note 41c) 1,786 3,271

Claim for taxes and other dues 1,134 2,250

Cheques 709 1,188

Fees and commissions due 530 526

Deferred tax assets 102 84

Other items 1,123 1,268

19,502 21,617

Impairment provisions

- debtors (1,770) (1,724)

- claims for taxes and other dues (589) (590)

- other items (573) (680)

TOTAL 16,570 18,623



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 4

176

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Deferred tax liabilities:

Impairment provisions 9,559 11,418

Fair value of financial instruments 2,305 3,418

Negative goodwill 94 152

Total deferred tax liability 11,958 14,988

Deferred tax assets:

Impairment provisions 54 60

Employee benefit provisions 745 693

Total deferred tax assets 799 753

Net deferred tax liability 11,159 14,235

The components of the net deferred tax assets at 31 December 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

23. Accrued income and deferred expenses

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Accrued interest not yet due 14,505 13,653

Deferred expenses 572 578

Goodwill 714 1,291

Negative goodwill (962) (1,974)

TOTAL 14,829 13,548

b) Movements in impairment provisions

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 2,994 2,836

Acquisition of subsidiaries - 392

Exchange difference on opening balance of subsidiaries (256) (283)

Impairment provisions (note 9) 236 192

Write offs (182) (108)

Disposal of subsidiaries - (35)

Other 140 -

Balance at 31 December 2,932 2,994

Deferred tax liability decreased due to change of the tax rate as a consequence of the abolition of the balance sheet tax (note 2x).

22. Deferred income taxes
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2004 2003

Negative Negative

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS Goodwill goodwill Goodwill goodwill

Cost

- at 1 January 3,941 9,286 1,026 8,859

- (decrease)/additions (2,073) 36 2,915 427

- at 31 December 1,868 9,322 3,941 9,286

Amortisation

- at 1 January 2,650 7,312 773 6,236

- amortisation charge for the year (note 11) 188 1,048 295 1,076

- (decrease)/additions (1,684) - 1,582 -

- at 31 December 1,154 8,360 2,650 7,312

Carrying amount 714 962 1,291 1,974

Movement in goodwill/negative goodwill:

24. Property and equipment

Assets in

Course of

Transfer or

Construction/

Land & Leasehold Furniture & Motor Implemen-

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS Buildings Improvements Computers Equipment Vehicles tation Total

Cost or valuation

- at 1 January 2004 63,268 1,859 24,772 16,860 2,869 675 110,303

- exchange difference on opening balance of subsidiaries 15 (2) (31) (45) (17) (9) (89)

- additions 1,638 357 2,880 2,168 5,140 5,516 17,699

- disposals (2,055) (129) (1,752) (715) (4,316) (4,969) (13,936)

- impairment (2,612) - - - - - (2,612)

- at 31 December 2004 60,254 2,085 25,869 18,268 3,676 1,213 111,365

Depreciation 

- at 1 January 2004 15,994 1,354 17,471 11,586 1,320 - 47,725

- exchange difference on opening balance of subsidiaries (2) (1) (12) (17) (6) - (38)

- disposals (491) (129) (1,702) (657) (402) - (3,381)

- charge for the year (note 11) 1,118 160 3,026 1,755 551 - 6,610

- at 31 December 2004 16,619 1,384 18,783 12,667 1,463 - 50,916

Net carrying value

- at 31 December 2004 43,635 701 7,086 5,601 2,213 1,213 60,449

- at 1 January 2004 47,274 505 7,301 5,274 1,549 675 62,578
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Intangible assets include the Group’s information system with the carrying value of 15,220 million tolars (information system com-

pleted for use 9,184 million tolars, information system in course of implementation 6,036 million tolars). Accumulated amortisation

of the information system as at 31 December 2004 amounted to 1,809 million tolars while the amortisation costs of the system in

the year 2004 amounted to 932 million tolars. The remaining useful life of the information system is between 7 and 9 years. 

The information system for the retail banking (Bancs) was partially operational in 2003 and started fully operating in January 2004.

The information system for the corporate banking (Globus) is presented under assets in the course of implementation. 

In the year 2004 the Group concluded detailed assessment of the Globus functionality in order to determine compliance with busi-

ness requirements. The results of the assessment indicated that certain capitalized expenditure does not produce any future economic

benefits and accordingly the Group partly wrote off the investment in Globus in the amount of 562 million tolars.

25. Intangible assets

Assets in

Course of

Transfer or

Construction/

Software Implemen-

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS licences tation Total

Cost or valuation

- at 1 January 2004 12,298 6,668 18,966

- exchange difference on opening balance of subsidiaries (6) - (6)

- additions 5,895 169 6,064

- disposals (264) (4) (268)

- impairment - (562) (562)

- at 31 December 2004 17,923 6,271 24,194

Depreciation     

- at 1 January 2004 3,320 - 3,320

- exchange difference on opening balance of subsidiaries (1) - (1)

- disposals (233) - (233)

- charge for the year (note 11) 2,157 - 2,157

- at 31 December 2004 5,243 - 5,243

Net carrying value

- at 31 December 2004 12,680 6,271 18,951

- at 1 January 2004 8,978 6,668 15,646

In order to rationalize business activities the Bank decided in the year 2004 to sell certain property, which was therefore impaired

to its realizable value in the amount of 480 million tolars. The building of LHB Immobilien was impaired in the amount of 1,895

million tolars due to the decrease in market prices of real estate. 
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26. deposits from banks

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

On demand

- in tolars 3,996 1,594

- in foreign currency 20,080 18,707

Other

- in tolars 7,459 37,208

- in foreign currency 89,616 81,671

TOTAL 121,151 139,180

28. Deposits from other customers

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Demand deposits 

- enterprises

- in tolars 85,267 75,622

- in foreign currency 61,260 53,333

- Government departments and agencies

- in tolars 14,523 5,811

- in foreign currency 2,522 1,590

- citizens

- in tolars 272,630 187,975

- in foreign currency 66,128 178,382

- financial organisations 

- in tolars 998 829

- in foreign currency 1,906 2,322

Time deposits

- enterprises

- in tolars 102,848 106,615

- in foreign currency 55,484 40,456

- Government departments and agencies

- in tolars 27,468 34,954

- in foreign currency 1,271 791

- citizens

- in tolars 308,813 363,296

- in foreign currency 346,038 198,812

- financial organisations 

- in tolars 34,515 29,412

- in foreign currency 8,064 6,381

TOTAL 1,389,735 1,286,581

27. Borrowings from banks

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

In tolars 1 476

In foreign currency 362,441 256,671

TOTAL 362,442 257,147
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30. Debt securities

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Debt securities

- in tolars 80,195 92,794

- in foreign currency 13,724 13,485

TOTAL 93,919 106,279

31. Other liabilities

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Deferred tax liabilities 11,261 14,319

Suppliers 5,727 4,630

Liabilities to traders for credit cards 4,338 4,156

Fair value of derivative financial instruments (note 41c) 3,486 2,463

Taxes payable 3,429 1,561

Factoring 2,722 1,719

Items in the course of payment 2,043 1,611

Accrued salaries 1,975 1,999

Accrued interest due 1,382 1,343

Net liabilities for funds managed on behalf of third parties 1,099 70

Payments received in advance 510 1,149

Fees and commissions due 80 40

Other liabilities 2,339 2,272

TOTAL 40,391 37,332

32. Accruals and deferred income

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Accrued interest not yet due 9,936 18,081

Other accrued expenses 1,334 1,375

Deferred income 793 1,346

TOTAL 12,063 20,802

29. Borrowings from other customers

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Republic of Slovenia

- in foreign currency 5,902 3,964

Financial organisations

- in tolars 5,167 9,373

- in foreign currency 28,918 19,092

Enterprises

- in tolars 616 -

- in foreign currency 43,135 43,751

TOTAL 83,738 76,180
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In the year 2004 the Management Board of the Bank decided to continue further the employee restructuring process in order to

reduce the operating expenses. Therefore the Bank established restructuring provisions in the amount of 720 million tolars.

33. Provisions for liabilities and charges

a) Analysis by type of provisions

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Provisions for contingent liabilities (note 41a) 10,555 5,601

Restructuring provisions 720 28

Provisions for pensions (note 33c) 2,697 2,475

Employee benefit provisions (note 33b) 2,808 2,741

Other provisions (note 33d) 80 1,349

TOTAL 16,860 12,194

b) Movements in employee benefit provisions

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 2,741 2,991

Exchange difference on opening balance of subsidiaries (3) -

Provisions made 169 114

Costs incurred (186) (98)

Provisions released (55) (266)

Other 142 -

Balance at 31 December 2,808 2,741

c) Movements in provisions for pensions

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 2,475 2,220

Exchange difference on opening balance of subsidiaries 32 64

Provisions made 324 265

Costs incurred (134) -

Provisions released - (74)

Balance at 31 December 2,697 2,475

d) Movements in other provisions

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 1,349 205

Exchange difference on opening balance of subsidiaries - 1

Acquisition of subsidiaries - 78

Provisions made 76 1,219

Costs incurred - (151)

Provisions released (36) (3)

Other (1,309) -

Balance at 31 December 80 1,349

Other represents the change of consolidation method of SIB banka in NLB Vita (note 4b).
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34. Subordinated liabilities

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS Currency Due Interest rate 2004 2003

1. Subordinated deposits and loans SIT 2005 GPI+6% 400 400

EURO EURIBOR + 2.5% - 5,918

EURIBOR + 1.2%

till 24.7.2007 after that

EURO 2012 date EURIBOR + 1.5% 21,577 21,301

EURO EURIBOR + 2.3% - 8,284

21,977 35,903

2. Subordinated notes from investment securities

SIT Fixed rate 7.5% - 1,089

SIT 2013 Fixed rate7.0% 10,509 10,494

SIT 2014 Fixed rate 3.426% 11,987 -

SIT 2014 Fixed rate 3.775% 23,974 -

SIT 2008 Fixed rate 5.0% 3,344 3,298

SIT Fixed rate 5.9% - 1,016

EUR 2011 Fixed rate 4.5% 1,199 -

51,013 15,897

TOTAL 72,990 51,800

In the year 2004, interest and commission expense of the Group, on the basis of subordinated liabilities, amounted to 2,019 mil-

lion tolars (2003: 2,112 million tolars).

In accordance with the Decree on the calculation of capital, capital requirements and capital adequacy of banks and savings banks,

five subordinated long-term loans and bonds are included in the Group’s Tier 2 capital as at 31 December 2004. The loan agree-

ments do not contain any provisions on conversion to capital or any other liabilities. 

In the year 2004 the Bank prepaid three subordinated loans and issued new subordinated securities. New subordinated securities

are perpetual floating rate notes that have the nature of subordinated hybrid financial instruments in accordance with the Regulation

on capital adequacy of banks and savings banks and can therefore be included in supplementary capital for the purpose of capital

adequacy calculation. The securities have no fixed maturity. A call option gives the Bank the right to redeem these securities after 10

years from the date of their issuance.

35. Minority interest

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 28,015 30,772

Acquisition of subsidiaries - 1,575

Exchange difference on opening balance of subsidiaries (360) 305

Share of profits 2,627 2,344

Dividends paid (976) (1,300)

Additional share of subsidiaries acquired (2,249) (5,681)

Balance at 31 December 27,057 28,015
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37. Share capital

At 31 December 2004, the total authorised number of ordinary shares  was 7,682,015 shares, each with the nominal value of 2,000

tolars. The shares are issued in a non-materialised form and are registered in the Centralna klirinπko depotna druæba d.d. (Central

Securities Clearing Corporation) register. All shares are ordinary and subscribed.

At the end of the year 2004 the NLB shareholders' ledger included 901 shareholders of whom 259 were legal entities, 640 private

individuals and 2 non-residents.

36. Ordinary shares

Number Treasury

of shares shares Total

At 1 January 2004 7,682,015 (34,926) 7,647,089

At 31 December 2004 7,682,015 (34,925) 7,647,090

In 2004 the Bank made an appropriation to a general banking reserves for unforeseeable risks and future losses amounting to

2,528 million tolars in accordance with Slovenian legislation. 

According to the decision of the Assembly, in the year 2004 the Bank paid a dividend for the year 2003 in the amount of 286.04

tolars per share amounting to 2,187 million tolars.

38. Reserves

Revalu- General

Legal ation banking

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS reserve reserve reserve Total

Balance at 1 January 2003 3,240 19,129 5,862 28,231

Foreign exchange difference on opening net assets 

of subsidiaries and associates - 180 - 180

Transfer from retained earnings - - 2,339 2,339

Balance at 31 December 2003 3,240 19,309 8,201 30,750

Balance at 1 January 2004 3,240 19,309 8,201 30,750

Foreign exchange difference on opening net assets 

of subsidiaries and associates - (178) - (178)

Transfer from retained earnings - - 2,528 2,528

Balance at 31 December 2004 3,240 19,131 10,729 33,100
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Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

amount value amount value

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2004 2003 2003

Placements with, and loans to, other banks 490,718 491,532 558,876 561,194

Loans and advances to customers 1,380,910 1,401,251 1,155,988 1,193,277

Debt securities held to maturity 37,355 38,031 31,561 30,552

Deposits from banks 121,151 118,979 139,180 139,032

Borrowings from banks 362,442 359,275 257,147 254,609

Deposits from other customers 1,389,735 1,359,263 1,286,581 1,262,804

Borrowings from other customers 83,738 83,476 76,180 75,234

Debt securities 93,919 96,687 106,279 108,139

Subordinated liabilities 72,990 72,279 51,800 50,956

Placements with and loans to other banks

The estimated fair value of the deposits is based on dis-

counted cash flows using prevailing money market interest

rates for debts with similar credit risk and remaining maturity.

Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances are net of provisions for impairment.

The estimated fair value of loans and advances represents the

discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected

to be received. Expected cash flows are discounted at current

market rates to determine fair value. 

Debt securities held to maturity

The fair value of securities held to maturity is based on their

quoted market price or calculated by using discounted cash

flows techniques.

Deposits and borrowings

The fair value to the depository institution of a demand

deposit depends on the expectations of the timing and

amounts of withdrawals of the existing balance, the level of

prevailing interest rates with similar terms, the costs of servic-

ing the deposit and the bank’s own credit risk. This is essen-

tially important for core demand deposits, which have a posi-

tive fair value.

The estimated fair value of other deposits is based on dis-

counted cash flows using interest rates for new deposits with

similar remaining maturity.

Debt securities

The fair value of issued securities is based on their quoted

market price or calculated by using discounted cash flows

techniques.

39. Fair values of financial instruments

The fair values of the following financial instruments differ from their carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet:



40. Capital ratios

Balance sheet Risk weighted amount

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003 2004 2003

Balance sheet assets (net of impairment provisions)

Due from banks 566,090 629,332 42,780 48,886

Loans and advances to customers 1,380,910 1,155,988 1,101,029 932,672

Trading and investment securities* 128,608 112,786 132,367 75,461

Property and equipment 60,449 62,578 60,449 62,578

Other assets 248,442 207,898 52,903 50,664

2,384,499 2,168,582

Off-balance sheet positions

Credit related commitments 425,851 373,979 129,071 125,897

Forwards-based derivative instruments 306,793 947,135 1,463 1,450

Total risk-weighted assets 1,520,061 1,297,608

BIS Capital Ratios Capital BIS %

2004 2003 2004 2003

Tier 1 capital 158,906 143,216 10.5% 11.0%

Tier 1 + Tier 2 capital + Tier 3 capital 237,532 196,848 15.6% 15.2%

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 4

185

Tier 1 capital consists of shareholder’s equity less goodwill

and capital requirement for foreign exchange weighted

assets. Tier 2 capital includes the Bank’s eligible long term

debt and revaluation reserve. Tier 3 consists of subordinated

bonds, issued for covering market risks.

The capital adequacy ratios are calculated in accordance

with the Bank of International Settlements guidelines. These

guidelines are intended to apply to major international banks

based in OECD countries. In order to make comparisons with

other major banks, Slovenia has been treated as a member of

the OECD. The principal effect of this is to apply counterparty

risk weights of 0 % to Slovenian government debt and 20%

to debts of other Slovenian banks.

41. Contingent liabilities and commitments

a) Credit related commitments

Documentary (and standby) letter of credit constitutes a def-

inite undertaking of the issuing bank, provided that the stipu-

lated documents are presented to the nominated or the issu-

ing bank and that the terms and conditions of the credit are

complied with:

- if the credit provides for sight payment - to pay at sight

- if the credit provides for deferred payment - to pay on the

maturity date determinable in accordance with the stipula-

tions of the credit.

Such undertakings can also be issued for credits received in

the form of confirmation. It is usually done at the request or

authorisation of the opening bank and constitutes a definite

undertaking of the confirming bank, in addition to that of the

issuing bank.

Foreign exchange derivatives allow the Group and its cus-

tomers to transfer, modify or reduce their foreign exchange

risks. Foreign exchange exposure associated with derivatives is

normally offset by entering into counterbalancing positions,

thereby minimising the foreign exchange risk and cash

amounts required to liquidate the contracts. The Group main-

tains strict control limits on net open positions, (i.e. the differ-

ence between purchase and sale contracts) by both currency

and term. Unless otherwise indicated, the amount subject to

credit risk is limited to the current fair value of instruments

that are favourable to the Group (i.e. assets), which is only a

small fraction of the contract or notional values used to

express the volume of instruments outstanding. This credit risk

exposure is managed by collateral (initial margin or good faith

deposits) or as part of the overall borrowing limits granted to

customers.

The following table indicates the contractual amounts of

the Group’s off-balance sheet financial instruments that com-

mit it to extend credit to customers.

* Including credit and market risk
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b) Capital commitments

At 31 December 2004 the Group had capital commitments in the amount of 4,358 million tolars in respect of implementation of

new information technology system (note 25).

Fair values of the above derivative financial assets and liabilities are included in other assets or other liabilities.

By its nature the Group’s activities are related to the use of financial instruments including derivatives. The Group provides trans-

actions in foreign exchange and interest rate contracts to its clients and then simultaneously enters into another financial derivative

instrument contract in order to offset the unfavourable exposure from the first financial derivative instruments.

Those derivative financial instruments, which provide effective economic hedges under risk management strategy of the Group and

do not qualify for hedge accounting under the specific accounting rules are therefore treated as derivatives held for trading.

In the year 2004 the Central bank offered Slovenian banks the possibility of a final purchase of foreign currencies, which resulted

in the reduction of foreign currency swaps with the Bank of Slovenia.

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Foreign currency guarantees

- Short-term 42,138 35,870

- Long-term 51,182 67,357

Tolar guarantees

- Short-term 46,987 26,387

- Long-term 52,551 42,001

Foreign exchange letters of credit

- Short-term 8,210 5,888

Commitments to extend credit 235,338 202,077

436,406 379,580

Provisions (note 33) (10,555) (5,601)

TOTAL 425,851 373,979

c) Derivative financial instruments

Fair values Fair values

2004 2004 2003 2003

Notional Notional

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS amount Assets Liabilities amount Assets Liabilities

Forward contracts

- Economic hedging - - - 239 - 2

- Trading 27,980 649 770 63,247 2,416 991

Foreign exchange swaps with the Bank of Slovenia 170,220 - 9 822,557 25 20

Other swaps

- Interest rate swaps 49,409 537 392 19,679 473 442

- Foreign currency swaps 41,427 286 1,756 24,781 164 750

Options 17,280 314 559 15,353 193 258

Futures 477 - - 734 - -

TOTAL (note 21, 31) 306,793 1,786 3,486 946,590 3,271 2,463
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d) Movements in provisions for contingent liabilities and commitments

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Balance at 1 January 5,601 4,997

Exchange difference on opening balance of subsidiaries (53) 18

Acquisition of subsidiaries - 1,399

Provisions (note 9) 4,572 (813)

Other 435 -

Balance at 31 December 10,555 5,601

Asset Related liability

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003 2004 2003

Investment securities 63,044 58,305 58,122 53,098

Leasing receivables 1,617 2,027 1,617 2,027

Factoring 2,091 956 1,576 728

TOTAL 66,752 61,288 61,315 55,853

Assets are pledged mainly as collateral for deposits and borrowings.

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Not later than one year 456 521

Later than one year and not later than five years 1,414 1,714

Later than five years 574 711

TOTAL 2,444 2,946

Where a Group company is the lessee, the future minimum lease payments under non cancellable building operating leases are as follows:

42. Funds managed on behalf of third parties

The Group manages assets totalling 290,765 million tolars (2003: 139,722 million tolars) on behalf of third parties. Managed funds'

assets are accounted for separately from those of the Group. Income and expenses of these funds are for the account of the respec-

tive fund and no liability falls on the Group in connection with these transactions. The Group is compensated for its services by fees

chargeable to the funds.

e) Assets pledged

f) Operating lease commitments
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IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Loans and advances

- Directors 578 576

- Associated companies and jointly controlled companies 13,015 11,926

- Shareholders 106,295 93,940

TOTAL 119,888 106,442

Borrowings and deposits

- Associated companies and jointly controlled companies 6,662 9,780

- Shareholders 73,331 86,433

TOTAL 79,993 96,213

Commitments and contingencies arising from off balance sheet items

- Associated companies and jointly controlled companies 1,508 4,315

TOTAL 1,508 4,315

Receipts

- Management Board members 401 261

- Supervisory Board members 3 5

- Other key managers 3,243 2,778

Receipts include gross salaries, shares in profit, profit sharing bonus, vacation bonus, management insurance, jubilee bonuses and

additional pension insurance.

Income of the Management Board members includes only income of the Management Board of the parent bank. 

43. Related party transactions

A number of banking transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. These transactions were

carried out on commercial terms and conditions and at market rates. The volumes of related party transactions, outstanding balances

at the year-end, are as follows:
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Ownership interest and voting power held do not include own shares.

44. Subsidiaries
Percentage Interest

The subsidiaries are: Nature of Country of Ownership Voting

Name Business Incorporation interest power held

Banka Domæale d.d., Domæale Banking Republic of Slovenia 59.80 59.80

FIN-DO d.o.o., Domæale Finance Republic of Slovenia 100 100

Koroπka banka d.d., Slovenj Gradec Banking Republic of Slovenia 61.91 61.91

Union of Serbia

Montenegrobanka AD, Podgorica Banking and Montenegro 91.52 91.52

Banka Zasavje d.d., Trbovlje Banking Republic of Slovenia 70.08 70.08

Slovenska Investicijska Banka d.d., Ljubljana Banking Republic of Slovenia 80.85 80.85

LHB Internationale Handelsbank AG, Frankfurt/Main Banking Germany 56.01 56.01

Republic of Bosnia

LHB Banka Banja Luka AD, Banja Luka Banking and Herzegovina 63.70 63.70

LHB Immobilien GmbH, Frankfurt/Main Property Germany 100 100

LHB Finance d.o.o., Ljubljana Finance Republic of Slovenia 100 100

LHB Trade d.o.o., Zagreb Trading Republic of Croatia 100 100

Union of Serbia

LHB Consult d.o.o., Beograd Trading and Montenegro 100 100

Union of Serbia

LHB Banka AD, Beograd Banking and Montenegro 60.40 60.40

Union of Serbia

Texiba d.o.o., Beograd Trading and Montenegro 100 100

Union of Serbia

BTB AD, Beograd Property and Montenegro 66.67 66.67

Planning, Republic of Bosnia

Plan a.d., Banja Luka projecting and Herzegovina 79.00 79.00

Republic of

Tutunska Banka AD, Skopje Banking Macedonia 73.12 77.20

Republic of

Tutunskabroker AD, Skopje Finance Macedonia 100 100

Republic of Bosnia

CBS Bank d.d., Sarajevo Banking and Herzegovina 100 100

LB Leasing d.o.o., Ljubljana Finance Republic of Slovenia 100 100

LB Leasing Koper d.o.o., Koper Finance Republic of Slovenia 100 100

Optima Leasing d.d., Ljubljana Finance Republic of Slovenia 100 100

LB Leasing d.o.o., Beograd Finance Republic of Slovenia 100 100

Feniks d.o.o., Murska Sobota Finance Republic of Slovenia 100 100

Republic of Bosnia

CBS Leasing d.o.o., Sarajevo Finance and Herzegovina 100 100

LB Leasing d.o.o., Maribor Finance Republic of Slovenia 100 100

NLB Propria d.o.o., Ljubljana Property Republic of Slovenia 100 100

Sport and Republic

Golf Arboretum d.o.o, VolËji potok catering trade of Slovenia 50.6 50.6

Tourist and Republic

Prospera plus d.o.o., Ljubljana catering trade of Slovenia 100 100

Republic of Bosnia

CBS Invest d.o.o., Sarajevo Property and Herzegovina 100 100

Investment Republic

LB Maksima d.o.o, Ljubljana management of Slovenia 100 100

FIT Leasing d.o.o., Velenje Finance Republic of Slovenia 100 100

LB InterFinanz AG, Zürich Finance Switzerland 100 100

LB InterFinanz Praha s.r.o., Praha Finance Czech Republic 100 100

LB InterFinanz Italia s.r.l., Gorizia Finance Italy 51 51

Republic

LBIS d.o.o.e.l., Skopje Finance of Macedonia 100 100

Union of Serbia

LB InterFinanz d.o.o., Beograd Finance and Montenegro 100 100

NLB Factoring, a.s., Ostrava Finance Czech Republic 100 100

NLB Factor s.r.o., Bratislava Finance Slovak Republic 100 100

NLB Skladi d.o.o., Ljubljana Finance Republic of Slovenia 100 100
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IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS Tolars EUR USD Other Total

ASSETS

Cash and balances with the Central Bank 49,640 20,249 657 4,826 75,372

Placements with, and loans to banks 197,974 251,346 31,099 10,299 490,718

Securities held for trading 132,120 37,796 13,432 2,832 186,180

Loans and advances to customers 687,097 598,431 29,811 65,571 1,380,910

Investment securities 34,389 84,975 1,182 2,851 123,397

Investment property 3,812 28 - 206 4,046

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures 10,419 2,185 - 473 13,077

Other assets 9,947 3,519 1,125 1,979 16,570

Accrued income and deferred expenses 11,005 3,063 310 451 14,829

Property and equipment 46,235 10,416 - 3,798 60,449

Intangible assets 18,473 346 - 132 18,951

TOTAL ASSETS 1,201,111 1,012,354 77,616 93,418 2,384,499

LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks 11,454 98,896 5,771 5,030 121,151

Borrowings from banks 1 323,527 16,761 22,153 362,442

Deposits from other customers 847,061 456,978 47,372 38,324 1,389,735

Borrowings from other customers 5,782 73,305 3,551 1,100 83,738

Debt securities 80,195 13,629 95 - 93,919

Other liabilities 29,892 5,354 1,363 3,782 40,391

Accruals and deferred income 7,862 3,815 103 283 12,063

Provisions for liabilities and charges 8,283 6,567 405 1,605 16,860

Subordinated liabilities 10,909 62,081 - - 72,990

Minority interests 11,940 9,928 - 5,189 27,057

Share capital 15,364 - - - 15,364

Share premium 12,477 - - - 12,477

Retained earnings 96,614 2,482 - 4,116 103,212

Reserves 30,700 2,400 - - 33,100

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,168,534 1,058,962 75,421 81,582 2,384,499

NET BALANCE SHEET POSITION 32,577 (46,608) 2,195 11,836 -

Credit commitment and derivatives (94,925) 106,323 (5,494) (6,754) (850)

As at 31 December 2003

TOTAL ASSETS 1,143,415 878,568 78,483 68,116 2,168,582

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,165,761 866,179 77,102 59,540 2,168,582

NET BALANCE SHEET POSITION (22,346) 12,389 1,381 8,576 -

Credit commitment and derivatives 24,523 (15,200) (4,950) (2,585) 1,788

The amount of consolidated assets and liabilities denominated in tolars and in foreign currency as at 31 December 2004 is analysed below:

45. Currency risk
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46. Liquidity risk

The amount of consolidated assets and liabilities analysed over the remaining period at 31 December 2004 to the contractual matu-

rity date is as follows:

Up to 1 1 Month to 3 Months 1 Year Over No

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS Month 3 Months to 1 Year to 5 Years 5 Years Maturity Total

ASSETS

Cash and balances with the Central Bank 75,372 - - - - - 75,372

Placements with, and loans to banks 180,931 183,519 28,334 95,452 2,482 - 490,718

Securities held for trading 140,094 3,922 6,902 31,981 3,281 - 186,180

Loans and advances to customers 78,830 117,606 410,245 527,713 246,516 - 1,380,910

Investment securities - - 486 78,037 43,528 1,346 123,397

Investment property - - - - - 4,046 4,046

Investments in associated companies 

and joint ventures - - - - - 13,077 13,077

Other assets 11,253 1,115 2,487 1,715 - - 16,570

Accrued income and deferred expenses 3,067 2,297 9,691 (226) - - 14,829

Property and equipment - - - - - 60,449 60,449

Intangible assets - - - - - 18,951 18,951

TOTAL ASSETS 489,547 308,459 458,145 734,672 295,807 97,869 2,384,499

LIABILITIES 

Deposits from banks 69,096 26,570 23,902 1,583 - - 121,151

Borrowings from banks 32,134 52,070 56,781 192,581 28,876 - 362,442

Deposits from other customers 648,377 334,630 329,116 66,945 10,667 - 1,389,735

Borrowings from other customers 3,237 5,647 41,345 28,228 5,281 - 83,738

Debt securities 9,433 7,694 12,070 51,663 13,059 - 93,919

Other liabilities 19,638 3,130 6,191 11,294 218 - 40,471

Accruals and deferred income 3,165 1,797 6,401 700 - - 12,063

Provisions for liabilities and charges 14 193 101 13,214 3,338 - 16,860

Subordinated liabilities - - 400 3,344 69,246 - 72,990

TOTAL LIABILITIES 785,094 431,731 476,307 369,552 130,685 - 2,193,369

NET LIQUIDITY GAP (295,547) (123,272) (18,162) 365,120 165,122 97,869 191,130

As at 31 December 2003

TOTAL ASSETS 465,057 263,621 566,894 563,543 215,116 94,351 2,168,582

TOTAL LIABILITIES 809,256 316,883 492,425 238,273 130,658 - 1,987,495

NET LIQUIDITY GAP (344,199) (53,262) 74,469 325,270 84,458 94,351 181,087

The previous table analyses assets and liabilities of the Group into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at

balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.
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The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities is fundamental to the man-

agement of the Group. It is unusual for banks ever to be completely matched since business transacted is often of uncertain term

and of different types. An unmatched position potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of losses.

The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing liabilities as they mature, are

important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Group and its exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates.

Non interest Interest Up to 1 Month to 3 Months to Over

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS TOTAL bearing bearing 1 Month 3 Months 1 Year 1 year

ASSETS

Cash and balances with the Central Bank 75,372 33,262 42,110 42,110 - - -

Placements with, and loans to banks 490,718 1,577 489,141 243,528 202,926 38,046 4,641

Securities held for trading 186,180 23,072 163,108 132,495 1,794 13,073 15,746

Loans and advances to customers 1,380,910 7,215 1,373,695 544,563 294,763 277,511 256,858

Investment securities 123,397 4,009 119,388 26,854 49,212 4,127 39,195

Investment property 4,046 4,046 - - - - -

Investments in associated companies 

and joint ventures 13,077 13,077 - - - - -

Other assets 16,570 16,570 - - - - -

Accrued income and deferred expenses 14,829 14,829 - - - - -

Property and equipment 60,449 60,449 - - - - -

Intangible assets 18,951 18,951 - - - - -

TOTAL ASSETS 2,384,499 197,057 2,187,442 989,550 548,695 332,757 316,440

LIABILITIES 

Deposits from banks 121,151 182 120,969 65,489 15,103 40,258 119

Borrowings from banks 362,442 - 362,442 46,006 95,173 201,980 19,283

Deposits from other customers 1,389,735 4,966 1,384,769 1,070,488 200,809 97,412 16,060

Borrowings from other customers 83,738 511 83,227 4,289 51,096 25,714 2,128

Debt securities 93,919 - 93,919 38,280 3,921 10,216 41,502

Other liabilities 40,391 40,391 - - - - -

Accruals and deferred income 12,063 12,063 - - - - -

Provisions for liabilities and charges 16,860 16,860 - - - - -

Subordinated liabilities 72,990 - 72,990 - 36,290 21,534 15,166

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,193,289 74,973 2,118,316 1,224,552 402,392 397,114 94,258

ON BALANCE SHEET INTEREST

SENSITIVITY GAP 191,210 122,084 69,126 (235,002) 146,303 (64,357) 222,182

The period of notice required to change interest rates at 31 December 2004 is set out below:

47. Interest rate risk
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Non interest Interest Up to 1 Month to 3 Months to Over

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS TOTAL bearing bearing 1 Month 3 Months 1 Year 1 year

ASSETS

Cash and balances with the Central Bank 70,456 30,471 39,985 39,985 - - -

Placements with, and loans to banks 558,876 1,714 557,162 182,595 163,408 207,477 3,682

Securities held for trading 148,863 19,439 129,424 83,936 3,171 2,796 39,521

Loans and advances to customers 1,155,988 5,127 1,150,861 603,968 152,919 267,393 126,581

Investment securities 108,596 7,255 101,341 25,970 20,084 4,008 51,279

Investment property 4,777 4,777 - - - - -

Investments in associated companies 10,631 10,631 - - - - -

Other assets 18,623 18,623 - - - - -

Accrued income and deferred expenses 13,548 13,548 - - - - -

Property and equipment 62,578 62,578 - - - - -

Intangible assets 15,646 15,646 - - - - -

TOTAL ASSETS 2,168,582 189,809 1,978,773 936,454 339,582 481,674 221,063

LIABILITIES 

Deposits from banks 139,180 107 139,073 100,591 35,861 2,593 28

Borrowings from banks 257,147 - 257,147 64,859 39,345 139,307 13,636

Deposits from other customers 1,286,581 6,910 1,279,671 1,038,525 142,854 84,578 13,714

Borrowings from other customers 76,180 - 76,180 13,823 17,839 42,132 2,386

Debt securities 106,279 - 106,279 26,276 33,261 9,718 37,024

Other liabilities 44,957 44,957 - - - - -

Accruals and deferred income 20,802 20,802 - - - - -

Provisions for liabilities and charges 12,194 12,194 - - - - -

Subordinated liabilities 51,800 - 51,800 - 400 34,615 16,785

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,995,120 84,970 1,910,150 1,244,074 269,560 312,943 83,573

ON BALANCE SHEET INTEREST

SENSITIVITY GAP 173,462 104,839 68,623 (307,620) 70,022 168,731 137,490

The period of notice required to change interest rates at 31 December 2003 is set out below:

The previous tables summarise the Group’s exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the tables are the Group’s assets and liabil-

ities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of the contractual repricing or maturity dates. 
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2004 2003

Foreign Foreign

IN % Tolars currency Tolars currency 

ASSETS

Cash and balances with the Central Bank 0.84 - 0.80 -

Placements with, and loans to banks 10.02 2.69 10.85 2.31

Securities held for trading 5.27 3.14 6.90 4.24

Loans and advances to customers 11.18 2.71 11.97 3.25

Investment securities 6.96 0.59 7.44 2.12

Other assets 0.62 - 0.27 0.00

LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks 4.98 1.08 5.52 2.23

Borrowings from banks 2.75 2.25 3.21 2.98

Deposits from other customers 3.53 0.75 5.70 1.27

Borrowings from other customers 7.77 1.13 8.47 0.84

Debt securities 8.33 0.00 9.27 0.00

Other liabilities 0.62 - 0.20 -

Subordinated liabilities 6.96 3.78 8.32 4.15

The effective interest rates as at 31 December 2004 for monetary financial instruments are as follows:
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The Group's operations can be divided into four main business segments: 

- Banking

- Trade finance

- Leasing

- Asset management

Other operations of the Group comprise insurance and support activities (providing services relating to card and ATM processing

as well as POS terminals, managing the Group's real estate, maintaining its real estate and equipment, catering and tourism).

This structure of business segments is based on the Group's system of internal financial reporting to the board of directors.

Transactions between the business segments are on normal commercial terms and conditions. The Group's aggregate share of the

result of associates and the aggregate investments in those associates are disclosed by reportable segments.

Year ended 31 December 2004

Trade Asset Other

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS Banking finance Leasing management (unallocated) Eliminations Total

Total revenues 160,584 4,714 4,534 1,215 1,935 (1,474) 171,508

External revenues 159,538 4,714 4,534 1,215 1,506 - 171,508

Revenues from other segments 1,046 - - - 428 (1,474) -

Profit from operations 17,148 804 1,842 600 (519) - 19,875

Share of profits of associated companies 

and joint ventures 1,913 81 - - 160 - 2,154

Profit before tax 22,029

Income tax expense (6,260)

Profit after tax 15,769

Minority interest (2,627)

Net profit 13,142

Segment assets 2,249,562 68,635 45,530 2,496 5,199 - 2,371,422

Investments in associated companies 

and joint ventures 11,902 407 - - 768 - 13,077

Total assets 2,261,464 69,042 45,530 2,496 5,967 - 2,384,499

Total liabilities excluding equity 

and minotity interest 2,123,674 45,190 22,753 800 872 - 2,193,289

Shareholders' equity and minority interest - - - - 191,210 - 191,210

Other segment items

Capital expenditure 13,126 186 5,153 87 120 - 18,672

Depreciation and amortization 8,320 94 395 14 132 - 8,955

Impairment losses 16,658 1,499 368 (9) 3 - 18,519

48. Segmental analysis

a) Business segments
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Year ended 31 December 2003

Trade Asset Other

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS Banking finance Leasing management (unallocated) Eliminations Total

Total revenues 166,559 5,309 3,392 1,516 3,056 (1,529) 178,303

External revenues 165,535 5,309 3,392 1,516 2,551 - 178,303

Revenues from other segments 1,024 - - - 505 (1,529) -

Profit from operations 13,261 2,309 1,841 1,082 (556) - 17,937

Share of profits of associated companies 

and joint ventures 1,879 - - - 186 - 2,065

Profit before tax 20,002

Income tax expense (8,045)

Profit after tax 11,957

Minority interest (2,344)

Net profit 9,613

Segment assets 2,061,845 53,084 33,402 3,128 6,492 - 2,157,951

Investments in associated companies 

and joint ventures 9,637 - - - 994 - 10,631

Total assets 2,071,482 53,084 33,402 3,128 7,486 - 2,168,582

Total liabilities excluding equity 

and minotity interest 1,939,089 33,207 13,263 589 1,347 - 1,987,495

Shareholders' equity and minority interest - - - - 181,087 - 181,087

Other segment items

Capital expenditure 11,139 238 1,167 1 204 - 12,749

Depreciation and amortization 8,166 60 405 13 (31) - 8,613

Impairment losses 11,638 1,063 (198) - 74 - 12,577
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Year ended 31 December 2004

South East West

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS Slovenia Europe Europe Total

Total revenues 144,567 10,352 16,589 171,508

Profit from operations 15,656 3,084 1,135 19,875

Share of profits of associated companies and joint ventures 2,050 3 101 2,154

Profit before tax 22,029

Income tax expense (6,260)

Profit after tax 15,769

Minority interest (2,627)

Net profit 13,142

Segment assets 1,946,962 119,629 304,831 2,371,422

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures 10,419 522 2,136 13,077

Total assets 1,957,381 120,151 306,967 2,384,499

Total liabilities excluding equity and minotity interest 1,861,422 84,029 247,837 2,193,288

Shareholders' equity and minority interest 191,210

Off balance sheet 366,928 15,216 43,707 425,851

Capital expenditure 16,090 992 1,589 18,671

Geographical analysis includes the division between geographical segments according to the country in which individual Group

companies are located.

Year ended 31 December 2003

South East West

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS Slovenia Europe Europe Total

Total revenues 155,316 7,476 15,511 178,303

Profit from operations 12,638 2,029 3,270 17,937

Share of profits of associated companies and joint ventures 2,035 (39) 69 2,065

Profit before tax 20,002

Tax (8,045)

Profit after tax 11,957

Minority interest (2,344)

Net profit for the period 9,613

Segment assets 1,818,489 79,722 259,740 2,157,951

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures 7,965 520 2,146 10,631

Total assets 1,826,454 80,242 261,886 2,168,582

Total liabilities excluding equity and minotity interest 1,721,297 50,839 215,359 1,987,495

Shareholders' equity and minority interest 181,087

Off balance sheet 339,676 13,589 20,714 373,979

Capital expenditure 10,454 490 1,805 12,749

b) Geographical segments
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49. Reconciliation of net profit, total assets and equity from slovenian accounting standards (sas) to international 

financial reporting standards (ifrs)

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS

Reconciliation of net icome Note 2004 2003

Net profit SAS 8,666 6,245

Fair value of financial instruments  a) (531) 2,309

Provisions for loan impairment b) (2,062) (2,737)

General banking risks provision c) 2,819 3,190

Negative goodwill/goodwill d) 1,037 877

Employee benefits e) 33 219

Tax prior year - (289)

Deferred tax f) 3,066 429

Other h) 114 (630)

Net profit IFRS 13,142 9,613

RECONCILIATION OF EQUITY

Equity SAS 117,174 110,569

Fair value of financial instruments  a) 9,025 15,790

Provisions for loan impairment b) 41,037 36,779

General banking risks provisions c) 11,768 8,672

Negative goodwill/goodwill d) (1,027) (1,796)

Employee benefits e) (2,716) (2,641)

Treasury shares g) (491) (491)

Deferred tax f) (10,635) (13,701)

Other h) 18 (109)

Equity IFRS 164,153 153,072

a) Financial instruments

Under SAS, securities held for trading, securities available

for sale and derivative financial instruments are stated in the

balance sheet at the lower of cost or fair value, but under IFRS

they are stated at their fair value.

b) Provisions for loan impairment

SAS financial statements include provisions for losses on

loans according to the grading group of the loan or client and

in accordance with percentages prescribed by the Bank of

Slovenia in the Decree on the Classification of Balance Sheet

and Off – Balance Sheet Asset of Banks and Savings Banks. In

the IFRS financial statements impairment loss is recognised

when it is probable that the Group will not be able to collect

all amounts due according to contractual terms of loans.

c) General banking risks provision

Under SAS general banking provisions are charged to the

income statement and presented as a separate item on the lia-

bility side of the balance sheet. 

d) Negative goodwill/goodwill

The negative goodwill under IFRS arose on the consolidation

of subsidiaries in 1998 while under SAS no negative goodwill

arose from these transactions, since the equity method of

accounting for investments in subsidiaries was applied in the

Bank’s stand-alone financial statements. 

Under SAS the negative goodwill arising from the merger of

subsidiary banks is presented among provisions for liabilities

and charges while under IFRS both negative goodwill on con-

solidation and negative goodwill on mergers are presented as

a deduction of accrued income and deferred expenses.
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Goodwill arising on additional acquisitions in Slovenian

banks was calculated under SAS considering the SAS net

assets while under IFRS it was calculated considering the net

assets established under IFRS.   

e) Employee benefits

IFRS financial statements include provisions, which are

established for other long-term employee benefits such as

jubilee bonuses, retirement compensation and other long

service benefits. In SAS financial statements provisions for

other long-term employee benefits are not recognised.  

f) Deferred tax

2,346 million tolars of the deferred tax relates to a change in

a tax rate for the Bank as a consequence of the change in tax 

legislation in the year 2004. Otherwise deferred tax relates to

fair value of financial instruments, provisions for loan impair-

ment and employee benefits.

g) Treasury shares

Under SAS treasury shares are presented as a separate item

among assets while under IFRS they are netted against the

share premium reserves.

h) Other

Other includes foreign exchange gains on net investments,

rewards and the reversal of depreciation of investment prop-

erty.

IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

Interest and similar income 92,134 108,040

Interest expense and similar charges (45,044) (64,472)

NET INTEREST INCOME 47,090 43,568

Fees and commissions income 23,630 21,018

Fees and commissions expense (5,643) (4,334)

NET FEES AND COMMISSIONS 17,987 16,684

Gains arising from trading securities (net) 5,109 4,533

Gains arising from investment securities (net) 232 599

Gains arising from dealing in foreign currencies (net) 2,176 1,589

(Losses)/Gains arising from derivatives (net) (1,372) (3,024)

Foreign exchange losses (net) 1,274 (1,943)

Other operating income 5,837 8,303

OPERATING INCOME 78,333 70,309

Impairment losses on loans and advances (15,556) (10,510)

General administrative expenses (40,928) (40,114)

Other operating expenses (8,511) (6,636)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 13,338 13,049

Tax (3,954) (5,195)

NET PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 9,384 7,854

Income statement for year ended 31 december 2004 (parent bank)
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IN MILLIONS OF TOLARS 2004 2003

ASSETS

Cash and balances with the Central Bank 50,942 51,220

Placements with, and loans to banks 463,923 503,148

Securities held for trading 174,159 139,550

Loans and advances to customers 1,017,489 888,611

Investment securities 43,087 27,761

Investment property 256 432

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures 6,607 5,754

Investments in subsidiaries 21,805 18,846

Other assets 10,092 9,730

Accrued income and deferred expenses 11,876 10,950

Property and equipment 37,843 38,342

Intangible assets 17,531 14,326

TOTAL ASSETS 1,855,610 1,708,670

LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks 85,202 98,736

Borrowings from banks 230,065 153,935

Deposits from other customers 1,153,472 1,091,904

Borrowings from other customers 35,119 28,280

Debt securities 93,720 106,092

Deferred tax liabilities 9,361 12,316

Other liabilities 19,648 14,383

Accruals and deferred income 9,113 17,427

Provisions for liabilities and charges 11,446 6,524

Subordinated liabilities 73,201 51,095

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,720,347 1,580,692

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share capital 15,364 15,364

Share premium 12,710 12,710

Reserves 31,651 28,999

Retained earnings 75,538 70,905

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 135,263 127,978

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,855,610 1,708,670

Balance sheet as at 31 december 2004 (parent bank)



Nova Ljubljanska banka d.d., Ljubljana

Headquarters

Trg republike 2 

1520 Ljubljana

Slovenia

Telephone:+386 1/ 425 0155, 476 3900

Telefax:+386 1/ 425 0331, 2522 422

E-mail: info@nlb.si

Internet: http://www.nlb.si

SWIFT: LJBA SI 2X

Reuter: LB LJ

IBAN: SI564

Account number: 01000-00002 00097

VAT identification number: SI91132550

Annual Report 2004

Produced by Management Accounting and Investor Relations of NLB Bank & Arih d.o.o.

Designed by Arih d.o.o., Ljubljana, Slovenia

Photography by: Barbara Zajc, except cover page and pg. 23, 35 and 47: Getty Images

Printed by: Tiskarna Hren

Annual Report can be found on web site at http://www.nlb.si

© Copyright: Nova Ljubljanska banka d.d., Ljubljana, Slovenia

Key financial highlights for NLB Group 

2003 2004

Net interest income 53.1 58.6

Net non-interest income 42.6 49.8

Costs 66.6 70.1

Profit before tax 16.6 19.2

Minority interest 2.3 1.2

Net profit 6.2 8.7

Total assets 2,154.8 2,366.6

Customer loans 1,035.5 1,248.0

Customer deposits 1,286.6 1,389.7

Total equity 110.6 117.2

Minority interest 22.8 20.8

Return on average equity before tax (ROE) 12.5 14.2

Return on average assets before tax (ROA) 0.8 0.9

Costs covered by net income (CIR) 69.6 64.7

Capital adequacy 12.1 10.8

Profit before tax (in billion tolars) 20.0 22.0

Net profit (in billion tolars) 9.6 13.1

Return on average equity before tax (ROE in %) 12.6 12.1

Return on average assets before tax (ROA in %) 1.0 1.0

Capital adequacy under BIS (in %) 15.2 15.6

Moody's A2 A2

Capital Intelligence A - A - 

Fitch A - A - 

Exchange rate 1 EURO = SIT 236.7 239.7

Key financial highlights for Nova Ljubljanska banka d.d. (NLB) 

2003 2004

Net interest income 34.9 37.9

Net non-interest income 31.8 38.0

Costs 46.7 47.9

Profit before tax 11.0 13.8

Net profit 5.5 6.9

Total assets 1,717.3 1,864.8

Customer loans 779.4 900.4

Customer deposits 1,091.9 1,153.5

Total equity 115.9 121.1

Return on average equity before tax (ROE) 9.6 11.6

Return on average assets before tax (ROA) 0.7 0.8

Costs covered by net income (CIR) 70.0 63.1

Market share in total assets 33.6 32.7

Capital adequacy 10.2 11.7

Profit before tax (in billion tolars) 13.0 13.3

Net profit (in billion tolars) 7.9 9.4

Return on average equity before tax (ROE in %) 11.1 10.4

Return on average assets before tax (ROA in %) 0.8 0.8

Capital adequacy under BIS (in %) 14.3 15.6

Number of shares 7,682,015 7,682,015

Nominal value 2,000 2,000

Book value 15,086.4 15,763.8

Net profit per share (EPS) 715.1 895.7

Dividends payout 286.0 358.3
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